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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the results of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

ANNUAL REVIEW

2024 was an extremely difficult year for the real estate
industry. Property prices continued to decline, leading to a
significant loss of confidence among buyers. This resulted in
lower sales performance and increasing pressure on project
deliveries. According to search results from the People’s Court
Announcement website, many real estate enterprises across the
country had no choice but to cease operations during the Year.
Ever Reach Group has made project delivery its top priority, not
only to ensure the enterprise’s survival but also to fulfil its social
responsibility and safeguard the rights of property owners.

In 2024, the Group upheld its unwavering commitment to quality,
regarding it as the lifeline of the enterprise. It continued to
strengthen product quality management and control while closely
monitoring policy changes and making timely adjustments to its
operational strategies. The Group also focused on innovating its
business model and building its brand, striving to deliver top-tier
products and services that meet consumer demands.

In terms of sales, the Group conducted a more detailed analysis
of its customer base, gaining deeper insights into the needs,
preferences, and consumption habits of different customer
groups. Through diverse and targeted promotional strategies,
the Group boosted sales performance and accelerated payment
collections across the board, overcoming the challenges posed
by market downturns and economic conditions.

Cash flow remains the foundation of any business. By leveraging
the real estate financing coordination mechanism, we secured
approval for all our “white list” projects. Under the loan extension
without principal repayment policy, we communicated with banks
and followed implementation guidelines to adjust the operations
of eligible businesses, by either adopting the above policy, or
utilising government funds for loan adjustments, with the aim of
alleviating the financial pressure faced by enterprises as much as
possible.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Our business is guided by a focus on targets and outcomes,
with target monitoring and performance assessment forming
the core of our business management process. In 2024, the
Group introduced a performance appraisal system, where we
refined assessment methods and advanced system adoption
to establish a structured approach for target management
and achieve quantifiable results. This provided strong support
for standardising performance management, enhancing
organisational capabilities, and driving strategic growth.

In 2024, the Group received numerous honours: (1) once again
accredited as an “ AAA Credit-rated Enterprise” by the China
Real Estate Association; (2) ranked 84th on the “2024 Top 100
Private Enterprises in Henan Province” list released by the Henan
Federation of Industry and Commerce, and the only real estate
enterprise from Xuchang City to make the list; (3) recognised
as a “20283 Outstanding Real Estate Development Enterprise”
by the Henan Province Real Estate Association; (4) once again
accredited as a “2023 AAA Credit-rated Real Estate Development
Enterprise in Xuchang City” by the Xuchang City Real Estate
Association. In 2024, the Group continued to actively participate
in charity work to fulfil its corporate social responsibilities. We
donated a total amount of approximately RMB358,000 to charity
during the Year.

After 32 years of our development, the Group continues to
adhere to the principle of “Integrity Management, Fulfilling Every
Promise”. With a strong foundation in product quality and brand
reputation, we continued to expand our presence in Henan,
with a particular focus on deepening our market development in
Xuchang. We strive to achieve a win-win situation for property
owners, employees, enterprises, and society.

ANNUAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s total revenue
was approximately RMB2,762.1 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 22.5% from approximately RMB3,565.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the net loss was approximately RMB264.0
million, representing a decrease of approximately 817.4% from
the net profit of approximately RMB36.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 20283.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024,

OUTLOOK

In 2024, the real estate industry faced tremendous pressure
amidst a complex market environment. Despite sluggish sales,
demand for high-quality residential properties in Tier 1 and 2
cities remained intact, driving regional property sales growth.
However, Tier 3 and 4 cities faced substantial inventory pressure,
leading to a slower market recovery.

The 2025 Chinese Government Work Report mentioned
“continuing efforts to stabilise the real estate market and reverse
its downturn”. Key policy highlights include: (1) Based on already
enacted policies, certain cities may relax purchase restrictions
in suburban or other areas, while 1.5 million units of housing will
be redeveloped under the nationwide Urban Village Renovation
Plan, releasing demand for house swaps through monetary
resettlement; (2) Expanding the special bonds issuance scale to
RMB4,000 billion, with a focus on supporting “property delivery”
and financing for quality real estate enterprises; (3) System
innovations such as housing “trade-in”, pilot projects for sales
of completed property, and housing price index insurance to
stabilise market expectations through sales channels. Supported
by these policies, the real estate industry is expected to gradually
stabilise and reverse its downturn, exhibiting signs of modest
recovery through structural adjustments, though it continues to
encounter challenges.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Looking ahead to 2025, while the aforementioned policies
may bring certain positive effects to the real estate market,
the broader environment remains complex, presenting new
challenges for the Group. For example, in terms of financing,
the Group will need to provide loan support to enterprises for
property delivery under the “white list” project, so as to solve
funding issues during project construction, and mitigate the risk
of suspension for certain projects; in terms of property delivery,
since homebuyers’ concerns have shifted from innovative
floor plans to quality and after-sales services, the Group will
standardise the property delivery process, ensure transparency
in construction designs, and implement measures such as
increased property inspections, to enhance transparency
and strengthen customer confidence. Meanwhile, the Group
will consolidate resources across real estate development,
property services, commercial operation, and other areas
to collaboratively establish an industry chain spanning land
acquisition, product design, construction, and after-sales repair
and maintenance.

Overall, the Group will navigate challenges posed by the
difficult and complex real estate market in 2025, sustain stable
operations, continuously improve our capabilities, enhance
our strengths, and embark on a new journey together with all
employees.
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Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

R E2025%F « BA LMl BURAEH B E
MEELE—LIEMNFE  BEERE
RARE  BERRBRBEUAEEDRELT
FWER - mEREFABBIARE]
HEERIEBLERE BAEEER
EoMBE BEeEFSsBEENEIRAR:
EXEHE BEEBE TP LR
BlyrEmREREERS A25EEA
EEATERE TRSOBETERL -
EMBEEEEIRAERE  HARRP
EL RBEAREBEAMERE  ME
7 AEBEESZFEER 1L
EE - -Em&RS I - 2HGEERS
MEXHEERAER -

mMEZ 2026FAKEEERMAE
MOEHWEDSRETRMAM L #E
BREREEE  THxZ8FED N
BRAAGES B2REIEEHDH
L -

&)

AANERIEBERRESTES  BRUK
R -EBEH FEFRHfEEAMNANX
FMEERZEHES RERHHEEER
EEBIBREZFNERRES -

FTERATEF
NIk



Management Discussion And Analysis

INDUSTRY REVIEW

The Chinese real estate industry presented complex
development trends in 2024. On 17 January 2025, the National
Bureau of Statistics issued a report on the “General Situation of
the PRC Real Estate Market in 2024”, According to the statistics
therein, investment in real estate development in the PRC in
2024 amounted to approximately RMB10,028 billion, representing
a decrease of approximately 10.6% as compared to the previous
year. Of which, investment in residential properties amounted
to approximately RMB7,604 billion, representing a decrease of
approximately 10.5% as compared to the previous year. The
total construction area of new property projects of real estate
enterprises was approximately 738.9 million sg.m., representing
a decrease of approximately 23.0% as compared to the previous
year. Of which, the total construction area of new residential
projects was approximately 536.6 million sg.m., representing
a decrease of approximately 23.0%. The total completed area
was approximately 737.4 million sg.m., representing a decrease
of approximately 27.7% as compared to the previous year. Of
which, the total completed area of residential properties was
approximately 537.4 million sg.m., representing a decrease of
approximately 27.4%.

Looking at the full-year data, real estate development enterprises
across the country showed low investment enthusiasm and
cautious market expectations. The significant decrease in the
total construction area of new property projects means that
new supply in the real estate market will decrease for the time
to come, and the decline in total completed area may affect
the progress of property delivery, generally indicating that the
real estate market is in an overall downturn, with the real estate
market still facing considerable pressure.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEERWED T

On 18 January 2025, the Henan Provincial Bureau of Statistics
issued the “General Situation of the Henan Province Real
Estate Market in 2024” report. The statistics show that, in
2024, investment in real estate development in Henan Province
decreased by approximately 7.5% as compared with the
previous year. Of which, investment in residential properties
decreased by 8.2%. The total construction area of new property
projects decreased by approximately 17.9%. Of which, the total
construction area of new residential property projects decreased
by 16.9%. The total completed area in the province decreased
by approximately 44.5%. Of which, the total completed area
of residential properties decreased by approximately 41.6%. In
2024, the total sales area of newly built commercial properties
decreased by approximately 11.0% as compared with the
previous year. Of which, the total sales area of residential
properties decreased by approximately 11.3%. Sales of newly
built commercial properties in the province decreased by
approximately 13.8%. Of which, sales of residential properties
decreased by approximately 13.7%.

The 2024 real estate development investment data for Henan
Province shows that real estate development enterprises were
relatively cautious in their investments and have conservative
expectations for the market. The simultaneous decline in sales
area and sales volume represents an overall weakening of market
demand, with purchasing willingness and ability influenced by
economic conditions, policy adjustments, and other factors.
The reduction in newly started construction area suggests that
real estate market supply will decrease for the time to come. In
particular, the significant decrease in the total completed area
in Henan Province may affect the progress of property delivery,
putting certain pressure on efforts to ensure property delivery.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

However, there were also positive changes in the real estate
market in 2024, such as the results achieved from a series of
market stabilisation policies promulgated by both the central
and local governments. Since the end of September 2024,
these policies have targeted both the supply and demand
sides, providing guidance for banks to lower interest rates on
existing mortgages, standardising the minimum down payment
ratio for mortgages at 15%; and extending the validity period of
real estate financial policy documents, among other measures.
Relevant measures were also introduced in Henan Province,
such as supporting housing consumption and increasing
financial support, which have significantly boosted real estate
market activity.

Overall, supported by policy measures, the real estate market
in Henan Province experienced certain changes in 2024, but
still faces enormous challenges in general, such as declining
investment and a downturn in sales. As policies continue to take
effect and the market constantly adjusts its expectations, the
real estate market in Henan Province is expected to gradually
stabilise, reverse its downturn, and achieve healthy development
in the future.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

In 2024, the real estate market stayed sluggish, marked by
persistently weak demand, challenging sales, and a further
slowdown in inventory reduction. Amid these adversities, Ever
Reach Group rallied together, guided by our overarching strategy
of “stabilising operations, refining management and seizing
opportunities.” We forged ahead, seeking breakthroughs amidst
difficulties, searching for new opportunities amidst crises,
advancing toward our set objectives.

The Group tackled inventory reduction through targeted
marketing. Confronting the severe real estate climate, our sales
team spared no effort, prioritising sales and cash collection as
key goals. We meticulously categorised inventory properties,
conducted thorough analyses of their features and strengths,
and devised effective strategies to clear stock. Simultaneously,
we proactively leveraged local insights, such as integrating
nearby development plans into promotional efforts, enhancing
project appeal.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEERWED T

In terms of operations, the Group bolstered target management
and steadily advanced project delivery. By convening operational
target meetings, we set and rolled out goals across projects.
Regular monthly analysis sessions, delivery project conferences
and other discussions helped pinpoint operational hurdles and
define the direction of our work. At the same time, we continued
to carry out joint inspections to minimise delivery risks, further
strengthening the Group’s production and on-time delivery
capacity, mitigating project delays, thereby boosting homeowner
satisfaction.

The Group also consolidated financial resources and processes
to enable efficient sharing and coordination of financial data,
enhancing the analysis and management of operational plans,
cash flow, and other relevant metrics to support the Group’s
decision-making. In addition, we focused on strengthening
cash flow and project cost management for subsidiaries,
improving liquidity and resilience against risks, while eliminating
unnecessary spending.

In 2024, the Group’s cumulative contracted sales amounted to
approximately RMB1,867.9 million, with a cumulative contracted
sales area of approximately 323,710 sg.m..

Reflecting on 2024, we persevered through turbulent times. While
we achieved notable progress, we remain keenly aware of our
limitations. The market’s volatility serves as a constant reminder
that the path ahead is far from easy. “Go according to the Way,
yet at its midpoint, strive onward; wisdom is within reach, so to
conquer the crest, shrink not from the task”. Moving forward,
we embrace a pragmatic mindset, confront our shortcomings,
pursue continuous improvement, and collectively pave the way
for a brighter future for Ever Reach Group.

*

English name for identification purpose only
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Management Discussion And Analysis

LAND RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the GFA of the Group’s land reserves
was approximately 3.0 million square meters (“sgq.m.”). The
table below sets forth a summary of the land reserves as at 31

EEEmE
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Tl

R2024F12 A31H » AN &£ B 1 i % & 1
BREMBHAEIOBEFHKTFERK] -
T R & 5 R2024512 A31H 1% # 15 2| »

December 2024 by geographical location: B L fEE R E
Under Future
Completed development development
2RI & ok
Completed
saleable/
leasable GFA
remaining GFA under Planned Total land % of total land
unsold development GFA reserve reserve
BT RHENTH
£/ MHEER fhE L
TEEHE BREPERLEER REABEER BrRE BAl
sq.m. sq.m. sq.m. sq.m. %
FIR FHA FIR FIHAK %
Xuchang City FEI
Weidu District RiE 113,790 99,179 17,374 230,343 7.61
Jian'an District BRE 42,633 49,200 97,730 189,563 6.26
Yuzhou City &M 183,234 605,075 318,218 1,106,527 36.53
Changge City REmM 132,437 109,483 68,712 310,632 10.26
Yanling County BP0 5% 18,606 174,770 103,867 297,243 0.82
Xiangcheng County ZH &% 3,411 112,608 16,869 132,888 4.39
Dongcheng District B E 2,014 366,686 79,545 448,245 14.80
Economic and BHEE
technological
development zone 1,291 83,373 221,965 306,629 1013
Luohe City B T
Linying County i & 5% 6,048 - - 6,048 0.20
Total 8 E 508,464 1,600,374 924,280 3,028,118 100
Note: Land reserves equal the sum of (i) total completed saleable/ Hat: TEESROBTREENATHE

leasable GFA remaining unsold, (i) total GFA under development

and (i) total planned GFA held for future development.

AIHAE SR TEEZLEmME: (HFEEF
WEAWEAE M FIERKBAED
BEBEEMB M -
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vl

EEERwmE

CONTRACTED SALES

The table below sets forth a breakdown of our major types of
contracted sales and contracted average selling price (“ASP”):

BREHEH

TRHEINERAMEIBEFNARBEERR
BRFHEE(FHEE]DHBA:

For the year ended 31 December % change
BZ12AMBLEE BHEHL
2024 2023 +-
20244 20234 +-
Contracted sales attributable to: IWTEEERLAREER:
Residential units (RMB, million) FAEEN(AREBET) 1,528.7 2,112.9 -27.6%
Commercial units (RMB, million) BEEU(AREBEEL) 276.1 413.0 -33.1%
Car parking spaces (RMB, million) EEU(AREEETL) 52.4 86.3 -39.3%
Others (RMB, million) Ht(AR®EET) 10.7 22.0 -51.4%
Total (RMB, million) BH(ANREEETL) 1,867.9 2,634.2 -29.1%
Contracted saleable GFA/Lot MTEEREARTLE
attributable to: EERE /(AL
Saleable GFA (sq.m.) AHEREERE(EHK) 323,710 437,621 -26.0%
Car parking space (lot) EEA(fE) 1,411 1,980 -28.7%
Contracted ASP attributable to: NTEEELERTYER:
Saleable GFA MHERERE
(RMB/sq.m.) (NRET/FHXK) 5,608 5,822 -3.7%
Car parking space (RMB/lot) BHEA(AR®EL,/ M) 37,104 43,586 14.9%

Qur contracted ASP per sg.m. of saleable GFA decreased
by 3.7% from approximately RMB5,822 per sg.m. in 2023 to
approximately RMB5,608 per sg.m. in 2024. The decrease
in 2024 was mainly due to the decrease in market price of
properties in Henan Province.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

BMAILEEEEENE LS KERAF
HEEH2023FHEF FHKARKS,822
TLR A3 7%E M2024F N EFFHKAR
#55,6087T © 2024 F B DTy E E AR NI E
EMENTEEE TR -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results

The financial performance and results for the year ended 31
December 2024 were in line with expectations, although they
reflected the adverse conditions of the market. Key financial
ratios have met the expectation of the management.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of
the Group reached approximately RMB2,762.1 million (2023:
RMBS3,565.6 million), representing a decrease of approximately
22.5%.

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately RMB123.1
million (2023: RMB434.2 million), representing a decrease of
approximately RMB311.1 million, or approximately 71.6%.

Gross profit margin was approximately 4.5% in 2024 (2023:
12.2%), representing a decrease by approximately 7.7 percentage
points as compared with that in 2023.

Loss/profit for the year decreased by approximately RMB300.8
million, or 817.4%, from profit of approximately RMB36.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to loss of approximately
RMB264.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

vl

EEEmE

Bt #5 IR
ES

HE2024F12A31H I FE B KRB
FEEFETER  EIARBTSEDFIIR
B X BUKLRENEEEEE -

RE E2024F12A31B It F B A&EH
WAZELHAREE2 76215 & Jr (20234 :
ANR#3,565.68 B L) ' Bk 4922.5% o

AEBHBEMNHOARBIZZIEE T
(2023%F : AR #4342 & L) WA H
ARMS1118 BT (3 471.6%) °

2024F B E A K 4 54.5% (20234 :
12.2%) » B2023F 5 L 497718 B 5 Bh -

FEEEFE B E £2023F12A318
IHFEOFBHARKI6.8F 8T %
WA R¥300.88 B L (817.4%) EH =
2024F12H3IHEFEMNBEHARK
264.08 & T °©
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B mE

Revenue

Our revenue was derived from (i) sales of properties, (i) rental
income and (iii) service income. The following table sets forth the
breakdown of the revenue and their respective percentages of

vl

contribution to the total revenue for the years indicated:

A

Lt

Year ended 31 December

BHPNBAKRENEHE
AR (i) RBYA - TREFRAREE
MAREREZSEMERKRANTED

(i F & U

HZ12A31BALEE
2024 2023 % change
20245 20234 BEENL
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % -
AR¥E TR % AREFT % -
Sales of properties I E#HE 2,746,959 99.5 3,554,210 99.7 -22.7%
Rental income HalA 9,806 0.3 8,720 0.2 +12.5%
Service income AR 7 4 A 5,371 0.2 2,668 0.1 +101.3%
2,762,136 100.0 3,565,598 100.0 -22.5%

The tables below set out the revenue from the sales of
properties, the total GFA units of properties recognised and the
overall recognised ASP of our properties by property types:

Year ended 31 December

TR ZMEBRRNE DONYWEHEK
A FHEIVENBEEARRZZY
ENEBEECHERTHERE:

BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Recognised Recognised
GFA ASP GFA ASP
Revenue recognised per sq.m. Revenue  recognised per sg.m.
ERRA B R
ERA F¥AK EHR (SRR
A BEEE FHEE e A BEEE THERE
RMB’000 sq.m. RMB RMB000 sq.m. RMB
ARE T F5 K ARET ARETT FI K AEET
Residential F=E 2,377,864 451,276 5,269 3,009,665 605,344 4,972
Commercial [HES 253,257 43,148 5,869 461,773 82,353 5,607
Storage = 11,468 6,146 1,866 13,282 7,317 1,815
2,642,589 500,570 5,279 3,484,720 695,014 5,014

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA
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EEEmED T

Recognised Recognised
Units ASP Units ASP
Revenue recognised per unit Revenue  recognised per unit
2RR EHR
BERR BEM EHR BE
A B FHEE LN By THEE
RMB’000 lot RMB RMB’000 lot RMB
ARE T 18 & ARET ARETT 18 2 AEET
Car parking FEA
spaces 104,370 2,210 47,226 69,490 1,518 45,777

Sales of properties, which accounted for approximately 99.5%
(2023: 99.7%) of our total revenue for the year ended 31
December 2024, were contributed by the sales of residential
and commercial properties, storages and car parking spaces
recognised in the year.

Our revenue decreased by approximately RMB803.5 million
or 22.5% from approximately RMB3,565.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB2,762.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was principally
attributable to the decrease of approximately RMB631.8 million
in the sales of our residential properties during the year ended
31 December 2024.

The decrease in sales of residential properties was mainly due
to the effect of decrease in GFA recognised from approximately
605,344 sq.m. for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately 451,276 sg.m. for the year ended 31 December
2024, partially offset by the increase in ASP per sg.m..

The decrease in the sales of our commercial properties during
the year was primarily due to the decrease in GFA recognised
by 47.6%, partially offset by the increase of ASP per sq.m. from
approximately RMB5,607 in 2023 to RMB5,869 in 2024.

HE2024F12A31HILFE MEHE
RE 415 B M 4 W A £999.5% (20234 :
99.7%)  NHRZFEBREERHE
W REEREEMNHESHE -

A U A B E22023F12 A318 IF F
EWHARE35656BBTHIHOAR
#803.58 & Jr(5(22.5%) & & £20244F
12A31HIEFENHARKE276218 8
7T I EZE AR R E E2024F12 4318 1E
FEEMNEEDMEHEERIHARE
631.8E & T °

FTEMEHERLPDHDTEAREER
£ & B & £2023F12 A318 IFFEH
#)605,344F 5 KB D EH £2024F12 A
318 IF FE B #451,276F 7K - I % &
HEFAREHEBREMEHEE -

FRNEAENEHEERIHNETEARERE
REEEBERD476% I ZEHEY
¥BFAHRFHEBH023FHARE
5,6077C £ F+ 220244 A R #5,8697T 56
DI o
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EEEmE

vl

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The table below sets out the revenue, gross profit and gross
profit margin by types:

ENREFNER

TRUFIREHNUSHRA - EFRE
F%

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALERE
2024 2023
20245 2023F
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Cost of profit/ profit Cost of profit/ profit
Revenue sales (loss) Margin Revenue sales (loss) Margin
WA BERE EF/(F) EFE KA BEREX EF/(B) EH=E
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000 %  AMBO00  RMB0OO  RMB000 %
ARBETFT ARETT AREFT % ANREFT AREFT AREFT %
Sales of properties ~ EHE
— Residential -f=E 2,377,864 2,266,567 111,297 47 3,009,665 2,624,731 384,934 128
— Commercial ok 253,257 232,975 20,282 8.0 461,773 364,439 97,334 214
— Car parking - RBER
spaces and FE=E
storages 115,838 131,844 (16,006) -13.8 82,772 138,057 (65,285) -66.8
Subtotal N 2,746,959 2,631,386 115,573 42 3554210 3,127,227 426,983 12.0
Rental income EEAIUN 9,806 20 9,786 99.8 8,720 330 8,390 96.2
Service income R BBA 5,371 7,619 (2,248) -41.9 2,668 3,838 (1,170) -43.9
2,762,136 2,639,025 123,111 45 3,565,598 3,131,395 434,203 12.2

The gross profit margin of sales of properties and gross
profit margin of sales of residential properties dropped from
approximately 12.0% in 2023 to 4.2% in 2024 and approximately
12.8% in 2023 to 4.7% in 2024, respectively.

The gross profit margin of residential properties decreased from
approximately 12.8% in 2023 to 4.7% in 2024, representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 8.1 percentage points.
It was primarily attributable to the increase in cost of sales per

sg.m..

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

) % 35 E B E F K R2023F B £12.0%
T E2024FE H4.2% » (EEHEHEF
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Management Discussion And Analysis

The negative gross profit margin of sales of car parking spaces
and storages in year 2024 was due to the effect of write-down of
value of car parking spaces and storages in 2024.

Fair value losses on investment properties

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31 December
2024 by an independent professional qualified valuers, Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited, who hold recognised relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the
locations and segments of the investment properties valued.

Selling and marketing expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s selling and
marketing expenses amounted to approximately of RMB138.4
million (2023: RMB168.5 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 17.9% as compared to that in 2023. The decrease
was mainly due to less promotion activities and campaign for
brand building during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses decreased by approximately 2.2%
from approximately RMB131.1 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB128.2 million in 2024, the decrease of administrative
expenses was mainly due to the decrease of staff costs.

Finance costs

Finance costs primarily consisted of interest on borrowings and
lease liabilities, less interest expenses which were capitalised
to the extent that such costs are directly attributable to
property development projects. Our finance costs decreased by
approximately 34.7% from approximately RMB0.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMBO0.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

EEEmE

vl

ROUEHEFENLRREREHESEH
ERMETHR2024FE BN RFHEREE
BEMOR O FEFTE -

REVMENDIFEBE

REB KK E Y NR2024F12A31H &
B EELSERMGEEML T B M ETGE
ERARETHE ZARFTEERT
MR EERTYUMTEENREDE
O Hb Bh AN SIS B AT BRI AR RS o

HERTSERRX

RE E2024F12A31B IEFEE - AEH
REERMIGHER 4 A ARK138.4
A & 7t (2023%F : A R #168.58 & T)°
B2023F B L 4917.9% - Z ML EE B
HRRE E2024F12A31B L EE - &
BRMEmMETHERETER DN -

TR

TR X R2023F A REA3118 &
T N PR 4)2.2% = 2024 F 1 ) A R #128.2
BEL THEAIXBRLIDHIEEHRRET
B ARk A BT B o

Bt 35 B AR

N ATERRERNFINERBES
B MBREESNMEMF EMS  EUE
B AEZEYEMREEERBE AR -
B B 1% A AN B B 22023412 A31
BEFEFEMHARBOIEE LH LY
34.7% ZEE E2024F 12 A31H L FEHH
AREOBEB T °
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BEEERWED T

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses mainly comprised of the PRC Corporate
Income Tax and land appreciation tax arising from our PRC
subsidiaries. Income tax expenses increased by approximately
6.4% or RMB6.2 million from approximately RMB97.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to the approximately
RMB103.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital resources

As of 31 December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB253.3 million (31 December
2023: RMB274.8 million), of which approximately RMB253.2
million (31 December 2023: RMB274.5 million) was denominated
in Renminbi and approximately RMB0.1 million (31 December
2023: RMBO0.3 million) was denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

As at 31 December 2024, the restricted cash amounted to
approximately RMB156.9 million (31 December 2023: RMB165.6
million), all restricted cash was denominated in Renminbi.

The Group’s total borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB1,064.5 million as of 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: RMB948.6 million), of which approximately RMB647.4
million was classified as current liabilities (31 December 2023:
RMB678.6 million). As of 31 December 2024 approximately
87.7% (31 December 2023: 68.9%) out of the Group’s total
borrowings was fixed interest rates.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA
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At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s borrowings were
repayable as follows:

As at 31 December 2024

EEEmE

vl

20245 2023128318 » K & B &
PR T 5l B E 8

As at 31 December 2023

2024512 /831H 7202312 H31H
Within Between Between Within Between Between
1year 1to2years 2to5years 1year 1to2vyears 2tob years
1R 1228 2Z5%F 1R 1226 2E5F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TH AREFT AR¥Tn AREFT ARETT AREFT
Bank borrowings 3R 17 & 3 371,200 177,400 210,300 182,900 205,000 27,500
Other long-term i & 5

borrowings EEN 276,200 29,377 495,692 25,000 12,537
647,400 206,777 210,300 678,592 230,000 40,037

Current, total and net assets REBEE #BEERFEE

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had current assets
of approximately RMB7,534.2 million (31 December 2023:
RMB8,703.6 million) and current liabilities of approximately
RMB5,860.1 million (31 December 2023: RMB6,931.1 million), the
net current assets value slightly decreased from approximately
RMB1,772.5 million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB1,674.0 million as at 31 December 2024.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB7,896.5 million (31 December 2023:
RMB9,085.2 million) and total liabilities of approximately
RMB6,302.5 million (31 December 2023: RMB7,227.2 million),
representing a decrease of net assets or total equity from
approximately RMB1,858.0 million as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB1,594.0 million as at 31 December 2024.

Charge on assets

The Group’s borrowings are secured by equity interests of
subsidiaries, investment properties, properties held or under
development for sale and property, plant and equipment of the
Group.

 E2024F12A31H  KEEHE A R T
BEHANRMKE?S3428 B 7T (20234512
B31E: AR#¥87036B B T) LB A
BE#H A R586015 & T (2023412 A31
B:AR¥6BIIEE L) "BEEF
B 2023F12 318 M 4y A R #1,772.5
BETEM T K E2024F12 A31H M 4
AR#1674.088 T °

H E2024F12A318 - KREBHEABEE
E#H AR ¥7806.58 8 jr(2023F12 A8
31E:AREO8S2CEEL)RLBEEN
A R#6,302.58 &t (202312 H318 :
ARB7227288E L) FEEXBRES
F2023F12 A31H M 4 A K #1,858.0H
BILR L E2024F12A3B O A B #E
1,594.08 & T °
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EEEmE

vl

Contingent liabilities

(@)

The Group has provided guarantees to secure obligations
of certain purchasers of the Group’s properties for
repayments. Such guarantees will terminate upon the earlier
of (i) the issuance and transfer of the real estate ownership
certificate, or (i) the satisfaction of mortgage loans by the
purchasers of the properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default of
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principal
together with accrued interest owed by the defaulting
purchasers to the banks and the Group is entitled to take
over the legal title and possession of the related properties
after the relevant legal procedures. The Group’s guarantee
period starts from the date of grant of mortgage. The
Directors consider that the likelihood of default of payments
by the purchasers is minimal and therefore the financial
guarantee measured at fair value is immaterial.

In line with the diversified land acquisition strategies of
the Group, a subsidiary of the Group obtained 20% equity
interest in an associate of the Group (the “Associate”) which
hold a parcel of land for development through a bidding
process, and remaining 80% equity interest are held by
an independent third party (the “Investee”). Based on the
investment agreement entered into between the Associate,
the subsidiary of the Group and the Investee, the Associate
has to repay the shareholder’s loans provided by the
Investee within a specified timeframe after commencement
of presale activities. If the Associate fails to return such
shareholder’s loan on time, the subsidiary of the Group is
required to provide funding to the Associate for repayment
of shareholder’s loans. As at 31 December 2024, such
shareholder’s loans of the Associate are approximately
RMB229,495,000 (2023: RMB229,495,000).

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA
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In addition, pursuant to the above-mentioned investment
agreement, the subsidiary of the Group also has to
compensate for all losses of the Investee if the property
project is delayed under certain conditions or that the
repayment of shareholder’s loans is delayed beyond
certain period stipulated in the investment agreement. The
Directors consider that the risk of providing funding for
repayment of shareholder’s loans or any compensation loss
is low as the development progress has been continuously
communicated and mutually agreed.

The Group has provided certain pledges of its investment
properties and properties held or under development for
sale for borrowings of certain third parties amounting to
approximately RMB101,300,000.

Key financial ratios:

EEEWEED T
AN - R E AR E R MY E

BEEETHEATEL BRRE
FHERERERRERHE AN
ETHR AAEEMNERRINA
REREHROABEERELHEE-
EERR HURBREE—EBHERE
TAEBEERRBE  HtREEK
REFSTAHEBREMREHRES
MERBRIE -

AEENEREVERFHEHESK
RETHENERETE=ZT2E
;A A R #101,300,000 T R & T
I

FEMBLER:

For the year ended 31 December

BZE12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Profitability ratios E Rtk =
Return on assets EEEHRE -3.1% 0.4%
Return on equity 7 2= B 3 K -15.3% 2.0%
Net profit margin H A = -9.6% 1.0%
As of 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Liquidity ratio RE M=
Current ratio TENLL & 1.3 1.3
Capital adequacy ratios EARFZERLEER
Gearing ratio (note 1) BARLLE (B 7E1) 66.8% 51.1%
Debt to equity ratio (note 2) B e bt R (f7 3£2) 50.9% 36.3%

Note 1:

Gearing ratio is our total debts, including bank borrowings
and other long-term borrowings, as a percentage of total
equity.

BiaEt -
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= FE?T#\ /\*ﬁ
=] i ] = /Y a2 J]
Note 2:  Debt to equity ratio is our total debts, minus cash and cash

equivalents, as a percentage of total equity.

KEY RISK FACTORS

All of our projects are located in Henan Province, the PRC. Our
business continues to be heavily dependent on the performance
of the property markets in Xuchang City and Henan Province.
These property markets may be affected by local, regional,
national and global factors, many of which are beyond our control
and could include economic and financial conditions, speculative
activities in local markets, demand for and supply of properties,
availability of alternative investment choices for property buyers,
inflation, government policies, interest rates and availability of
capital. The selling price per sg.m. and gross profit margins
of our properties vary by the type of properties we developed
and sold, and affected by various factors including the market
demand of the properties located, prevailing local market prices,
the cost of properties constructed and sold.

The property market in the cities in which we have operations
or plan to expand our operations has been competitive. Our
existing and potential competitors include both major national
and regional property developers with expansive operations
in the cities or markets in which we operate as well as local
property developers. We compete with them with respect to
a number of factors, including land acquisition, geographic
location, management expertise, financial resources, access
to transportation infrastructure, size of land reserves, product
quality, brand recognition by customers, customer services and
support, pricing and design quality. We may seek to further
enhance our market presence in these cities amid intense
competition.
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In addition, our business is also subject to the general social
conditions in the regions where we operate and in the PRC
in general. Any occurrence of force majeure events, natural
disasters or outbreaks of epidemics and pandemics, including
those caused by avian influenza, swine influenza, Middle East
respiratory syndrome coronavirus or COVID-19 in the regions
where we operate or in the PRC in general, which are beyond our
control, depending on their scale, may cause different degree of
damages to the economy, social conditions, infrastructure and
livelihood of the people of the regions we operate or in China in
general.

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly
attributable to its borrowings. Borrowings at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The
Group has not hedged its cash flow or fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group is principally engaged in the property development
business in the PRC with almost all transactions denominated
in Renminbi. In addition, the majority of the Group’s assets and
liabilities are denominated in Renminbi. Accordingly, the Group
is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk, except for
the bank deposits denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group closely monitors
the foreign exchange exposure and will take actions when
necessary.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or
assets during the year ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Directors confirmed that as at the date of this annual report,
there are no current plans to acquire any material investment
or capital assets other than in the Group’s ordinary business of
property development.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEERWED T

GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio is our total debts, including bank borrowings and
other long-term borrowings, as a percentage of total equity.
As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 66.8%, representing an increase of approximately
15.7 percentage points as compared with approximately 51.1%
as at 31 December 2023.

TREASURY POLICIES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amounts of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

Human resource has always been the most valuable resource
of the Group. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total
workforce of 489 employees (31 December 2023: 616). The
remuneration policy is reviewed by the Board from time to time.
Emoluments of Directors are determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company after considering performance of
the Group, individual performance and comparing with market
conditions. In addition to basic remuneration, the Group also
provides medical insurance, social insurance contribution
plans or other pension schemes, and other benefits in kind
to the employees. The Group adopted a five-day work week
policy applying to our certain back office staff to execute the
philosophy of work-life balance.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

To improve personnel training and development, the Group
provides a series of employee training programmes, which aims
to accelerate professional growth and identify competences and
talents of diversified teams. High potential staff are preferred and
developed intensively according to the promotion plan towards
the management level. In order to attract and retain suitable
candidates for business development, the Group adopted the
share option scheme as an incentive since November 2018.

FORWARD LOOKING

Over the past year, the national macroeconomic environment
has grappled with immense pressure and complex challenges.
The state has explicitly emphasised the need to “adopt a more
proactive macroeconomic policy, boost domestic demand
comprehensively, and stabilise the property and stock markets,*
while “continuing efforts to stabilise the real estate market and
reverse its downturn”. With supportive policies expected to roll
out swiftly, the market is beginning to reveal emerging trends
and patterns, signaling that the real estate sector may gradually
enter a new phase of growth.

In 2025, the Group will closely track macroeconomic and policy
shifts, proactively adapt to evolving conditions, refine its strategic
framework in a timely manner, pursue progress while ensuring
stability, and build momentum for transformative breakthroughs.

In terms of sales, the Group will monitor market dynamics and
craft flexible marketing strategies. By leveraging data collection
and analysis, we will assess customer needs and anticipate
future demand, tailoring targeted sales approaches accordingly.
Simultaneously, we will explore an integrated model of online
brand promotion and offline sales events to broaden our
customer base, amplify brand presence, forge stronger ties
between brand and clientele, and devise precise sales strategies
based on inventory types and ages, prioritising the accelerated
turnover of commercial properties and parking spaces.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEERWED T

We will fully leverage favourable government policies aimed
at invigorating the real estate market, striving to shorten the
subscription, signing, and payment collection cycles. Additionally,
we will diligently oversee completion filings, registrations, and
property ownership certificate processes for homeowners to
minimise funds held in regulatory and guarantee accounts.

The Group will remain committed to its development strategy
of prioritising Henan and deeply cultivating Xuchang, guided
by market demand and profit objectives. We will refine land
acquisition criteria, steadily secure new projects, and maintain a
balanced land reserve to support the Group’s future growth.

Amidst the real estate market’s shift toward multi-dimensional
product development, the Group will embed innovation,
humanism, service, and technology into project planning
and design to create market-leading, people-centric, smart,
and community-focused projects. We will continue to unlock
spatial potential, pioneer innovative layouts, and emphasise
enhancements in quality, safety, and livability.

As 2025 unfolds, Ever Reach Group will advance with measured
steps, harnessing its competitive strengths, deciphering
market trends, and seizing opportunities. With China’s ongoing
economic reforms and regulatory measures gaining depth, the
real estate industry, recognised as a pillar of economic stability,
stands poised to embrace a new era of development, bolstered
by policy support and market momentum.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGEREBAEBZEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Xiaobing, aged 47, is the executive Director and
Chairman of the Company and was appointed as a Director
on 22 July 2016. He was also the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee until he ceased to be Chairman and member on
30 June 2025. Mr. LI Xiaobing joined the Group in October
2004 as the manager of the purchasing department (¥ B & 4%
1#) of Xuchang Hengda and has since then served a number
of managerial and directorship positions of various members
of the Group. Mr. LI Xiaobing has extensive experience in
strategic planning, operational management and corporate
administration of property development business in the PRC. He
is also a director of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited, which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

In December 2006, Mr. LI Xiaobing obtained an Executive
Master of Business Administration from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology (ER B KZ) in Wuhan. Mr. LI
Xiaobing was elected as the standing member of the Seventh
Xuchang Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference from 14 May 2020 to January 2023,
and served as a representative member in the 14th People’s
Congress of Henan Province on 9 January 2023.

Mr. WANG Zhenfeng, aged 56, is the executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as
a Director on 19 May 2017. He is also a member of the Legal
Compliance Committee. Mr. WANG Zhenfeng joined the Group
in May 2002 and has been the general manager (#2#12) of
Xuchang Hengda since November 2006, the director of Xuchang
Hengda since October 2007, the director of Henan Dadi since
August 2012 and chief executive officer ( 42 £ ) of Xuchang
Hengda since February 2013. Mr. WANG Zhenfeng has extensive
experiences in strategic planning, operational and financial
management as well as corporate administration of property
development businesses in the PRC.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEABZBE

Mr. WANG Zhenfeng obtained an undergraduate degree in
industrial economics ( L % £ /& ) from Henan University of
Finance and Economics* (] /8 Bf 48 B A K 22) (the predecessor
of Henan Institute of Finance* (Jf] Fg 81 &£ £ Fx)) in June 1992. He
then attained the qualification of accountant in the speciality of
enterprise accounting (1 % @ 3f) as conferred by the Ministry
of Finance of the PRC* (FF % A R 1B B Bt &) in May 1996,
and also obtained the qualification lawyer certificate (12 R & #%&
& &) from the Review Committee of Lawyer Qualification under
the Ministry of Justice of the PRC* (/% A R L F1 B &) )& S0 2 Al
ERBFEBEZLZED) in July 2001. He has become a non-practising
member (3E#1 2 @ B) of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (9 B 7 filt & &5 B0 1% &) since June 2012.

Ms. QI Chunfeng, aged 53, is the executive Director and deputy
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as a
Director on 19 May 2017. She was also appointed as a member
of the Nomination Committee on 30 June 2025. In November
1993, Ms. QI Chunfeng joined the finance department (B4 7% #6)
of Weidu Guesthouse Limited (which was a subsidiary of Henan
Dadi prior to disposal of the entire equity interests therein to
Hengda Investment in September 2016) and has been a director
as well as deputy chief executive officer (2l42%;) of Xuchang
Hengda since January 2002 and March 2010 respectively. Ms.
QI Chunfeng has extensive experiences in financial supervision,
operational management as well as corporate administration of
property development businesses in the PRC.

Ms. QI Chunfeng completed her tertiary studies in the speciality
of computing accountancy (& 5% & 1k) at Xuchang Vocational
Technical College (7F & B 2 #1722 Fx) in January 2007.

*

English name for identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGEREBAEBZEE

Mr. WANG Quan, aged 52, is the executive Director and deputy
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as
a Director on 19 May 2017. Mr. WANG Quan joined Xuchang
Hengda in March 2002 and has since been a deputy chief
executive officer ( &) #2 £ ) of Xuchang Hengda since April
2005, as well as a director of Henan Dadi from August 2012 to
November 2022. Mr. WANG Quan has extensive experiences in
operational management and corporate administration.

Mr. WANG Quan completed his tertiary studies in the speciality
of production mechanics craftsmanship and equipments (#
BE TE &%) at the Technical College of Northern China*
(4L T2P7T) in July 1996. He then attained in May 2001 the
professional and technical qualification of assistant engineer (8)
BT F2AD) in the speciality of mechanics (##) as evaluated
by the Elementary Professional and Technical Role Assessment
Committee of State-owned 9676 Factory (Engineering Series)*
(BENAREABRIERNIVBAEERMBEFZE) and
conferred by the Commission of Science, Technology and
Industry for National Defence of Henan Province* (J7] & & B B &l
BRI T2 Z%Z8E) Moreover, Mr. WANG Quan also obtained
the intermediate level of economics (4 %) in the speciality of
business administration (T 7% %& I£) as conferred by the Ministry
of Personnel of the PRC* (R 2 A R £ F1B A F &) in November
2001, as well as the intermediate level of finance (& &) and the
intermediate level of fiscal taxation (B4 %% Uk) as conferred by
the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
PRC* (FB A N ERMtERESS) respectively in May 2015
and April 2016. Furthermore, Mr. WANG Quan undertook a
number of qualification examinations for securities practitioners
(FFHMZE ABE®REH) and was granted passing certificates (A%
4 A &) by the Securities Association of China (41 B 2 % ¥ 17
-,
)

(o)
= ).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEABZBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Kwok Lun, aged 41, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018. He
is also the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
(re-designated as chairman of the Nomination Committee on
30 June 2025) and the Legal Compliance Committee. Mr. Lee
is currently an independent non-executive director of (i) Dragon
Rise Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 6829); (i) Wing Chi Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 6080)
and (i) Winto Group (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8238) (appointed on 10 April
2025). He is also a director of Prism Shanghai and Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Lee has over 15 years of experience in accounting,
audit, corporate finance and financial management. Mr. Lee
was the company secretary of Solis Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2227), from
December 2019 to April 2023.

Mr. Lee obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from the
University of Hertfordshire in 2006. He is a practising member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGEREBAEBZEE

Mr. WEI Jian, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Wei is currently Managing Director of Sincerity
Investment Holding Limited. He had served for a number of
financial institutions such as in Treasury Department at Bank
of China Sydney Branch, CMC Markets Asia Pacific Pty Ltd.,
City Index Australia Pty Ltd. and China Minsheng Banking
Corporation Limited, Hong Kong branch, and Deputy CEO of
China Vered Financial Holding Corporation Limited. Mr. Wei has
over 13 years of experience in asset management, business
development, financial market operations, corporate advisory
and securities dealing.

Mr. Wei obtained from the Royal Melbourne Institute of
Technology an Advanced Diploma of Business (Marketing) in
October 1999 and a degree of Bachelor of Business (Economics
and Finance) in December 2000, and subsequently the
Postgraduate Diploma in Finance and the Master of Financial
Management from The University of Melbourne in August 2002
and in December 2002 respectively.
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EENEREEABZBE

Mr. FANG Cheng, aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018. He
is also the chairman of each of the Remuneration Committee and
the Legal Compliance Committee, and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Fang has
over 19 years of experience in investment banking and corporate
financing activities. Mr. Fang had served for a number of financial
institutions such as South China Capital Limited, Lombard
Capital Limited, Masterlink Securities (Hong Kong) Corporation
Limited, CNCB (Hong Kong) Capital Limited, Freeman Corporate
Finance Limited, Hong Kong International Capital Management
Limited, Huarong International Capital Limited and Huarong
International Securities Limited.

Mr. Fang obtained a bachelor’s degree in transportation
engineering and management (% i T 72 815 12 £) from Feng
Chia University ((2F K2£) in 1992 and subsequently a degree
of Master of Business Administration from the Cleveland State
University in 1995.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LEUNG Kam Fai Anthony, aged 40, has been the chief
financial officer and company secretary of our Company since
December 2016. He is primarily responsible for accounting,
financial as well as company secretarial matters of our Company.
He has extensive experience in handling transactional, annual
auditing and review engagements for public companies.

Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Baptist University in November
2008. Mr. Leung has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since March 2013.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHE

The directors of the Company have pleasure in submitting
herewith their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Review of the business of the Group during the year
under review, a discussion on the Group’s future business
development and possible risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are provided in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 8 and the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 28 of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended
31 December 2024 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 9 to 28 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are property development and
property investment in the PRC.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to upholding a high standard of integrity
in all business aspects. We ensure that our affairs are conducted
in accordance with applicable laws and regulatory requirements.
To support this commitment, we have implemented various
internal control measures, approval procedures, and training
across all business units and levels within the Group.

In accordance with Rule 13.49(1) and 13.46(2)(a) of the Listing
Rules, the Company was required to: (1) publish the annual
results for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December
31, 2024, no later than three months after the end of the financial
year (i.e., by March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2025, respectively)
and (2) dispatch the annual reports for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024, to shareholders
no later than four months after the end of the financial year (i.e.,
by April 30, 2024 and April 30, 2025, respectively). For further
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated April
2,2024.

Pursuant to Rules 13.49(6) and 13.48(1) of the Listing Rules, the
Company was also required to: (1) publish the interim results for
the six months ended June 30, 2024, no later than two months
after this period (i.e., by August 30, 2024) and (2) dispatch
the interim report for the six months ended June 30, 2024, to
shareholders no later than three months after this period (i.e.,
by September 30, 2024). For further details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated August 23, 2024.

Throughout the year, aside from the aforementioned instances of
non-compliance, the Board is not aware of any other violations
of relevant laws and regulations that significantly impacted the
Group’s business and operations.
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RESULTS AND RECOMMENDED DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in
the financial statements of the Group on pages 137 to 309.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024,

SHARE CAPITAL

No share had been issued by the Company during the year and
details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 27
to the consolidated financial statements.

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the
Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the Group’s and the Company’s
reserves during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, notes 27 to 28 and in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity owners of the Company was
Nil.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Particulars of the principal properties and property interests of
the Group are shown on pages 311 to 318 of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman lIslands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to our shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
shares.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 310 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Directors’
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Xiaobing (Chairman)

Mr. WANG Zhenfeng (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. QI Chunfeng

Mr. WANG Quan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. FANG Cheng
Mr. LEE Kwok Lun
Mr. WEI Jian

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Ms. Ql
Chunfeng, Mr. FANG Cheng, Mr. WANG Quan and Mr. WEI Jian
will retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.
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None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting have a service agreement
or letter of appointment with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries not determinable by the employing company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 29 to 35.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company, which is subject to termination by
either party in the manner as set out in the service agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years; and is subject to termination by either party in the manner
as set out in the letter of appointment.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ report and in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the Directors, the entity connected with
the Directors, controlling shareholders and any subsidiaries of
the controlling shareholders of the Company had a material
beneficial interest, either direct or indirect, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its
parent company or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
year.
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REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to their duties, responsibilities and
performance and the Group’s results.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND/OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, being the end of the reporting period
under review, the interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and/or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) that Directors and chief executive of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are as follows:

Interests in shares of the Company

AR B B 0 22

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest
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Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes to the person with long position in the
shares.

2. These shares were legally and beneficially held by Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited as at 31 December
2024. Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is a
corporate controlling shareholder which is legally and beneficially
wholly-owned by Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited. Ever
Commitment (PTC) Limited is the trustee of the family trust,
established by Mr. LI Xiaobing as the sole settlor for the benefit of
a list of discretionary beneficiaries including Mr. LI Xiaobing himself
and any persons or classes of person (save for Mr. LI Xiaobing’s
father and mother) to be appointed by and at the sole discretion
of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited (as trustee) from time to time.
Given that Mr. LI Xiaobing is the sole settlor of the family trust, he
is therefore deemed to be interested in any shares in which Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is interested by virtue of
the SFO.

3. As at 31 December 2024, these shares were legally and beneficially
held by Ever Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited of which
the entire issued share capital was, in turn, legally and beneficially
held by Mr. LI Xiaobing. Mr. LI Xiaobing is therefore deemed to
be interested in any shares in which Ever Enrichment Enterprise
Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and/or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, shareholders (other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Ever Enhancement Enterprise Beneficial owner 855,000,000 71.25%
Company Limited ordinary shares (L)
BACEARAA ERBAA 855,000,000/
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Ever Commitment Interest of a controlled corporation 855,000,000 71.25%
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Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes to the person/entity with long position in the
shares.

2. As of 31 December 2024, Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company
Limited was one of the controlling shareholders and was wholly-
owned by Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited. Ever Commitment (PTC)
Limited is deemed to be interested in any shares in which Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is interested pursuant
to the SFO. Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited is the trustee of the
family trust established by Mr. LI Xiaobing as the sole settlor for
the benefit of a list of discretionary beneficiaries including Mr. LI
Xiaobing himself and any other person or classes of person (save
for Mr. LI Xiaobing’s father and mother) to be appointed by and at
the sole discretion of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited (as trustee)
from time to time.

3. Ms. LIN Wei is the spouse of Mr. LI Xiaobing. Given that Mr. LI
Xiaobing is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited and Ever Enrichment
Enterprise Company Limited by virtue of the SFO, she will likewise
be deemed to be interested in any shares held by both Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited and Ever Enrichment
Enterprise Company Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Equity-linked Agreements

There was no other equity-linked agreements entered into by the
Company which subsisted during the year ended 31 December
2024.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group remunerates and provides benefits for its employees
based on current industry practice. Discretionary bonuses are
awarded to staff based on the performance of the Group and
performance of individual staff. In addition, share options may
be granted to eligible employees in accordance with the terms of
the Company’s share option scheme.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in several defined contribution retirement
plans which cover the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC,
and a mandatory provident fund scheme for the employees in
Hong Kong.

The PRC operating entities participate in retirement schemes
organised by the PRC municipal and provincial government
authorities, whereby the PRC operating entities are required to
make contribution at defined rates required by different local
government authorities. The local government authorities are
responsible for the pension obligations payable to the retired
employees covered under the retirement schemes.

The Group also operates a mandatory provident fund scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The mandatory provident fund scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the mandatory provident fund
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HKD30,000.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 22 October 2018, which shall be valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from 12 November 2018,
subject to early termination by the Company in a general meeting
or by the Board. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to provide incentives to Eligible Person (as defined below) and
is established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
the Eligible Person have had or may have made to the Group.
Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to grant
an option to any employees, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors) of the Group and any advisers, consultants, suppliers,
customers, agents to the Group and related entities who, in the
sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to
the Group (collectively the “Eligible Person”).
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The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other option schemes of the
Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. The maximum number of
shares available for issue under options which may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme or other share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue immediately following completion of the IPO
(but taking no account of any shares which may be allotted or
issued pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option (as
defined in the prospectus)), being 120,000,000 shares. The total
number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme to each Eligible Person in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the number of shares in issue as at the date
of grant unless approved by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be
determined by the Board provided that it shall not be less than
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

To accept the option, the grantee shall pay HK$0.01 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant within 30
days from the date of grant. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at
any time after the date upon which the option is deemed to be
granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from
that date. The period during which an option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save
that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it
has been granted. The Board may in its absolute discretion
determine a minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

No option was granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme during the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024. No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.
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As at the date of this Directors’ report, the total number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
120,000,000 shares representing approximately 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as elsewhere disclosed in this annual report, no rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company were granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, or their respective spouse or children under 18 years
of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:
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Sales Purchases
HE BB
The largest customer BAEF 0.34%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREFA 1.18%
The largest supplier &AM ER 17.3%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate A ARBEE ST 27.9%

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers and its
five largest customers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Group has entered into the following connected/continuing
connected transactions during the year ended 31 December
2024. Details of the transactions are set out below:

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

U

Civil engineering construction services

On 19 April 2022, Luohe Hengda Huatai Real Estate
Company Limited* (“Luohe Hengda”) entered into the civil
engineering construction contract with Luohe Huatai Real
Estate Group Construction Company Limited* (“Luohe
Huatai Construction”), pursuant to which Luohe Hengda
entrusted Luohe Huatai Construction to provide civil
engineering and construction services for a commercial
building and the connected garage in a construction
project. The civil engineering construction contract, which
is continuous in nature, was entered into in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group. The total
consideration is approximately of RMB4 million pursuant to
the terms of the civil engineering construction contract. The
contract term is 560 calendar days from 19 April 2022 to 30
October 2023.

As certain construction materials and equipment were
unable to be transported to the construction site(s) due
to the lock down measures in response to COVID-19
implemented in the PRC in 2022 which had in turn affected
the construction progress in the same year, certain
construction work which should have been completed in
2022 had been delayed to 2023 and certain construction
progress will accelerate in order to meet the original
completion date of the project as envisaged under the
civil engineering construction contract. On 28 September
2023, the caps has been decided to revise by increasing
from RMB7 million to RMB8.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 and by decreasing from RMB1 million to
RMBO0.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

On 29 May 2024, Luohe Hengda entered into the
supplemental civil engineering construction contract with
Luohe Huatai Construction, pursuant to which Luohe
Hengda entrusted Luohe Huatai Construction to provide
additional construction services. The Company has
therefore decided to revise the cap for the year ended
31 December 2024 by increasing from RMBO0.9 million to
RMB14.4 million.

*

English name for identification purpose only
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(ii)

Luohe Hengda was held as to 40% by Luohe Huatai Real
Estate Group Company Limited (“Luohe Huatai”) and 60%
by Xuchang Hengda; and Luohe Huatai was held as to
49% by two independent third parties and 51% by Linying
Hongtong which in turn held 51% equity interest in Luohe
Huatai Construction. Therefore, Luohe Huatai Construction
is a Connected Person of the Company by virtue of being
an associate of Luohe Huatai at the subsidiary level.
Accordingly, under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
civil engineering construction contract and the transaction
contemplated thereunder constitute a continuing connected
transaction of the Company.

For further details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 19 April 2022, 28 September 2023 and 29
May 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fee charged
by Luohe Huatai Construction for the provision of the
civil engineering and construction services amounted to
approximately RMB14.3 million, which was within the annual
cap of RMB14.4 million for the same period.

Property management services

On 2 December 2022, the Company and Hengda Property
Management entered into a 2022 master property
management service agreement for a term from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive), pursuant
to which the Hengda Property Management agreed to
provide a variety of property management and related
services to our Group.

For further details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 2 December 2022,

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees charged
by Hengda Property Management for the provision of the
services under the 2022 master property management
service agreement amounted to approximately
RMB31,348,000, which was within the annual cap of
RMB32,474,000 for the same period.

(i)
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(iii) Financial assistance to a Connected Person at

subsidiary level

On 28 November 20283 (after trading hours), Xuchang
Hengda entered into the capital injection agreement with
Xuchang Shitou Urban Development Group Company
Limited* (“Xuchang Shitou”) and Xuchang Hengrun Real
Estate Company Limited* (“Xuchang Hengrun”). Pursuant
to the terms of the capital injection agreement: (1) Xuchang
Hengda shall make a capital injection of RMB40 million into
the registered capital of Xuchang Hengrun; (2) Xuchang
Hengrun shall, within one year after signing the capital
injection agreement (i.e. before 27 November 2024), repay
the shareholders’ loans owed to Xuchang Shitou; and (3)
Xuchang Hengda shall conditionally enter into the equity
pledge agreement and pledge the equity interest in favour
of Xuchang Shitou (i) upon Xuchang Hengda having paid
up all the additional registered capital of Xuchang Hengrun
pursuant to the capital injection agreement before 31
December 2023, and (i) within 20 business days upon
completing the industrial and commercial registration
regarding the capital injection. Upon entering into the equity
pledge agreement, the shareholders’ loans, which were fully
exempted continuing connected transactions due to having
entered into on normal commercial terms or better and not
secured by any assets of the group, shall become secured
with the equity pledge.
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On 25 January 2024, Xuchang Hengda, Xuchang Shitou and
Xuchang Hengrun entered into the supplemental agreement
regarding the capital injection agreement and unanimously
agreed to revise the terms of the equity pledge as follows:
(i) upon Xuchang Hengda having paid up all the additional
registered capital of Xuchang Hengrun pursuant to the
Capital Injunction; and (ii) within 30 business days upon
completion of the industrial and commercial registration
regarding the capital injection, Xuchang Hengda shall enter
into the new equity pledge agreement in respect of the
pledge of 49% of the equity interest in Xuchang Weiheng,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in
favour of Xuchang Shitou, as security for the repayment of
the shareholders’ loans in aggregate principal amount of
RMB53.21 million and the interests accrued.

Xuchang Shitou is a substantial shareholder of Xuchang
Hengrun. Xuchang Shitou is thus a Connected Person
of the Company at subsidiary level under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the equity pledge provided
in favor of Xuchang Shitou, shall constitute a connected
transaction on the part of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Upon entering into the equity
pledge agreement, the shareholders’ loans, which were fully
exempted continuing connected transactions due to having
entered into on normal commercial terms or better and not
secured by any assets of the Group, shall become secured
with the equity pledge and shall become a discloseable and
continuing connected transaction.

For further details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 November 2023 and 25 January 2024.
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The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors and they
confirmed that the aforesaid transactions were entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (i) on
normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available to or from independent third parties,
and (i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has
provided a letter to the Board, confirming that nothing has come
to their attention which causes them to believe the continuing
connected transactions abovementioned:

()  have not been approved by the Board;

(i) have not been entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and

(i) have exceeded their respective annual caps.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group in the normal course of business are set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions, which constituted connected transactions not
being exempt from annual reporting requirement under the
Listing Rules, are set out in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” above.
Those fully exempted connected transactions under the Listing
Rules are disclosed in note 39(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company has complied with the relevant
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group
as of 31 December 2024 are set out in notes 30 to 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the
Directors is currently in force.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had any interest in the businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group that were required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Mr. Li Xiaobing, Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited,
Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited and Ever
Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited (each a “Non-Compete
Covenantor”) has entered into a deed of non-competition
(the “Deed of Non-competition”) dated 22 October 2018 in
favour of the Company, pursuant to which they have undertaken
with the Company that they shall not, and shall procure that
their respective associates shall not, directly or indirectly, be
interested, involved or engaged in or acquire or hold any right or
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete
directly or indirectly with the core business of the Group from
time to time.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of the
Non-Compete Covenantors in respect of their compliance with
the Deed of Non-Competition and the connected transaction
agreements during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors also reviewed the
Non-Compete Covenantors’ compliance with the Deed of Non-
Competition. The independent non-executive Directors confirmed
that the Non-Compete Covenantors were not in breach of the
Deed of Non-Competition during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital
importance to the long term development of the Group. In order
to minimise the environmental impact, the Group will continue
to review and improve the effectiveness of its management
practices from time to time.

A report on the environmental, social and governance is set out
on pages 56 to 101 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 102 to 124 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the
public during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no change to
the Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no material events were
undertaken by the Group subsequent to 31 December 2024.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donation of
approximately RMB358,000.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
have been audited by McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited.
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited is the auditor of the
Company as at the date of this report which was appointed by
the Board with effect from 25 September 2024 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PwC”) with effect from 9 August 2024.

PwC was the auditor of the Company. In the resignation letter of
PwC, PwC pointed out that certain issues they believe should be
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company, for
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
12 August 2024 (the “Announcement”’). Save as disclosed in
the Announcement, the Board is not aware of any matter in
connection with PwC’s resignation that needs to be brought to
the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

By order of the Board

LI Xiaobing
Chairman and Executive Director

18 July 2025
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PURPOSE AND CRITERIA OF THE REPORT

To comply with the requirements set out in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide in Appendix C2 of the
Listing Rules, the Group hereby presents its Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The purpose of the ESG Report is to identify and disclose the
major issues of the Group in relation to the environment, society
and governance (hereafter “ESG”) as well as its key performance
indicators while illustrating its pursuit of sustainable development
and practice of its social responsibility in every aspect.

Effective from 1 January 2025, the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide is upgraded to Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Code (the “ESG Code”).
We are currently in the transition phase and are committed to
preparing relevant ESG reports in accordance with the ESG
Code from 2025 onwards.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

1. Materiality: Based on our continuous communications
with stakeholders, the Group has established a model for
analysing environmental and social data. Based on our
internal materiality analysis, ESG issues that may impact the
views of stakeholders are disclosed. For details regarding
the materiality analysis on ESG issues, please refer to the
section headed “Importance of the ESG topics”.

2.  Quantitative: ESG data is presented in figures, such
that our ESG performance can be compared to that of
our peers, industry standards and our performance in the
previous year. Details about the basis of calculation will be
further disclosed in relevant sections in this report.

3. Balance: All information disclosed in this report should be
unbiased, with no misleading presentations, selections and
omissions that may unduly influence the decision making of
stakeholders.
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4. Consistency: To ensure comparability, all calculations and
assumptions regarding ESG KPIs are kept consistent with
that of the previous year. We will clearly disclose and inform
stakeholders of any changes to our methodology.

SCOPE AND PERIOD OF THE ESG REPORT

The scope of the ESG Report is determined each year by Ever
Reach, having discussed the business size of each subsidiary
and considered the development of the Group’s key projects. A
total of 5 (2023: 5) subsidiaries have been included in the ESG
report for the year, including:

e  Xuchang Hengda Property Group Company Limited*

e Yuzhou City Hengda Property Company Limited*

e Yuzhou City Hengnuo Property Company Limited*

e Yuzhou Taiyu Real Estate Development Company Limited*

e Xiangcheng Hengda Real Estate Development Company
Limited*

The ESG Report discloses the major issues and key performance
indicators of the main key projects in the operations and
real estate development business of the Group in respect of
environmental management, social responsibility and governance
during the period between 1 January 2024 and 31 December
2024 (hereafter the “ESG Reporting Period”).

Looking forward, Ever Reach believes that sustainable
development will continue to play an important part in its
business operations. In the future, the Group will continue
to improve its data collection and reporting system on
environmental management, social responsibility and
governance performance, and gradually enhance the quality and
comprehensiveness of the ESG Report in the long run.

DATA COLLECTION METHODOLOGY

The data used in the ESG Report comes from the relevant
functional departments of selected subsidiaries.

*

English name for identification purpose only
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CONCERNS OF THE STAKEHOLDERS RO ENRET

The Group attaches great importance to its social responsibility SEERHEEARUBFEER  TH
and sustainability and tries its best to understand the concerns SEEFHEMBINZE BRBBRE
of each of its stakeholders and meet their expectations and BRTRAMNEBEREREFTMENGE
requirements through operations and various communication MER LERARESRER ALt
channels, so as to grow strong together with them and EER R ANEE -

contribute the greatest value to the community.

Stakeholders Concerns Response of the Group

B0 E B EE SEHEE

Government Operation in The Group adheres to the business philosophy of honesty and
compliance integrity. It has actively fulfilled the obligations of corporate citizens,

Economic growth

Community
construction

B F BREE
185 0 &
HEZER
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and promoted the harmonious development of society, so as to
become a model for corporate citizenship.

We maintain strict compliance with the laws and regulations, paying
taxes honestly, fighting corruption, money laundering and bribery;
we give full play to our strengths in resource integration while
“enacting measures according to local conditions and applying
them on well-chosen targets”; we will further optimize our real
estate development business and strive to establish a strategic
presence in the development of high-end homes and smart
communities.

SERTHRETENLLED BRETEELARNEL  #H
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Response of the Group
SEMEE

Customers

Product quality, safety
experience &
customer services

Privacy &
confidentiality

The Group insists on thinking from the perspective of customers,
creating value for customers, and taking a customer-oriented
approach. Using this as a source, we have developed the ideal
housings for different groups of people, and meet the needs of our
customers now and in future through continuous innovation.

We strive to build high-quality houses and smart living environment
in accordance with the strict quality standards for housing
and building materials. We have set up multiple customer
communication and feedback channels to listen to their opinions
and handle inquiries or complaints. We have in place multiple
protection measures for the privacy of customer data, with those
who have direct access to the customer information required to
sign a Customer Data Confidentiality Agreement.

SERBUERFAERE  REFPAIEEE  —VATPRFL -
N RR - BRPERTRAABRECITERERE  UBBFHER
MmEEPREMARNFTR -

EREERNEEREZEEMHEERERE BREREERERE
BELEEERR RUZEFFPABROERE REXFPERAR
REAFRKF HEFPEBRBLAZELERRE BEEEKE
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RIR - HERERHE

Stakeholders Concerns Response of the Group
HM0E BENZEE S E N E E
Investors Investment returns The Group is accountable to all investors and strives to provide

Corporate information
transparency

Interests protection

REE # & Bl &
REEEERE

=R E

Employees Health & safety
Career development

Training opportunities

BERZ2

i
H

BEZER

Ll

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

them with reasonable, sustained and stable returns on their
investments.

We are making great efforts to capture the market trend
while constantly enhancing our management capabilities, our
brand influence and value. We maintain close and transparent
communication with our investors and the market through investor
meetings, shareholders’ meetings and release of annual reports
and interim reports. We have in place a rigorous risk management
and internal control system in cooperation with the internal audit
function, so that the management and audit committee can focus
on the adequacy and effectiveness of our risk management and
internal control system.

EHYMEREEAT BHEREEEBSAEDN BENNE
TE B 5 o

BELEMS B TEHRAEER ) RItmBTENREE-
BRREESH %%KA Eﬁ&@%ﬁimﬁﬁ HEEHE
LS REBREZERNER - B2 L B B E&W%ﬁh“m'
Fo & MBS = X B AE 'Aﬁﬁﬁgﬁéz EEFEEINERERE
NEEEE R BT M RB MBI

The Group believes that its employees are the most valuable
assets. We fully respect the rights and interests of our employees,
and provide them with a platform to exert their talents and achieve
their career development, such that our employees can grow
together and share the operating results with the Company.

We strive to create a competitive work environment, a sound
performance appraisal system and a remuneration and welfare
system while constantly improving our training and development
system, so as to help our employees blend into the long-term
development of the Group, spark off their potentials and enhance
their satisfaction and sense of belonging.

EBEEEETRPEREENUE RNOEBEEETHEZR BET
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Response of the Group
SEMEE

Suppliers

HER

Community

gt

Transparency in
procurement
process

Development
opportunities

Commercial integrity

RBREERE

TRKE

EEHE

Job opportunities

Environment
friendliness &

energy saving

Public welfare

We have in place a well-maintained supplier management system,
which enables a clear division of the supervisory functions and
combines supplier assessment and approval, supplier selection and
performance evaluation to oversee the supply chain management in
all aspects.

BRATENHERETEEHNE BREETHENHESIT HED
M AREL HEREERRAFE KSETOEEHERE

B o

We are committed to the long-term and ambitious development
of our business and creating more job opportunities for the
community. We will try our best to gradually reduce emission and
consumption of energy, reduce greenhouse gas emission and
improve energy efficiency while vigorously practicing our corporate
social responsibility and promoting the development of philanthropy
in the regions where we operate.

RERBHWEREY AIEEZHERE - BT BEERBBERE -
HMAOBERBERERITEREANGS - SHEBRLELSEME
HBZEAXRBHRONBESEXZER -
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IMPORTANCE OF THE ESG TOPICS

The Group has conducted an assessment of the importance
of the ESG topics. The factors for consideration include the
strategic objectives and policies of the businesses of the
Group, industry standards, legal and regulatory responsibilities,
environmental protection, resource utilisation, quality control
and employee protection, etc. with the aim of helping the Group
identify important issues. Through such an assessment and
analysis, the Group has identified various major issues and has
described the Group’s response to such important issues in a
more complete and accurate way in the ESG Report.

SE M2 rsEPE Materiality Assessment Matrix

ESGEIEHALEE ZEEM Importance of ESG Topics to the Group
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Iltem ESG Topic

RIE - HERERESE

Item ESG Topic

HE ESG&HE IHEH ESGE&E&E
1 Customer satisfaction 15 Environmental risks (e.g. pollution) and social
risks (e.g. monopoly) for suppliers
BEEWMEE HERIRERR (I 5R) Mt =Rk :
BEIET)
2 Staff remuneration, benefits and rights 16 Measures in relation to protection of
(e.g. working hours, rest periods, working environment and natural resources
environment)
BT &HM - A MER G0 TERSRE - KRS RERBENMRAE RN E I
W~ TEREK)
3 Occupational health and safety 17 Hazardous waste generation
BEREMZR EERREYWHELE
4 Customer information and privacy protection 18 Use of materials (e.g. paper, packaging, raw
materials)
BEEEEMALRBIRE MEE R BInER - 8% - R
) Product and service labelling 19 Exhaust gas emissions
EmiREIEE Z= SR B
6 Compliance with and protection of intellectual 20 Anti-corruption policies and whistleblowing
property rights procedures
BIFARE R B ERE REFBERBHRTIE
7 Environmental friendliness of purchased 21 Supplier selection and monitoring
products and services
ERAE E an MR 75 B 3R 35 R 0 1 HEEEEMER
8 Sales and marketing (e.g. advertisements) 22 Staff development, training and promotion
&I AN E (DI E &) BIEEMBZINEF
9 Number of concluded legal cases in relation to 23 Non-hazardous waste generation
corrupt practices (e.g. bribery, extortion, fraud,
and money laundering)
ARBBITRNEEREZEREEE - HINEERE - BEEEVNES
PR - HEFFLE
10 Prevention of child labour and forced labour 24 Community support (e.g. donation, volunteer
work)
It REBETRAEH ST ME i (flnEE - SERS)
11 Energy use (e.g. electricity, gas, fuel) 25 Climate change
BEIRGE AR (FIANE 1 ~ PR - PRED Rk &1k
12 Anti-corruption training provided for Directors 26 Water use
and staff
MEEMEIRHNREIGTE KEIRE A
13 Staff diversity and equal opportunities 27 Greenhouse gas emissions
BIZntMTEKS B =R HE
14 Promotion of local employment 28 Product health and safety
& 2 1 3L R EmERRERZT®
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- HERERBE

According to the Materiality Assessment Matrix, items located
at the upper right corner represent ESG topics of higher
importance, namely “customer satisfaction”, “staff remuneration,
benefits and rights” (such as working hours, rest periods,
working environment), and “occupational health and safety”. The
above items are the key drivers for the sustainable development
of the Group and will be further elaborated below.

THE BOARD’S ESG STATEMENT

To strengthen our sustainability management, the Group
has established a governance framework for sustainable
development that progressively integrates sustainability topics
into the basis of the business development strategy of all
business units. By defining the ESG responsibilities of each
department and subsidiary, we were able to root the concept
of sustainability in our workforce and create value for the
communities in which we operate.

The Board is responsible for the overall monitoring of the Group’s
sustainability issues, including the development of strategies and
visions relating to ESG, monitoring our actual performance and
progress, as well as considering related risks and opportunities.
In developing its ESG management approach and strategy, the
Board will take into account the materiality assessment and
the feedback collected from its communication with various
stakeholders to determine the sustainability focus of the Group,
and establish the priorities for resource allocation to address
such issues. In addition, the Board and the senior management
will review topics and policies related to the Group’s sustainable
development on an annual basis and make timely changes to the
policies.

Through our ESG management approach and strategy, the
Group is committed to deliver positive results in its four focus
areas: (i) customer satisfaction; (ii) staff remuneration, benefits
and rights (such as working hours, rest periods, working
environment); (iiij occupational health and safety. In the future,
the Group will continue to adjust its overall approach and
strategy in response to various factors.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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BREBEEZUSTER URALANSE
IE%*H%T%EEE’JESG%’EEOEA%%IE
DRRIEEPREE]I TETHM & H
AR (Plan THERRE - KBRS - THE
REIRIBEREMZ 2] L =1E
BERAEBERAIFERR Eﬁizﬁﬁ
Bh YR ETXFE-—TBA
EEENRR HEREREHR
RTIMEREERHAFHEERRNERETE -
AEBEERZUAREERELORE 8
AREBEZRNIBEZSMARMMAE
BEUNEBEREKERD -BES
MPARMBAREBESGHRE @ &7
FEZRNOESHBRERMANEIEE -
RAEEEEMELRAEEE -

EEC AR RHEEASENAUFESR
BRIEEE BIEHTEEBESGH R
E R EEERXRENEBRITER
MR ER RS - =245 EESG
MERAFHEREESEREEZ TG
LA K B3 % 7 %5 A6 B9 07 08 B R T U & B Y
ERRETAEENAFERRBIE
B OUREEZSEREBELE RS B
BEIBF - B/ EESRaREEE
BTFRFTAAEEAFEEREBENG
BRER  REFHBORELEE -

BBAEBEMNESGEER F TR KK K
EBHR IR ESHBHEREBEZK R : ()
EPRMEEGEIEB - 1275 F R (f)
WITIERR - KB M TEIRR) (i)
BEREMZE HBE TEETgSE
BEESTRE= #AZRRSENEEH
AR o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
DISCLOSURE

ENVIRONMENT

The Group has been committed to ensuring strict compliance of
its business activities with local laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the “Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of People’s Republic of China” and
the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes”. It also
imposes stringent requirements on the management measures for
environmental protection and discusses the reduction goals with its
contractors and requires them to strictly follow the environmental
protection principles. The Group has also formulated a series of
environment protection measures to reduce emissions and energy
consumption, prevent dust and reduce noise, so as to integrate
environmental management into its daily operation and strive to
minimise the impact of its operations on the environment. During
the ESG Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations
relating to air emissions, greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

RIE - HERERESE

BE - dEgNERKE
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A1 EMISSIONS

Emission reduction is an important issue in the Group’s
environmental protection program, for which it is making
constant efforts to reduce emission in its daily operations
and enhance its energy efficiency. In our daily operations,
we used environment-friendly devices such as OA office
automation system and watersaving products. Given our
emphasis on environmental pollution, we continued to
encourage our employees to hold video conferences more
frequently and reduce the number of business trips during
the year, in order to safeguard employees’ well-being and
enhance work efficiency. As a result, the above measures
were effective in reducing emissions of greenhouse gases
and other air pollutants.

During the year, the Group included in its assessment the
emissions of greenhouse gas and other air pollutants by its
core projects of the real estate business and collected data
by region and development projects.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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RIE  HERERRE

A1.1 AIR POLLUTANTS A1l ZERTRY
During the year, no nitrogen oxide (NO) and sulfur EERAFETERREE
oxides (SO,) arose from the Group’s gas production. MR AL NO) LT ALY
(80) °
Data for air pollutant emissions from vehicles and LTAREERMNAHRRER
liquefied petroleum gas is as follows: 28 RS 20 Bk N BUR ¢
Percentage

Air pollutantsmoe ) Unit 2024 2023 change

ZER5 R iy By 20244 2023F BHOLEER

Nitrogen oxides (NO ) kg 19.32 26.10 -25.98%

ARA P (NO,) F5e

Sulfur oxides (SO)) kg 0.47 0.58 -18.97%

2L #(S0) Fiz

Particulate Matter (PM) kg 1.42 1.92 -26.04%

N 0% % 8 R (PM) T

Total air pollutants emissions (ot 2 kg 21.21 28.60 -25.84%

# 72 R 5 AR Y HE R w22 F5e

Notes: Kzt -

(1)  The calculation method used in the emissions report ) L+FHERBREMEANGTE
above is based on the “How to prepare an ESG Report AR B R AT RN
— Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental M EFHRE HLERERE
KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange. s - WD RBERER

EIRERIESID) -

(2) The Group has been raising awareness of air pollutants 2 EBEZRPRAFERSED
emissions, encouraging staff to reduce the use of RO ERHR FEBEIRD
vehicles and developing environmental protection ERERIHEREREDN
measures. ERiIR
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RIR - HERERHE

A1.2 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

As an active response to the national development
policy of building a low-carbon economy, the Group
implemented the following rules to reduce emissions:

e  Work and construction vehicles should be driven
within their respective speed limits;

o Regarding work vehicles: Employees are
encouraged to make telephone calls to resolve
business matters to reduce vehicle use. No more
than one vehicle will be leased out for company
business conducted at the same location (or areas
nearby) by different departments. Employees must
use public transportation (excluding vehicles for
hire) for one-way trips under 4 km;

e An approval system for replacement of car parts
is strictly enforced. Serviceable car parts should
remain in use;

o Fuel storage equipment is regularly reviewed to
ensure that it is in good condition. Fuel refills are
duly recorded,;

e To reduce carbon emission, diesel exhaust fluid
and low-carbon fuels (e.g. Euro V Diesel) are used;

e Employees are encouraged to turn off electronic
devices when not in use, enable the power-saving
mode for idle printers, and turn off air-conditioners
and lights after working hours.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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RIE  HERERRE

Percentage
Scope of greenhouse gas emissions®” Unit 2024 2023 change
BEREEREE By 2024 % 2023F HBHIALLL®R
Scope 1 Direct greenhouse gas emissions
HE1EZERERBER
— Greenhouse gas emissions relating  tonnes of CO,e 85.43 105.50 -19.02%
to mobile combustion sources (land,
air, and water transport)
— MBRERERE REHEW WE—SULIRE 8
(e L fnz=RKLES)
Scope 2 Indirect greenhouse gas
emissions
HE2EZERERBE K
— Purchased electricity tonnes of COe 474.47 388.79 +22.04%
— BEE WE—SULIRE 2
Scope 3 Other indirect greenhouse gas tonnes of COe 26.96 24.49 +10.09%
emissions
HESHMBEERAEREHENK | iRE S
— Waste paper disposed in landfills tonnes of CO,e 17.35 13.64 +27.20%
— EEIMERNER WE— SUbIRE 2
— Greenhouse gas emissions arising  tonnes of COe 9.61 9.91 -3.03%
from the use of electricity by
government departments to treat
freshwater and sewage
— BEMBAERENRERKKEGK BE_StREE
Fral B H R = R E B
— Business travels by airplane (ot 2 tonnes of COe = 0.94 -100.00%
— BEERALRE LI B Wi WE—SULIRE 8
Total greenhouse gas emissions tonnes of COe 586.86 518.78 +13.12%
BEZEREHEHK WE— | LiRE 8
Greenhouse gas emission intensity tonnes of 3.19 1.77 +80.23%
CO,e/no. of
employee
BRERRERE WE — fb ik E

g/8UEBT
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Notes:

(1)  The calculation method used in the emissions report
above is based on the “How to prepare an ESG Report
— Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.

(2) During the ESG Reporting Period, there was a decrease
in business travel. As such, there was a significant
decrease in related greenhouse gas emissions.

The Group believes that our continuous efforts to
reduce resource consumption will help lower the
levels of greenhouse gas emissions and achieve better
progress in ESG management. The Group’s greenhouse
gas emissions mainly resulted from purchased
electricity under scope 2 indirect emissions. The Group
has also actively disclosed data in relation to scope 3
other indirect greenhouse gas emissions in order to
provide a more comprehensive and high quality ESG
Report and allow investors and stakeholders to have a
better understanding of the Group’s ESG performance.
Given that most of our greenhouse gas emissions
resulted from energy consumption, the Group highly
emphasises improving energy efficiency and reducing
energy consumption. We will continue to monitor the
potential impacts of energy-related emissions and
production activities on the environment, seek to
minimise energy consumption, improve efficiency, and
reduce or maintain a stable level of emissions in future.
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RIE  HERERRE

A1.83 HAZARDOUS WASTE

The Group is committed to reducing waste from
its source and adopting recycling practices. The
Group is also committed to avoiding producing
unnecessary waste during the operation of its real

AL3BEZEEEY

S B EBIRERENBEIR
BRARRBRLERY HEEE
WERREY SEHNESB
TRTHBRELE TV EHNE

estate development business, through the adoption of o M RPN EEEEY
different measures. At present, our hazardous waste FERBRLER BEFRE
mainly consists of cleaning chemicals, electronic KEM o
appliances, and batteries.

Percentage
Hazardous waste (o 7 Unit 2024 2023 change
BEEBRRYEY B 2024 2023 HBHIHLHLR
Total amount of hazardous waste ot 2 tonnes 0.81 0.94 -13.83%
EEBEEYBEWR U7
Hazardous waste intensity tonnes/employee 0.004 0.003 +33.33%
BEERREYNEE We G ET
Notes: Vo

(1)

Although hazardous waste only accounts for a small
portion of the Group’s total waste volume, all hazardous
waste is handled in a stringent manner by the Group.
We adopt all necessary prevention measures in
accordance with the Law on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste” to ensure the
safety of our staff and the environment. The calculation
method used in the waste report above is based on
the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published
by the Stock Exchange.

During the ESG Reporting Period, the Group continued
to adopt various measures to raise employees’
awareness of hazardous waste reduction and to
continuously implement them into specific operational
and work processes. At the same time, due to the
reduced demand for the use of cleaning chemicals, the
total amount of hazardous waste reduced by 13.83% in
2024.

(1)

BABEEREVREEEE
mBEN NS KEDEK
REEAEEY I8 RE
BB REY) )5 RIRFE B AE) A K
B— 2o D G E
REIMRRELZ 2 - LB
EMREMEBOTERE
EL 0 e B 22 P B 3k e n ] 2
BRE HERELARS —
e —  IRIGBARERIERE
WIS -

REBEESGHRE B AT
BB IRER RS TY
EEBEEYRENEHLD
BEMIABNELURE
BRI Em: B R IR 7 8 5
B2 mmEREFIORE
H F£20245F J#, 2 713.83% &Y
EEEEYRE -
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To gradually enhance the quality and
comprehensiveness of the ESG Report, the Group
urges its staff to collect environmental data to
effectively manage and formulate environmental
protection measures. The Group will continue
to assess, record and disclose data relating to
greenhouse gas emissions and other information on
an annual basis to further develop emission reduction
targets in the future. We will continue to monitor the
potential impacts of hazardous waste production
and production activities on the environment, seek to
minimise unnecessary consumption, improve efficiency,
and reduce or maintain a stable level of waste
production in future.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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RIE  HERERRE

A1.4 NON-HAZARDOUS WASTE Al4 EEEZEY

In respect of the construction works, the Group
adopted a variety of environmental protection
measures, for example, in the stage of planning and
construction in real estate development, the Group
tried to reduce land excavation and mountain damage
through careful planning and design. In addition, waste
paper collection bins are placed in our office area in
the hope that our staff will work together to dispose of
waste paper, magazines, books, newspapers and other
paper products used in our operations for centralized
collection and selling, with the income offsetting the
relevant costs. The Group engages relevant recyclers
to recycle toner cartridges of our printers when they
run out of ink. To reduce paper usage, we actively
encourage our staff to adopt two-sided printing and
reuse single-sided print-outs for non-legal and general
business documents.

At present, the Group’s non-hazardous waste mainly
consists of kitchen waste and general office waste.

The total amount of non-hazardous waste recycled and
processed during the year is recorded as follows:

SEERITEXRATERR
RYEHE - Bl a0 fE P i B B 3 EY
REMERERY SEAEB
BREIRFABRRL L FE -
RBF - 723 1R AR 37 BE 4R @ W
M ANFEETMBERES
ETABMANEERE M
o ERE BEAMEMARS
STPBELE  WATRIEH
ER - PHENIRNZERD
REER AEETEZFEHE
(Bl Y 75 17 B 4 o T AR R A
ERER BEZBEITEE
SIEN - W RAREEEERAMAE
B E w5 BN e 45K 51 EN 3BV &
REBRARXM -

ERASBENEEERZNEIE

RESRN—BRBAEEY -

REZ R INE D U R IR &
EERYTEREENEIERLT

Percentage

Non-hazardous waste Unit 2024 2023 change
BEBEZEY By 20244 2023F HALHLR
Total amount of non-hazardous waste 7.2 tonnes 2.18 .58 -38.24%
BEBEEYREW2) A
Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/ 0.01 0.01 =

employee
BEERZEYER Wa,

BuBT
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Notes:

(1)  The calculation method used in the waste report above
is based on the “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
published by the Stock Exchange.

(2) The decrease in the Group’s non-hazardous waste
emissions in 2024 as compared to that in 2023 was
mainly due to the decrease in general office waste.

The Group will continue to adhere to the policy of
energy conservation and emission reduction, reduce
paper consumption in an appropriate and proper way
and encourage employees to use electronic equipment
to record information and cut back on unnecessary
printing, for we aim to further reduce general office
waste. Moreover, the Group encourages its employees
to reduce food waste by buying the amount of food
they actually need during meal times, and checking
their refrigerator regularly to prevent overstorage, which
may lead to food spoilage and wastage.

The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws
relating to waste disposal, including the requirements
under the “Standard for Pollution Control on Hazardous
Waste Incineration of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Standard for Pollution Control on Hazardous
Waste Storage of the People’s Republic of China”,
and the “Standard for Pollution Control on Hazardous
Waste Landfill of the People’s Republic of China”.
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A2 USE OF RESOURCES A2 BEREH

A2.1Direct and indirect energy consumption A2.1 B 1 % B8] 2 BE R H FE

To reduce paper usage, the Group has formulated the
“Administrative Measures for Energy Conservation and
Consumption Reduction” to encourage its employees
to adopt two-sided printing and reuse single-sided
print-outs for non-legal and general business
documents. As required, the use of office paper is put
under strict control. In terms of business engagements,
the Company mostly uses telephone communication
to reduce the demand for using vehicles, upholds the
mindset of “saving being a glory, waste being a shame”,
and actively implements the energy conservation
strategy of the Group.

In addition, the Group attaches great importance
to cultivating employees’ awareness of energy
conservation and calls on its employees in various
departments to jointly resist the waste of energy.
The Group requires each employee to switch off
computers, lights and other office equipment at the
end of each working day. When the natural temperature
is appropriate, the air conditioners should not be
used. When the outdoor temperature in summer is
higher than 30° C, the air conditioners can be turned
on. The air conditioners should be set at above 26° C
and adjusted to low wind, and the indoor temperature
should be maintained at 25 to 26° C. In winter, when
the outdoor temperature is lower than 8° C, the air
conditioners can be turned on and set at about 20° C.
The room temperature should be maintained at 18 to
20° C. When the air conditioners are not in use, they
should not be left in the standby state, and security
guards should be sent to take a patrol after office
hours on a daily basis to check and confirm that all the
lights and other unnecessary power-consuming devices
on each floor have been switched off. At the same
time, compact fluorescent lamps and safety lamps
should be used. The use of electric stoves, portable
immersion heaters and non-energy saving appliances
with high power consumption is strictly prohibited. On
the other hand, the Group also promotes the use of
energy-saving, efficient, and environmentally-friendly
construction equipment and electrical appliances
recommended by national and industrial authorities
to improve our energy efficiency. The Group therefore
actively monitors and manages our use of resources to
reduce our operating costs and carbon footprint.
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During the year, the Group included various types of
energy consumption by its core projects of the real
estate business into the assessment and collected
data by region and development projects. The data on
energy consumption by the Group during the year is
set forth as follows:

SERAFEARMEXBT
Z 1200 T8 B B & HH B2 TR OB FE
ARt St E R ERIAR
ETHBRERE -SEHAFES
BRERBROEENT:

Percentage
Use of energy (o) Unit 2024 2023 change
BE R B B2 A (an B 2024 2023F HBILLLR
Non-renewable fuels (direct) MWh 316.89 384.40 -17.56%
FABERB(E#E) JK FL B
Purchased energy (indirect) — Electricity MWh 764.66 681.73 +12.16%
BERREEZE -8 JK B B
Total energy consumption (e 2 MWh 1,081.55 1,066.13 +1.45%
4B e FE (122 JK BB
Energy consumption intensity MWh/employee 5.88 3.64 +61.54%
EREERE KER SHET
Notes: B 5t -

(1) The calculation method used in the energy consumption
report above is based on the “How to prepare an
ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.

(2) In 2024, the Group’s total energy consumption remained
stable. The use of non-renewable fuels decreased
compared to 2023, mainly due to reduced vehicle use
by employees. Changes in electricity consumption were
primarily driven by operational demand.
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The Group will continue to monitor its employees’
energy saving in an effort to reduce energy
consumption, achieve energy conservation and
emission reduction and create a green corporate.
We will seek to minimise unnecessary consumption,
improve efficiency, and reduce or maintain a stable
level of energy consumption in future.

A2.2USE OF WATER RESOURCES

The Group is committed to raising the awareness
of its employees on water-saving, to reduce water
consumption. Measures adopted by the Group include:

o Putting up posters in our offices to remind
employees not to consume unnecessary
resources;

° Turning off taps that are not in use;

o Requiring our project department to carry out
general inspections of water delivery pipes to
check for leakages, to prevent water wastage;

e  Using water efficient products;

o Recycling and reusing water resources;

° Water meters are installed in our offices, common
areas, and construction sites, with registration
and monthly analysis carried out by a responsible
officer based on the water consumption records of
each department.
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All freshwater and flushing water used by the Group S EF BB KA KT E
are provided by municipal water supply authorities ARk - YaEERUMEBR
with authorised licenses/permits. The Group faced no AR T BRI M - 3
issues when purchasing suitable water. RERGEBHEBEEaAKLES
FEE -
Percentage
Water consumption Unit 2024 2023 change
RS B f 20244 2023F HBHIHLHLR
Total water consumption (ot 7) m3 15,488.00 15,974.43 -3.05%
FEoKg gy AVAD /N
Water consumption intensity m3/employee 84.17 54.52 +54.38%
FEKEE NHK/BUNEBT
Note: Vol
(1) The calculation method used in the water consumption (1) LaikEBEBRERBOFEBRSATE
report above is based on the “How to prepare an ANt E A EZE RN BB
ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on RO EFBIEE €
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange. REBRE — Kitg—: BB

RS A IR IR E IR DI ©

The Group will continue to assess and record its NEFRBEESTEHLLDHEER
water consumption and compare it with the data from KE W HBEEFOHIEE
the previous year, to achieve our water consumption THE 8 - LA#ERE R KA B 7K B
goals in the future. During the ESG Reporting Period, 1Fe RESGREHR  AEH
the Group did not identify any issues relating to the REBIMEBRELRZET
improper use of water in its business operations. EFERAKEAME -
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A2.3Packaging Materials

The Group’s daily business operations did not involve
the use of packaging materials.

ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

In order to respond positively to the national strategic
policy which requires speed-up of construction of
conservation-oriented society and implement the
Company’s administrative measures for energy
conservation, make the Company become an efficient,
conserving and energy-saving example, and regulate
the specific management of energy conservation and
consumption reduction of construction enterprises, the
Group actively promotes environment-friendly concept and
instills it in every stage of the entire construction project, i.e.
planning, design, construction and sale, striving to integrate
the concepts of green and environmental protection into the
architectural style of the Group. The Group also cooperates
with the outstanding design institutes to integrate the
architectural design with the surrounding natural conditions,
and strives to create a comfortable living space and provide
ecological green homes for customers.

The Group complies with the national and local
environmental protection laws and various types of
environmental protection laws and regulations promulgated
by the PRC as it carries out its project development,
including but not limited to the “Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”, and the
“Solid Waste Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”. In the stage of planning and construction
in real estate development, the Group proactively
communicates with contractors and advocates green
construction work and strives to save resources and reduce
the impact of construction work on the environment through
scientific management and technological advancement.
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A4 CLIMATE CHANGE

With people and businesses all over the world being
increasingly concerned about the impact brought about by
climate change, sustainable environmental protection has
become a strategic focus in the real estate industry. The
Group has been paying close attention to the risks posed by
climate change, which will enable us to undergo a smooth
transition to a low-carbon economy and achieve prosperous
growth.

Physical risks

Physical risks refer to risks related to physical impacts of climate
change on the Company, which include acute physical risks
driven by specific events, especially weather-related events
such as storms, floods, fires or heat waves. Such events may
cause damage to construction works, affect material supplies
and result in a series of negative impacts. Physical risks also
refer to chronic physical risks arising from long-term shifts in
climate patterns, such as temperature changes, rising sea levels,
reduced water availability, loss of biodiversity, and changes in
land and soil productivity. The Group has developed a “Climate
Change Policy” that covers various events relating to the weather
to reduce acute physical risks.

Transition risks

Transition risks refer to risks arising from the Group’s transition
to a low-carbon and climate resilient economy, which include:
(1) existing business models and production technologies
involving high carbon emissions will face elimination and
enterprises will have to increase efforts in exploratory innovation,
thereby increasing the risk of increase in costs; (2) low carbon
transformation will lead to an overall change in business model
and enterprises may have to risk making changes to products
and pricing.
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Policy and legal risks

Despite the impacts of policy changes on the business
environment, the Group’s flexible business model allows it to
adapt to any changes in policies related to climate change. The
Group is committed to maintaining high environmental standards
to meet relevant requirements in its operations and will continue
to invest human and financial resources in environmental
protection efforts as required under applicable laws and
regulations to reduce carbon footprint. Laws and regulations that
we comply with include but are not limited to the “Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“‘Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”, and the “Solid
Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”. During the Year, the Group complied with the
relevant environmental protection laws and regulations in relation
to exhaust gas and greenhouses gas emissions, water and land
discharge, and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste. The Group did not violate any environmental protection
laws or regulations of the region where we operate, nor was it
subject to significant fines, non-monetary penalties and litigation
relating to environmental protection.

Technology risks

The Group has always been committed to improving our
construction technology. We will consider to continue our
investment, research and development in this area, with an
aim to reduce the environmental pollution caused by property
development.

Market risks

The real estate markets in the cities in which we have operations
or plan to expand our operations are competitive. Our existing
and potential competitors include both major national and
regional property developers with expansive operations in
the cities or markets in which we operate as well as local
property developers. The Group is committed to reducing the
environmental impact of our operations and will seek to further
enhance our market presence in these cities.
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Reputational risks

In response to the public’s views on climate change, the Group
has integrated environmental protection measures in our
business operations. The Group will closely monitor the carbon
footprint of our operations, and further explore other ways to
reduce our impact on the environment.

SOCIETY
B1 EMPLOYMENT

The Group always believe that our employees are
important assets of the Group. The Group adheres to the
people-oriented philosophy and guarantees employees’
rights and benefits. By creating a pleasant and healthy work
environment, improving the salary and welfare systems,
and increasing the training opportunities, we encourage
employees to actively carry out career planning, motivate
employees’ enthusiasm for work, and enhance employees’
sense of belonging. The Group has developed a code
of conduct under its employee handbook that helps to
communicate the expectations of the management team
and employees on compensation and welfare, training
and development, and occupational health, in order to
provide protection against unfair or unequal treatment and
discrimination at work.

Policies on Employees’ Compensation and Benefits

In order to attract and retain talents, the Group takes the
characteristics and needs of the posts and positions into
full account when it is hiring people, forbidding gender
discrimination and promoting gender equality. In addition,
for the protection and welfare of its employees, the Group
tries its best to provide them with good protection and care,
including competitive remuneration, equal and fair pay, a
comfortable and safe work environment, and annual free
body examination etc.
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We provide social insurances for employees such as
pension, medical care, unemployment and maternity
insurance according to national and local provisions.
We also contribute to the housing provident fund for our
employees. Employees’ health and safety are always our
first priority. All workers are required to comply with safety
instructions and receive safety training on the use of
equipment. We also maintain insurance coverage against
personal injuries and accidents for employees in special
positions.

The Group provides heating and cooling subsidies in
the winter and summer, respectively. We also provide
allowances for transportation, communication, cleaning,
missed meals, and hardship for all employees. Special
allowances, such as relocation allowance and rental
subsidy, will be provided to our relocating staff.

We provide benefits for working mothers in accordance
with national regulations, such as paid maternity leave
and breastfeeding leave during our female employees’
pregnancy, childbirth, and breastfeeding periods.

We take the realisation of “internal equity” and “external
competitiveness” as our fundamental principle. The Group
establishes and improves its remuneration system through
“three matchings”, which refer to that the remuneration
matches the value of the position, the remuneration matches
the ability, and the remuneration matches the performance.

The remuneration of an individual will be determined
with reference to the employee’s personal qualifications,
education background, length of service in relevant
professional fields, actual years of experience and
professional qualification. The salary scale is assessed
according to the employee’s position, responsibility and
obligation, value and experience.
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The Group will conduct a fair and open performance
appraisal for all employees through assessment on the
results of relevant companies and job performance.
Appraisees prepare and summarise the completion of
monthly priorities and record in the form of “Completion
of Monthly Working Plan”, which will be signed by the
appraisers for confirmation. It is an important evidence
for appraisers when making appraisals for appraisees in
respect to the completion of their priorities at the end of
year.

Salaries of employees are paid on an annual or monthly
basis, both of which are composed of fixed salary and
performance bonus. The fixed salary is determined mainly
based on the assessment result of the value of employees’
positions, and the performance bonus is determined
mainly with reference to the appraisal results. The salary
of employees being paid on an annual basis comprises
of monthly payment part and year-end payment part. The
specific payment method is implemented according to the
terms agreed by both parties in the acceptance letter.

Equal Opportunity

A good working environment should be free of discrimination
and should provide equal opportunities for all employees
regardless of their age, gender, ethnicity, skin color,
sexual orientation, disability, or marital status. The Group
adhered to the principle of openness, justice and fairness
in recruitment and a unified principle without discrimination
in employment standards and selection procedures. The
Group takes the characteristics of the posts and positions
into full account when hiring people and fights against
gender discrimination. Those who have made significant
contributions in daily work would be rewarded based on the
reward & punishment measures for employees. During our
annual hiring process, we will give priority to outstanding
employees to receive promotion or training opportunities.
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Employee Diversity

The Group cares about the diversity of its employees
and constantly expands its recruitment channels (social
recruitment, headhunting, internal and external referrals,
etc.), aiming to maintain the diversity of its employee
structure in such aspects as employee education, working
background and specialties. The Group analyses the
diversity of its current employee structure on a regular basis
to provide guidance for the follow-up recruitment.

Anti-discrimination and Anti-harassment

The Group’s labour and employment procedures are strictly
aligned with national policies, requirements and standards
on anti-discrimination and no discrimination against
religion, ethnicity, race and gender is found in policies for
recruitment and daily employment procedures. The Group
also strictly adhered to and observed related institutional
norms and ensured the execution was in place in various
ways including regular reviews, random checks, feedback,
notification, rectification and self-inspection in each
subsidiary in daily work.

The Group has also set clear regulations to severely punish
different kinds of discrimination and harassment behaviours
in violation of the regulations and encouraged employees
to report behaviours that were against the regulations
or incidents harmful to the Group’s interests. Employees
may report related behaviours through various channels
at any time. As phone numbers and emails of the Group’s
management and head of each department were open to
employees, employees may report anonymously or in their
real names at any time. Human resource and administrative
personnel would collect employee opinions and suggestions
in such ways as making questionnaire among all employees
and doing individual interviews to gather related information
from our employees. During this reporting year, the Group
has not received any report on discrimination or harassment
incidents. The Group would strictly deal with such reports in
accordance with the laws and regulations once any reports
were submitted.
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RIR - HERERHE

B1.1 Employment Highlights

As of the end of 2024, the total number of employees
at selected subsidiaries was 184, and all of them were

B1.1 E1E 5 X

HE0UFKR EFENHELQ
FIET @B A184A  TIALE

engaged with labour contracts. All employees worked SR AFAXNER EITHESF
in Mainland China. A b TAE o
Percentage
Unit 2024 2023 change
B 2024 2023F HBILLL®
Total number of employees "o 7 No. of people 184 293 -37.20%
#E T A B W A
Total number of employees by gender
RERESHEIHAY
Male No. of people 98 180 -45.56%
e A
Female No. of people 86 113 -23.89%
=z A
Male-to-female ratio of employees o2 No. of people 114 1.59 -28.30%
BHETI AEthHl@wa A
Total number of employees by age group
RERBREAINETIEH
Aged<30 No. of people 10 29 -65.52%
FETEB0BRIAT A
Aged 30-50 No. of people 165 222 -25.68%
F B 30-505% A
Aged>50 No. of people 9 42 -78.57%
F e B 1850 A
Notes: B i -

(1)

The calculation method used in the above report
regarding the total number of employees is based on
the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3:
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by the
Stock Exchange.

To ensure employee diversity, the Group placed strong
emphasis on gender balance and diversity during
recruitment. Although the current male-to-female ratio
of employees has declined, the Company remains
committed to attracting talents from diverse educational
backgrounds and geographical locations, and
possessing diverse professional skills and experiences,
in order to promote the overall diversification of its
workforce.
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B1.2Employee Turnover Rate

As of the end of 2024, the turnover rate of the Group
was 18.03%. The tables below set out the employee
turnover rate by gender and age group.

Employee turnover rate o 7 Unit
BB R kEwWz) By

- HERERRE

Bl1.21EE 4 F

HE20UFE  EEMRAE
£18.03% - L T AREEE KR
BORFRES D THEER
KR o

Percentage

2024 2023 change
2024 2023F HHLEHL®E

Employee turnover rate by gender
REBESTHNEERELE

Male %
e

Female %
28

Employee turnover rate by age group
RERBEINEEREE

Aged<30 %
FERTES0BRIAT

Aged 30-50 %
F B 30-507%

Aged>50 %
F i B 1B50

Note:

(1)  The calculation method used in the above report
regarding employee turnover rate is based on the “How
to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3: Reporting
Guidance on Social KPIs” published by the Stock
Exchange.

Given the high mobility of the Group’s frontline sales
and engineering staff, the turnover rate was relatively
high. In the future, the Group will continue to recruit
talents from all walks of life to join us, strive to promote
gender equality in the workplace, and employ people
on a merit basis.

22.30% 13.89% +60.55%

12.06% 19.47% -38.06%

76.92% 51.72% +48.72%

12.92% 12.61% +2.46%

11.76% 9.52% +23.53%
Byt

() LESRIEREMKA
B 8 BT 7 0% & 5 B B R P B
KA ERBRE  HER
ERmE - MB=-118H
REBIBIRERES) -

HREBFREHEABERIRE
AEREME K - b w K=
MEEES - BE  £SEHRA
SREERS RALEETRE
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B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group provides our employees a comfortable and safe
work environment with well-equipped office hardware. The
office building is spacious and clean with abundant ancillary
resources including meeting rooms, resting areas and
etc. The Group carries out fire drills regularly and always
reminds our employees of paying attention to public safety.

Occupational Health and Safety Protection

In respect of employee health and medical protection, the
Group provides free health checkup services each year
for employees, and also provides social insurance for
employees, among which includes relevant insurances for
major diseases, accidents, work-related injuries, outpatient
and inpatient medical care.

The Group has been complying with all laws and regulations
relating to health and safety, including but not limited to
the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the
“Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China”.
The Group also has specific safety requirement documents,
with the established goal of “having zero work injuries
throughout the year”. It conducts safety inspections on site
each year to ensure the health and safety of employees at
the workplace. At the same time, the Company organized
safety training sessions, where we covered the following
five topics: safety culture, risk incidents, everyday safety,
construction safety, and safety production in the summer,
with a view to enhance the safety awareness and the
safety operation skills of our staff, to prevent incidents from
happening.

During the past three reporting years, the Group did not
have any work-related fatalities nor work days lost due to
work-related injuries.
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B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING B3 #ERZ

The Group highly emphasises employees’ professional skill
improvement, training and learning and encourages our staff
to improve and upgrade their skills through training, so that
they can fully utilise their specialty and potentials at different
positions. The Group encourages individuals to combine
their own specialty and hobbies with the Group’s business
development and proactively strive for opportunities. In
addition, the Group also encourages employees to take
internal job rotation and develop across functions. The
Group has already set up a mature training and learning
system including hierarchical and classified training and
learning maps, matched with all sorts of training projects.
The Group also has diversified resources and patterns to
support employees’ training and learning, such as online
learning platform, internal training, external training and so
on.

The Group ensures the pertinence and practicability
when designing training plans. Every year the Group
combines with the need of business development and
sets up corresponding learning projects according to
different business sections, specialties, titles and levels,
job categories so as to make sure employees of various
positions can obtain corresponding training and learning
opportunities and resources according to their job types.
Every year the Group formulates annual training plans
according to the need of businesses and employees and
regularly reviews the plans to make proper adjustments in
order to ensure learning arrangements conform to the need
of business and employee development.

SEERETHNBERERTME
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In its annual training programme, not only does the Group
develop internal and external learning plans specifically
tailored to its middle and senior management members
based on their current situation and business challenges,
but also pays special attention to improving the professional
capabilities of the engineering and finance departments,
ensuring that employees in all departments are provided
with rich learning resources and development opportunities.
The Group’s training plans, notifications about specific
training programmes, and post-training reports are
communicated to employees in a timely manner through a
variety of channels.

Through a series of training programmes and assessment
enhancements, the Group comprehensively improved its
engineering quality and safety management standards,
while also strengthening the professional capabilities of
its engineering personnel. These efforts aimed to ensure
the delivery of high-quality projects, as well as enhancing
their stability and durability. The specific training sessions
included: (i) quality and safety in underground construction:
improving the quality and safety standards in underground
construction; (ii) training on structural detailing measures
for structural nodes in cast-in-place beam-slab systems:
enhancing the understanding and practical application
of structural detailing measures for structural nodes in
cast-in-place beam-slab systems; (iii) key considerations in
electrical and plumbing systems, and embedded pipeline
works: improving construction quality for electrical and
plumbing systems, as well as embedded pipeline works.
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In addition, the Group also organised a series of
safety-related training programmes, including “Special
Briefing and Training on Mast Climber Work Platforms”,
“Safety Production Month — Live Broadcast on Large
Machinery Safety”, and “Dual Focus on Quality and Safety
— Establishing a ‘Safety Net’ for Underground Works”.
These training programmes not only enhanced the safety
awareness of engineering personnel, but also provided
strong support for the efficient execution of construction
projects, enabling the Group to establish a benchmark in
the field of safety management. Through regular process
assessments and training, the Group can comprehensively
review its construction experiences and identify areas for
improvement. This provides clear directions for optimisation
in future projects, enabling project teams to accurately
resolve key challenges during construction. The Group
believes that these training and assessment measures will
significantly enhance the professional capabilities and safety
awareness of its engineering personnel, thereby laying a
solid foundation for the delivery of high-quality construction
works.

Moreover, in order to enhance the professional capabilities
of its finance personnel and improve operational efficiency,
the Group conducted a series of training programmes
across various areas. These training programmes primarily
aimed at helping employees gain a deeper understanding of
core financial management principles, stay informed of the
latest tax regulations and policy requirements, and ensure
the Group’s financial compliance and operational efficiency.
The specific training programmes included: (i) financial
accounting: deepening understanding of core financial
management principles; (i) tax policies: staying informed
of the latest tax regulations and policy requirements; (iii)
invoice management and tax filing: learning about invoice
management and tax filing procedures, to optimise the
accuracy and compliance of taxation work; (iv) cost
accounting: gaining comprehensive knowledge of cost
analysis and control methods, to build a solid foundation
for optimising resource allocation and maximising cost
efficiency.
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The Group firmly believes that fostering team collaboration
is the key to operational success. By enhancing
communication and cooperation among employees
through relevant training, overall work efficiency will be
improved. These training not only enhanced the overall
qualities of employees, but also injected new momentum
into the Group’s sustainable development, demonstrated
the Group’s win-win strategy in both talent cultivation
and corporate growth, and further solidified its leading
position within the industry. The Group believes that these
high-standard, high-investment, and high-efficiency training
programmes enable it to enhance its overall competitiveness
and sustainable development capabilities through
unwavering efforts in talent cultivation and management
optimisation. We will continue to maintain a humble and
pragmatic approach, consistently learning and improving,
and striving to excel in every aspect to create greater value
for our customers, employees, and society.
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The table below sets out the percentage of trained
employees of the Group by employment category and

UTREBRESGREREANX
=8l B TN Breh b I 4% B AR S 1 R

gender during the ESG Reporting Period: glo:

Percentage
Training and development statistics Mot 7 Unit 2024 2023 change
TR B R B g B 2024 F 2023F BHALEER
Percentage of trained employees by gender
RERESHEIEETS L
Male % 53.26% 54.41% -2.11%
3
Female % 46.74% 45.59% +2.52%
z
Percentage of trained employees by employment

category

REBENESNZIREETS L
Senior management % 3.26% 2.45% +33.06%
SREEANE
Junior and middle management % 5.98% 17.16% -65.15%
MBERAREERANE
General staff % 90.76% 80.39% +12.90%
TimEE
Note: B i -

(1)  The calculation method used in the above report regarding
the percentage of trained employees is based on the “How to
prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance
on Social KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.

(1) LdZIEELMBEMEMBE
et 73 R 2 T i B XX BT 3 SR 0K

CEEE R
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RIR - HERERHE

The table below sets out the average number of training
hours of the Group’s staff by employment category and
gender during the ESG Reporting Period:

Training and development statistics Mo 7 Unit
5% 31 % B R BB Gl

ATREBNRESGHREHEANE
TE¥IFIFBMLCE  HBRER

MERIE 5
Percentage
2024 2023 changefe?
Ao

20244 20234 bt & w2

Average training hours per employee by gender

EMRE D BSEEETHBINFIEEH

Male hour
ES /)N BF
Female hour
Z N

Average training hours per employee by
employment category

RZERERNE S SAEETHBINFHIEH

Senior management hour
SRERANE AN:=
Junior and middle management hour
MBERABREERANE NS
General staff hour
il as] N
Notes:

(1)  The calculation method used in the above report regarding
the average number of training hours of employees is
based on the “How to prepare an ESG Report-Appendix 3:
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by the Stock
Exchange.

(2)  Training hours increased in 2024 compared to 2023, primarily
to strengthen staff capabilities and support adaptation to
changing market demands.

Looking forward to the future, the Group will step up its
efforts in providing workplace support to employees by
actively organising training sessions to help employees
achieve career advancement and personal growth.
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9.39 2.99 +214.05%
7.16 1.22 +486.89%
11.67 0.44 +2,56562.27%
13.28 4.90 +170.00%
7.91 1.56 +407.05%
Wit
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B4 LABOUR STANDARDS B4 TR

Recruiting talents

The Group adopts internal competition for certain
positions and prioritises the deployment or selection of
suitable qualified employees inside the Group. The Group
advocates employees to participate actively pursuant to
competition conditions and procedures, and encourages
each department to support employees to participate in
internal competition without barriers. The Group would also
apply open elections, regardless of qualifications, sources
and backgrounds, all applicants must follow the Group’s
recruitment principles and pass the required inspections
from all aspects and our Group only recruits qualified
applicant. The Group takes the Company’s culture and
value as the basic recruitment criteria, and mainly focuses
on the adaptability and also takes into consideration the
future development potential.

The labour policies and standards of the Group strictly
conform to the “Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic
of China”, and other applicable labour laws and regulations.
Related labour environment, employment duration, working
time, rest and vacation and other rules all complied with
laws and regulations. Meanwhile, the Group clarified in
labour contracts and also kept employees informed about
labour protection, labour conditions and occupational
hazard protection. The Group also complied with the
requirements of national and local regulations and policies
in aspects of labour handling procedures, procedure
completeness and procedures thereof. The Group will
closely monitor the latest status of related governmental
laws and regulations and make corresponding adjustment
and update about its internal systems and procedures.
At the beginning of every year, the Group also conducts
analysis and evaluation on current systems and policies and
makes optimization and adjustment accordingly.
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Measures for Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour

The Group has a zero-tolerance approach against child
labor and forced labor during our hiring process. To prevent
the use of child labour and forced labour, the Group ensures
that applicants have the right to interview and apply for a job
voluntarily. Meanwhile, it sets up a strict approval procedure
for labour employment. Before employment, all sorts of
credentials, files and information should be complete and
shall undergo strict inspection. Employment should also get
approval from all levels of management so as to effectively
avoid child labour or other nonstandard labour employment.
The Group also complies with equal and voluntary labour
employment. When signing contracts or agreements with
employees, the Group will completely and accurately convey
necessary statutory information such as labour working
location, time, salary and so on. Both parties sign labour
contract or agreement under the voluntary principle in order
to avoid forced labour.
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B5 SUPPLY-CHAIN MANAGEMENT B5 (REHEE

The Group has in place a well-established supplier
management system, including a clear division of
supervisory function, supplier assessment and approval,
supplier selection and performance evaluation, and
supervise the supply-chain management from various
aspects. When selecting suppliers, the Group would inspect
their contract performance, honesty, and legal compliance,
meanwhile incorporate proper appraisal so as to make a
comprehensive evaluation. Through contractual agreements,
the Group required that all the suppliers must comply with
national and local environmental laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the “Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”, and the
“Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China”. The Group properly evaluated
our suppliers to make sure that they complied with all the
environmental and social requirements and fulfilled their
environmental and social responsibilities. During the ESG
Reporting Period, the total number of suppliers engaged
by selected subsidiaries was 77 (2023: 101 partnered
suppliers), all of which were suppliers from Mainland China.
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B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Product Quality Management

The Group highly emphasises product quality management
and establishes a strict product quality management system
within the Group. Every quarter, the Group carries out an
inspection with partnered vendors to make sure the quality
of all products met standards. The Group also attaches
great importance to provisions of the laws and regulations
applicable to our products, including the “Construction Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, and continuously pays
close attention to and complies with them. The construction
materials that our Group uses are of high quality, which
satisfy the relevant requirements in terms of construction
and environmental protection on one hand, and promote
environmental-friendly and power-saving construction on the
other hand.

The Group also has a complete repair and maintenance
mechanism. Once product defects are found, the Group
would be responsible for repair at its own costs, and
would arrange delivery only upon the completion of repair
works. If customers suffer a loss due to quality defects,
or if there are still quality problems that seriously affect
the normal residential use of the customer after various
repeated repairs, the Group would definitely follow up
carefully and pay compensation or arrange the return of the
house if appropriate. On the other hand, the Group also
has post-disaster response measures, upon encountering
natural disasters such as typhoons, earthquakes and
fires, the Group will conduct comprehensive inspection
towards buildings and public facilities, including aluminum
doors and windows, entry doors, railings, curtain walls,
public decoration, various water & electricity systems
and equipment, etc., as well as carrying out repair or
reinforcement works according to the damage level. During
the ESG Reporting Period, no property was subject to
repossession after undergoing the building inspection
process, and no complaint were received.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERRE

B6 EmEF

EREEEHE
SEFEFERERLEE BRI
REBREMNEEEERRE IR E

FEETE=TEEREARERA
EERNEENAGRE - KRBT
FEGRERERBERZIRERD
RE BRE(PEARAMBZE S
E)Y URHEBINREST - SB[
FREEREMNEEDH BT E
BERRRTEMERER T
BAREEREIREE -

SETRETENBERESNE
—BERBRERLCERE SEER
BEERAREEEER BETK
BBHBZEXN - HERNEERRR
BEPEREBLR RELZREER
NEEBREFEEPLEREERER
MEEME SEELFARE:
EHEUHEEGENBEATTABERR
HERE -Z—THE SEITAEXR
EHER E8IRE HE X
KEBRKER SHEHERA
MEEMERLOARE  BR#EES
FE - AP Rt B oK
MUEKE  ZTRRKERGLERES
EITEERE  RFREREET
MIEME - RESGHR & B - 7
BRERFR UREEMNEMES
2o ORAB B KA e



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Safeguarding and protecting intellectual property (IP)

As one of the leading brands in the Xuchang market, we
are committed to protecting our own IP while complying
with the IP policies of other companies. The Group attaches
great importance to the safeguarding and protection of IP
rights and is in compliance with the relevant applicable laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the “Patent Law
of the People’s Republic of China”. We have implemented
a comprehensive I[P management system to protect both
internal and external IP rights. We also have a contingency
plan in place to provide guidance and solutions for the
handling of any cases in relation to IP infringement. During
the ESG Reporting Period, the Group did not record any
material infringement of IP rights.

Protection of consumer data and privacy

The Group strictly complies with the “Personal Information
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
handles personal information in a lawful, legal and honest
manner. Committed to fully complying with the privacy
policies in relation to its customers, suppliers, and other
related parties, the Group has created a safe environment
where we can store information in our internal system using
data protection measures, where information can only be
accessed by authorized staff. To prevent any accidental or
unauthorized access, modification or use of information,
the Group will not disclose personal information of its staff,
customers and suppliers, without prior permission from
relevant parties. All business operations within the Group
are required to comply with our privacy policies and adopt a
zero-tolerance approach against non-compliant behaviours.
During the ESG Reporting Period, the Group did not record
any significant breaches of consumer information and
privacy.
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B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group operates its business in accordance with high
ethical standards and adopts good practices in the industry
in respect of prevention of bribery and anti-corruption. The
Group has always been in strict compliance with local and
national laws such as the “Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China” and the “Anti-Unfair Competition Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, and other relevant
anti-corruption laws in Mainland China and other places.
The Group has in place the “Measures on Integrity and
Self-Discipline Regulation”, which provides guidelines to
employees on how to handle business transactions with
business-related entities and interest related entities.

According to the guidelines, it is strictly forbidden to provide
any form of payment, gift or offer by means of bribery
or corruption. It is not allowed to abuse the position to
encroach on the Company’s property, misappropriate public
funds, and abuse power for personal gain.

All employees and representatives of the Group are
required to operate our business and perform their duties
in accordance with the integrity requirements set out in
the “Measures on Integrity and Self-Discipline Regulation”
and in an ethical manner. However, the Group did not
organize any trainings on the “Measures on Integrity
and Self-Discipline Regulation” for its staff. The Group
understands the potential risks brought by unethical
practices to our business and has zero-tolerance to any
form of corruption (including deception, bribery, forgery,
extortion, conspiracy, misappropriation of public funds and
collusion). Any suspected criminal activities, when found,
are reported to the relevant authorities immediately. During
the year, the Group did not have any legal cases related to
corruption.
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B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT B8 #HERE

Ever Reach always keeps in mind its social responsibility as
an enterprise when growing its business. As an accountable
and proactive member of the community, the Group is fully
committed to making positive contributions to help the
underprivileged and those in need.

Ever Reach cooperates with various social organisations
and proactively contributes to community and charity work.
During the ESG Reporting Period, selected subsidiaries
donated a total of approximately RMB390,000 to support a
range of charitable initiatives and community development
projects, including: Chinese New Year visits, educational
assistance programmes, donations on “99 Public
Welfare Day”, support for special education schools, and
contributions to the Heshanggiao Town Rural Revitalisation
Project in Henan.

Meanwhile, the Group has been actively involved in
educational philanthropy, organising student aid activities
for many consecutive years. Ever Reach firmly believes
that donating to education is a philanthropic endeavour
that benefits both the present and future generations.
In the future, the Group will continue to give back to the
society with a positive attitude and fulfill its corporate social
responsibility.
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance
report in the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended 31
December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving good corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has devised its own code of corporate governance
based on the principles and practices as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 of
Listing Rules which are applicable to the Company.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions except the code provision B.2.2.

According to code provision B.2.2, every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Ms. Qi Chunfeng (“Ms.
Qi”), who has re-elected on 4 June 2021, should be retired from
office at annual general meeting in 2024. Ms. Qi will be subject
to retirement by rotation in next annual general meeting.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model
Code for securities transactions by employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of
the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees
the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and takes decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board of the Company currently comprises the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xiaobing (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng

Ms. Qi Chunfeng

Mr. Wang Quan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fang Cheng

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun

Mr. Wei Jian
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The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 29 to 35 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held
by Mr. Li Xiaobing and Mr. Wang Zhenfeng respectively. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive
Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and
daily management and operations generally.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
is of the view that all Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to
ensure a strong independent element on the Board, which
allows the Board effectively exercises independent judgment
to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests and to ensure that
independent views are available to the Board.
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The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that
need improvement or further development. The evaluation
process also clarifies what actions of the Company need to
be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance, for
instance, addressing individual training and development needs
of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism,
the Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The
Board Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the
Board which will collectively discuss the results and the action
plan for improvement, if appropriate.

The implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Independence Evaluation Mechanism is reviewed annually by the
Board. During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors
have completed the independence evaluation in the form of a
questionnaire individually. The Board Independence Evaluation
Report was presented to the Board and the evaluation results
were satisfactory.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of 3 years, subject to renewal after
the expiry of the then current term.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or if their number is not three of a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
taken against Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would
be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would
be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
organised training session for Directors. Such training session
covers a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties
and responsibilities, corporate governance etc. In addition,
relevant reading materials including legal and regulatory update
have been provided to the directors for their reference and
studying.

CEERRE

ARRIEREELSREEBREEA
BMEBRETMERFRA REERESN
ABFIAENEERHBEENRRRE

EENRFEEXERE

EERTHEREERINERNES -
CmMAERBETERE  LHEAKEAE
MEBRATHERSEHRLIATENR

BEHEEEREREZERICER
HERX 2ERE S E 850 B S -
NERBECEEZEHEZEBEARBETHR
LE - -URDTHELETRANEARER
RETNAAENESTBENREME -

EFER2EFENRBEIRERAEY
MEH B S OMB MR - ARAKH
EERHANEHREe REFEEBRT
MEFRHEAEIENREMNE - A2
B ERE=ZSEBHEIRE A8
FERBARAALE -

R E E2024FE12A31B IEFE » AR A
BEEEBTHEIRE SRR
MEBEEZNEIR BREREITBERL
BE GtEEARE I ARATMA
EEREMAEMEMS (BEFSBEEK
EEHRRNRIEMN)  HESELERE
B2 -

2024 Annual Report
—BoMEER

107



108

Corporate Governance Report
¥ ERRE

The record of continuous professional development relating
to director's duties and regulatory and business development
that have been received by the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to date of this report are summarized as
follows:

HE2024F12A31BILFE B0 &
EEREEHEANEE RO EHKE®
BRBEZERENZE  HEARS
HES - #hafian T -

Directors Type of Training "ot
= 3 5 38 Bl
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Li Xiaobing ANk S A A/B

Mr. Wang Zhenfeng FIRIE & & A/B

Ms. Qi Chunfeng BERZ L+ A/B

Mr. Wang Quan RS E A/B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHHTESE

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TRk AE A/B

Mr. Wei Jian Balt4 A/B

Mr. Fang Cheng FEE A A/B

Notes: B ot -

Types of Training 555 Rl

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines
and relevant publications
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and
benefits to achieve diversity on the Board. Board diversity policy
has been adopted for the purpose of ensuring that the Board
has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

The Nomination Committee of the Board has the primary
responsibility for identifying suitably qualified candidates to
become members of the Board based on various measurable
objectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural and educational background, industry and
professional experiences. All nominations and appointments of
the member of the Board will be made on merit basis taking into
account the business of the Company needs from time to time.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one member of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity
policy and the measurable objectives at least annually, and as
appropriate, to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board
in support of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

The Board are of the view that the current composition of the
Board has achieved the objectives set in the Board Diversity
Policy.
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in
the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior
management as at the date of this Annual Report:

HRIZ T

ARBERAKEZERNMERZ T
BN TREINAFHRAMAEERE
(BREZERSREERE)WMER L

Female Male

7z B

Board BExg 14% 86%
1 6

Senior Management SREERE 0% 100%
0 1

Other employees HEiEE 49% 51%
237 244

Overall workforce TREE 49% 51%
238 251

The gender ratio as at 31 December 2024 is 251:238. The
Company when hiring employees considers a number of factors
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, qualification, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and the Company will
make sure achieving gender diversity across the workforce.

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least
one of female Director and 49% (238) of female employees of the
Group and considers that the above current gender diversity is
satisfactory.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant
data can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on pages 56 to 101 of this Annual Report.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted nomination policy which sets out
the objectives, selection in criteria and nomination procedures
for identifying and recommending candidates for appointment
or re-appointment of Directors in order to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level. During the year ended 31
December 2024, no candidate was nominated for directorship.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 4 committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Legal Compliance Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fang Cheng, Mr. Lee Kwok
Lun and Mr. Wei Jian. Mr. Lee Kwok Lun is the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of
the internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
held five meetings to review the interim and annual financial
results and reports and significant issues on the financial
reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal
audit function, appointment of external auditors and relevant
scope of works and, connected transactions and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors three times
without the presence of the Executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fang Cheng, Mr. Lee Kwok
Lun and Mr. Wei Jian. Mr. Fang Cheng is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management; and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year to
consider the relevant matters regarding the remuneration policy
and the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band
are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Li Xiaobing, Executive Director, Mr. Fang Cheng and Mr. Lee
Kwok Lun, independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Li Xiaobing
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s
Directors’ nomination procedures, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience etc. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence, time
commitment and other relevant criteria necessary to complement
the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors, and
to consider the qualifications of the retiring directors standing
for election at the Annual General Meeting. The Nomination
Committee considered an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Legal Compliance Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Wang Zhenfeng, Executive Director, Mr. Fang Cheng
and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun, independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Fang Cheng is the chairman of the Legal Compliance Committee.

The principal duties of the Legal Compliance Committee
include monitoring, identifying, reviewing and assessing the
key compliance issues in relation to or arisen in the course
of the Group’s business operations such as, among other
aspects, usage of all acquired parcels of land as well as
construction process and sales arrangements regarding property
development projects; and conducting regular review on the
compliance matters identified by the committee itself, senior
management members of the Group and/or other relevant
parties.

The Legal Compliance Committee held twelve meetings
during the year to monitor, identify, review and assess the key
compliance issues related to various aspects of the Group’s
operations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The functions set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
are performed by the Audit Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines,
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this corporate governance report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each director at the Board and Board
Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company
held during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the
table below:

SREARE

EENHFETE

TEREIZEEZNE E2024F12H318
FtFEERTNARIEZEERNESEEE
CEZUMBRERREHHFELE:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/BREERY

Legal Annual

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Compliance General

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
ESpR Ezg ENZEES FHZESE REZEE %EGKZEEE RREFAE
Mr. Li Xiaobing ZNKEE 6/6 NAT & B N/AT & 3 11 NAT & -
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng ITRERE 6/6 N/ARE A N/ATNE A NALE A 12/12 =
Ms. Qi Chunfeng EERLL 6/6 NAT & N/AT i R N/AT @ B N/AT & A =
Mr. Wang Quan k2§ 6/6 NAT i@ R NAT i@ R N/AT & N/AT & -
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun FEBEE 6/6 5/5 11 1 12/12 =
Mr. Wei Jian RekA 5/6 5/5 11 N/ARNE R N/AZ i -
Mr. Fang Cheng FiEsE 6/6 5/5 11 11 12/12 -

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks that it is willing
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

[E VB & 3R K R B 42
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Rk BEARERNKERLNKEBIF
HEEMmIEREMRE -

EERRARATLERERENARA
R EAEE ARG E R M E R
RUNREEETARNAREERA
MBI -

2024 Annual Report
—E-MEFR

115



116

Corporate Governance Report

TEERHRE

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority
for implementation by key business processes and office
functions, including project management, sales and leasing,
financial reporting, human resources and information technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes and are reviewed by the Board on annual basis:

e the Board is responsible for and has general oversight of
the management and conduct of the business of the Group,
and is in charge of the overall risk control of the Group.
Any significant business decision involving material risks
are reviewed, analysed and approved at the Board level to
ensure a thorough examination of the associated risks at the
highest corporate governance body.

e the Board and senior management are in charge of overall
business operations and risk monitoring of the Group, and
are responsible for the supervision of the respective fields
of operations as well as the supervision and approval of
any material business decisions of the Group’s project
companies. Procedures and policies are established
setting out clear reporting lines and responsibilities with
a view to facilitating efficient communications among the
Board, regional headquarters and the project companies.
A standardized property development process that governs
each step of the property development activities was also
developed.

e the Audit Committee is responsible for, among others,
maintaining a satisfactory control environment and
an effective system of internal control (including any
arrangements for internal audit) and to review the Group’s
financial information, by monitoring the integrity of the
Group’s financial statements and annual report and
accounts and half-year report and to review significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them.
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the Group’s city and site selection decisions are made by
the Board. The project management department at Henan
regional headquarters is in charge of formulating feasibility
studies for development plans and investment strategies,
which takes into account and involves the participation
of other departments, including the finance department,
engineering management department and costs control
department.

for certain operational and market risks, control measures
are adopted at an operational level. For example, major
construction risks are minimised by reviewing background
information on general construction contractors before their
appointment and imposing strict contractual requirements,
while adhering to regular quality control measures overseen
by the Group and third-party construction supervision
companies.

the Company has adopted various internal policies and
procedures for individual employees in respect of different
aspects of the property development process based on
the operational needs. The Company also provides both
in-house and external training to the employees in order to
enhance their industry knowledge to manage the operational
risks.

the Company has established anti-fraud and corruption
policy and whistle blowing policy. The policies have listed
out the guideline, activities considered as fraud and
corruption and whistle blowing mechanism for internal staff.
The reporting channel is posted on the Company’s website
for external parties’ reporting. The complaints or report can
be filed through postage or email.

CEERRE

AREBOH TR BIEREHRE
EEFL - RAEERNAMNIA
BEENEALMIEPI(BEMBE
TREEHEKAZSHEFEE
B E RS RIRERBHOAITIE
BrE -

SETEERMSRRME - HM
EEEEERDIZESER - flm
B EREZEREERAZBAY
HERERETTERILEMERSN
BRARE FAEEFATHNEE
RE=ZTEZEEERAEENTE B
CERFIERAZEREIERT
[ B e

ARPIEREBLERT K LEHE
B 3R A2 B9 1 R 05 T $ (R Bl & B R
BRTIRAOABEREERF - K28
NrREEREAMEINBEZI - A
HERETENS KEMERLER

g o
PA

ARBHE T REFRRBEMREER
MBHRHK - ZFRESAMET
SIBRAERETE 5l - WARIERFF R B K
HY B B o 2R R ) o AN B 48 Uk A
BTRBRBUKEITRR - KR
ARBRRABEBTREZXEFH
R -

2024 Annual Report
—BoMEER

117



118

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

e the Company has also established the policies of financial
reporting and month end financial closing which list out the
guideline on preparing the monthly financial pack, the duties
of different departments, and the procedures of reviewing
and submission of the financial related documents. The
policies also listed out the segregation of duties of the
financial record preparation within the finance department,
reporting channel within the Group and the monthly financial
closing and monitoring procedures. The finance department
of the subsidiaries is responsible for preparing the financial
record on a day-to-day basis and perform monthly financial
closing based on the monthly financial closing checklist. The
monthly financial pack including the financial statements,
cash flow forecast and the key supporting schedule are
reviewed by the finance manager of each subsidiary before
submitting to the Group’s finance department for final
review. The Group’s finance department further reviews and
approves the financial pack received from the subsidiaries
before submission to the Executive Directors for review. The
Board would further discuss the financial performance on a
monthly basis.

The Company has engaged independent consultant to perform
the internal audit function for the Group. The independent
consultant has conducted its internal audit review activities
according to the internal audit plan during the year. The
Board, as supported by the Audit Committee, the independent
consultant as well as the management report, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the year ended 31
December 2024, and considered that such systems are effective
and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 125 to 136.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company external
auditor of the Company, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA
Limited, who are being appointed on 25 September 2024, in
respect of audit services for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024 amounted to approximately RMB2,400,000
and RMB2,400,000 respectively, and such amounts have been
included in consolidated profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2024.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Leung Kam
Fai Anthony, who is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affair. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, he has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in accordance with rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Extraordinary general meetings may be convened on requisition
of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition
should be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting should
be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Acts or the Articles of Association of the Company.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders

may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will
not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1409, Floor 14, Leighton Centre, 77 Leighton
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors/
Company Secretary)

Email: enquiry@everreachgrp.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. For this purpose, the Company has set up a website
(www.everreachgroup.com), where relevant latest information,
the up-to-date state of the Company’s business operation and
development, the Company’s financial information and corporate
governance practices and other data are available to the public.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting,
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of
the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The Company conducted its
annual review of the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy during the year and
concluded that it continues to be effective in engaging with the
Company'’s shareholders.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company has established a number of channels for
maintaining an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as
follows:

(a) Corporate Communication

Corporate Communication as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities, including but not limited to the following
documents of the Company: (a) the Directors report, annual
accounts together with a copy of the auditors report and,
where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the
interim report and, where applicable, its summary interim
report; (c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document; (e) a
circular; and (f) a proxy form. The Corporate Communication
of the Company will be published on the Stock Exchanges
website (wWww.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required
by the Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be
provided to Shareholders and non-registered holders of the
Company'’s securities in both English and Chinese versions
or where permitted, in a single language, in a timely
manner as required by the Listing Rules. Shareholders
and non-registered holders of the Company’s securities
shall have the right to choose the language (either
English or Chinese) or means of receipt of the Corporate
Communication (in printed form or through electronic
means).

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

BREARRHOBE

AR E 17 RR 48 AL BOSR DA R X R A9
EARBIGIEERE - ARANEF
PO AR RGBT B R B AU
ETFEER SRS RRERS
ARBBRITEFEER -

IR R BR

RAB DL AT % (8 & 15 DA 4 +5 B2 AR
RETHERR:

(a) AEEH

EWHRBFAAENARBAIZE
AR ABHEFMNEHFIFTEANE
S BRENTT B M %% ok #E E H AY (E fA
X BIEERERADFA T
XH:@QEZTeHRE FEKREE
FEEMBEE AU EGBEEE
HE(MBER) O)PHHEREF
HEERE(WER) TR BE:
) EmxXt:@@E: RORKER
R - ARAIMARBNGE LT
R B R T 1 B ) S5 B A2 BT 48 Uk
(www.hkex.com.hk) o 2 &) 38 & 15 1%
B ET AR AR IR T B B DA AR 3 S sk
ERTFHNBRATAE—ZBsAKRER
MARNBBENIIEETITAEARKE -
BREMARBIFEBELBLHEZEGEAR
BEEQABAMNES RA(EX
gk A 30) sk B2 Uk 5 = (BN Rl R 3k & F
bR °



Corporate Governance Report

(b) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to

(c)

(d)

the Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.)
and other documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of
Association) on the Stock Exchanges website in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchanges website will also be published on the
Company’s website (www.everreachgroup.com).

Shareholders Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings
of the Company are primary forum for communication
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company
shall provide Shareholders with relevant information on
the resolutions(s) proposed at a general meeting in a
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to
enable Shareholders to make an informed decision on the
proposed resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf if
they are unable to attend the meetings. Where appropriate
or required, the Chairman of the Board and other Board
members, the chairmen of board committees or their
delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders questions
(if any). The chairman of the independent board committee
(if any) should also be available to answer questions at
any general meeting to approve a connected transaction
or any other transaction that is subject to independent
Shareholders approval.

(b)

(c)

(d)
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TEERHRE

(e) Shareholders Enquiries
Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, via its online holding
enquiry service at https:/www.tricoris.com, or send
email to is-enquiries@vistra.com or call its hotline at
+852 2980 1333, or go in person to its public counter at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to
be put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send any enquiries
to the Board by email: enquiry@everreachgrp.com or by
post to Room 1409, Leighton Centre, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
pursuant to code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code which sets
out the factors in consideration of the payment of dividend. In
determining whether to propose a dividend and the relevant
dividend pay-out ratio, the Board will consider, including but not
limited to, the Group’s earnings performance, financial position,
expected working capital requirements, investment requirements,
future expansion plan and general economic condition as well as
other external factors that may have an impact on the business
of the Company. The Board endeavours to maintain a balance
between meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent
capital management with a sustainable dividend policy and
will continually review the same and make modification when
appropriate.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

L]

To the Shareholders of
Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ever
Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 137 to 309, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that, the Group incurred a loss of
approximately RMB263,971,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024, and, as at 31 December 2024, the Group had total current
assets of approximately RMB7,534,181,000, including cash
and cash equivalents of approximately RMB253,342,000. In
contrast, the Group faced total current liabilities of approximately
RMB5,860,145,000, including current portion of bank borrowings
and other long-term borrowings with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately RMB647,400,000 due within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period, as well as capital
commitments of approximately RMB841,904,000 for properties
under development for sale. In addition, the Group was also
exposed to potential cash outflows arising from the financial
guarantees issued to third parties and a related party of
approximately RMB6,840,008,000 as at 31 December 2024.
In light of the relative low cash balances, significant short-term
obligations within next twelve months and the potential cash
outflows arising from the financial guarantees issued, together
with uncertainties surrounding the Group’s ability to generate
sufficient operating cash flows, these events or conditions
indicate the existence of material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRQA

RRMAEE

EEERBEFAGAMREBEMNER
B EAN(EBBAENDETES -
EEAERSEATAENEEESELRR
SMZBE B RE A M |RE AR
MEFEIMYPIEE— PR - RIFEE
BB R MC(EE G ENEE TR T
) EFBYRN BEEE ASDRIE
SHETESMNEMERET - BFM
B BEMESHNERREERESFN

EAREAIFIEENER

FRBEKENERTHRERRE

A 48 =

EERFE BT IEHRAUBHRERM
2 o Mff F2F B3 & & B R # £2024
FRAHLEFEEABEHOARE
263,971,000 © B 2024412 A31
H B£EEEARHEELBEHAR
#7,534,181,000t * BRERERB ¢ F
B #H A R #253,342,0007T ° B — A
- BESEEmEEHARES5860,145000
THRESAESRE  BEREAEHNA
R #647,400,0007T A9 if 17 & H b & Hf
f& A B HR 28 o (8 10 3R 45 BB R B 7T K
RE—ZEAREE) UEMAESE
V)2 B AR EE D A R 841,904,000
JC o Ut AN 0 RR2024F12831H B £
EEEEmE= AR — AR R
BERMAUEEENRESRHODARE
6,840,008,0007C - E A KR E MW R & &
BReORRFTZEARNRBBEHREEUR
FIREBERMAIEEENRES T -
ERHY BEEELERHEERSR
BEIMTHPARER  ZSFHABRA
THEEEARTHBARZ Ay 5%
EHEKERENELEERRBD - BEY
ERWBEBEEEER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matter that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matter were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matter. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern, the key audit matters we
identified are (i) net realisable value of properties held or under
development for sale; and (ii) impairment of non-financial assets.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BRETSEGE)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRETER EENBENNNEEBRENSEE

Net realisable value of properties held or under
development for sale

FELHEIFABPHFENENTRERFE

Refer to notes 4.6, 5 and 24 to the consolidated Our procedures in relation to the net realisable

financial statements. value of properties held or under development for
BE2HFEVBRERWT46 - 5Kk24 - sale included:

EEHRFLEARBET G ENENATZRFE
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the FJ1E =& 4% :
Group’s properties held or under development for sale
is approximately RMB6,597,699,000, net of provision e  Obtaining an understanding of the assessment

for properties held or under development for sale of process of the net realisable value of
approximately RMB371,581,000. Provision for properties properties held or under development for sale.
held or under development for sale of approximately o T FBIEHEXHEPFTEDMEIERFE
RMB158,318,000 was recognised in profit or loss during B RF (B AR

the year ended 31 December 2024.

MR2024F12A318 © 1 B 49 A R #371,581,0007T K
BEHESIREPHREDERBR BESEENF
ELEVESREFRFEDENRTENAARE
6,597,699,0007T ° & £2024F12 A31H Ik F & #& & R
Bl HEREdlBEPFENERBIORARYE
158,318,0007T °
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BRETER

Net realisable value of properties held or under
development for sale (Continued)

FELHEIRBRTSGENENTERFE(A)

Properties held or under development for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In
assessing the net realisable value of properties held or
under development for sale, judgements and estimates
are required to be exercised by the directors of the
Company in determining the future market prices,
selling expenses and cost of completion with reference
to the recent market prices and selling expenses of
similar property types in the same project or by similar
properties, the forecast real estate market conditions,
and the actual development cost of the Group’s
completed projects, adjusted by current market data.
RELEXRABEPEEYETDUKRERTZEER FEMN
ERREENNER - ENEHELERRERSTEYE
ZAEREER - BAREFTAMEHAB KRGS &
2ER-EAPHEURAMESBEUDENLATE
RHERX  #HANEHEMSRKAAR EEEE
TRIBEEHNERMEKAR BEERKTE HERM
XRTIXAR  CIRBEEATSBEELAE -

We have identified the net realisable value of properties
held or under development for sale as a key audit
matter because of their significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the involvement of a significant
degree of judgements and estimates used by the
directors of the Company when assessing the net
realisable value.
EERBELEIRBEPFEMENTTZLR FEZ A
RAREFNFE REARAHGEMBHRROEAN -
B BERAESAETGHAERFERIRAEAHAEHK
&t e

B RBENRE

RRETEEHE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENBNNNEEBRENSEE

Evaluating the reasonableness of the future
market prices, selling expenses and cost of
completion used in the assessment of net
realisable value of the properties held or under
development for sale, on a sample basis, by
comparing it to (i) actual market prices and
selling expenses of the similar property types
in the same project or by similar properties;
(i) the actual development cost of similar
completed properties of the Group; and (iii)
market adjustment factor to current available
market data;
HEARTABELEXRERFEMER
BIFEMARTE  HEMX R TIKX
MR ONR—EEPAURE Y ESNE MR
UMENBEBRTEREERX: () EEEC
TRBUMENERRBERA: R()REE
AIAEMS BB ETMISEABRE - #E UG
HHELEE:

performing test on the subsequent sales of
properties held or under development for
sale, on a sample basis, and comparing
the actual sales price after the end of the
reporting period to the net realisable value as
determined by the directors of the Company;
and
MENRAFELEXIRETSTENENRE
HE  HRBEHCEREREER BEQFE
EMEENAIEREE: &

Performing recalculation of the provision for
properties held or under development for sale.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BERETSEE)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEETEE EENBENMNEEBREETEE
Impairment of non-financial assets
FEMEERE

Refer to notes 4.9, 5, 18, 20, 21 and 25 to the Our procedures in relation to the impairment of
consolidated financial statements. non-financial assets included:
FLHRAVBEHMARMNTE49 5 18 ~ 20 ~21K25° EHEHIIESREERENEFEE:

As at 31 December 2024, the carryings amount of e  discussing with the directors of the Company

130

property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and prepayments for construction
cost included in other receivables and prepayments
are approximately RMB29,935,000, RMB13,216,000,
RMB12,370,000 and RMB12,683,000 respectively.

2024 12A318 » sFAHEMEUWRIBF B[ RIER o

ME BMERSZE FHEEE EFEERBENE
ERANERAEED LA A RE20,035000T « AR
13,216,0007T * A K #12,370,0007T A K #12,683,000
77: °

In view of the loss making status of the Group with
the continuing decline in the market demand of the

property market in the People’s Republic of China for e

the year ended 31 December 2024, the directors of
the Company performed impairment testing on the
above-mentioned non-financial assets. Based on the
calculation of the recoverable amount, as determined
either using fair value less cost of disposal of individual
asset or value-in-use calculation with reference to the
profit forecast and cash flows projection of the Group’s
business, no impairment loss on above-mentioned asset
has been recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024.

ERREE2024F12A3MBIEFE BEEEEER
EARKXNMBEBHO TS HRHFE T EME X EEMN
R BEATNEEHLMFemEEETTRENR -
BREBEATKREENFESZ(HECRENEENRSFE
BEEKASKLLE EEEEBNMNERIRES
MERAFENEREE)  REE2024F12A31H 1E
FETES TMEERRREERE -
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to identify the indication of possible
impairment on the non-financial assets,
assessing and reviewing the impairment
testing performed by the directors of the
Company;

B BERAREFETAR UBAESRE
EEERENTR AEALRER H20
ERETHORERNR:

reviewing the methodology adopted, the
underlying assumptions and data used in
determining the fair value less cost of disposal
of the individual asset;
FEREEEREE QT ER L EKAMRA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BAREEITSEH(E)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BAEEGTEE EENESTNNEEREETEE
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
FEREEREH)

We have identified the impairment of non-financial e reviewing the basis of allocation of asset into

assets as a key audit matter because of their each cash-generating unit, the methodology
significance to the consolidated financial statements and adopted, the underlying assumptions and data
the involvement of a significant degree of judgements used for the value in use calculation of the
and estimates used by the directors of the Company cash-generating unit; and

when performing impairment testing. e HHMBEENNMEZEIRSELSMAEE .

TEHFTREERESRNABEREFSTE  RER FERANAE ARFAERSELASUFEH
HUSEWBERENERNE - B ERRESFHET BEMMEBERRREE: &
BRI B RS & B KR A T R (b 5 e
e reviewing the calculation of the recoverable
amount of each non-financial assets and
compared to its individual carrying amount
and assessing if adequate impairment loss
has been recognised for the year ended 31
December 2024.
e EHHBMEEEMEENTIMLOSENTERZE -
WEEEMNBREEETEER  URTHEHE
2024F12ABIBIELFEREE R N A
BEEE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors of the Company in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO6633

24/F., Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 18 July 2025

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRQA

¥ B AT Bh B R AR S B S R AR PR
MEF (&)

EENAERZESRIBH HAE
EENEABBLIUENEEEXERE
Ko WEMPERBEAEABEBERR
EXEREBEIMNAMEBRMEME
B UREERNBRAT  SRERE
i BR EX 9 17 B =k P 8 AR & B 8B 45 e

NEHEZZBGABNERT BF
EHARGEAVBERENEARREE
MEER AMEXNEREFTEH - BF
EREBMBETRMZEER  BRIEE
BREBRTIATARBEELER A
BHmFLNBERLT MRAGEFEHES
ERETEBBRAFHAKRNABKRE
BBELNARMD  BFIRETEE
WETPBBZER -

RE(BER)EHMELMERAT
HEDIE

Y

FEIZEHEE

HEFERS - P06633

BEEET
5% 7T 1818855
K% R 24

F# - 20257H18H



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 December 2024

mEBEER

H E2024F12A31HIEFE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
o3 AR¥FT AR FT
Revenue A 7 2,762,136 3,565,598
Cost of sales £ & A (2,639,025) (3,131,395)
Gross profit E F 123,111 434,203
Fair value losses on investment KEMENRFE
properties & B 19 (12,528) (2,920)
Selling and marketing expenses HERMBHRERX (138,437) (168,533)
Administrative expenses THAX (128,206) (131,097)
(Provision)/reversal of allowance for  (5132) /1 [8] H th g Ug 3118
impairment of other receivables VKR 12 (4,489) 3,265
Other income N 9 806 4,071
Other losses, net B - F58 10 (920) (5,261)
Operating (loss)/profit me(EE)/AE (160,663) 133,728
Finance income B 75 WA 11 695 1,073
Finance costs B 75 ik 7R 11 (607) (930)
Finance income, net MW A FEE 88 143
Share of result of associates DR e QAR EE 22 (54) —
34 143
(Loss)/profit before income tax FRFTESH A (BE) FIE 12 (160,629) 133,871
Income tax expenses FrBfim= 13 (103,342) (97,054)
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(ER),/FE (263,971) 36,817
(Loss)/profit for the year THELTEEFR
attributable to: (E18) /7M.
Owners of the Company iN/NETEZF =N (270,424) 40,944
Non-controlling interests IE 17 R 2= 6,453 (4,127)
(263,971) 36,817
(Loss)/earnings per share BR(EE) BT
(expressed in RMB cents) (MAR® 5% 7R)
— Basic and diluted — BEARKEE 16 (22.54) 3.41
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SGEZHEBER

HE2024E12A31A L EE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AR TFor
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive FR(ER) FBR
(expense)/income for the year 2EFEX) WEBAE (263,971) 36,817
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for T 5 & FEEFERAEEH
the year attributable to: (FAx%) WEFEE:
Owners of the Company KAREAR A (270,424) 40,944
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR HE 6,453 (4,127)
(263,971) 36,817

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2024

e PRI R

2024F12 A31H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

H1 &t AR TR AEETT

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WEKZE 18 29,935 35,454
Investment properties EYME 19 132,560 119,600
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 20 13,216 13,184
Intangible assets mEEE 21 12,370 13,098
Interests in associates NN RO 22 53,269 53,323
Deferred income tax assets BRIEMSHREE 34 120,994 146,920
Total non-current assets IEMBEELE 362,344 381,579
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments for leasehold land HE T BN FIB 23 - 40,810
Properties held or under BEHEXABEREE
development for sale e 24 6,597,699 7,521,685
Other receivables and H b & W 5% I8 AN
prepayments Tt KIA 25 400,500 582,461
Prepaid income taxes TR TER 122,484 114,989
Contract costs & B A 3,282 3,282
Restricted bank deposits Z R ERITER 26(b) 156,874 165,591
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFEYD 26(a) 253,342 274,808
Total current assets MEEERE 7,534,181 8,703,626
Total assets wmaEE 7,896,525 9,085,205

2024 Annual Report
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2024

e B RIR TR

202412 AH31H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K it AR¥FT AR FT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAXRGFE
Share capital fig A 27 10,645 10,645
Share premium 1% 15 % B 27 299,188 299,188
Retained profits IR & ¥ H 1,023,735 1,296,860
Other reserves HAibf# B 28 208,385 205,684
Equity attributable to owners KAREEABEMER
of the Company 1,541,953 1,812,377
Non-controlling interests FE 1 R = 52,117 45,664
Total equity MR 1,594,070 1,858,041
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities kFRBEE
Bank borrowings RITHER 30 387,700 232,500
Other long-term borrowings H At = HA 1B 5K 31 29,377 37,537
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 9,339 9,289
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEMSREaE 34 15,894 16,746
Total non-current liabilities EREEFERRE 442,310 206,072

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRQA



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2024

e PRI R

2024F12 A31H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

H1 &t AR TR ARETTT

Current liabilities REBEE

Trade and other payables B 5 &k E Ath FE A BOR 29 1,741,056 2,007,485

Bank borrowings SRITER 30 371,200 182,900

Current portion of other long-term £ b & B & 7% #9 BN & 26

borrowings 31 276,200 495,692

Contract liabilities ARAEE 32 3,136,395 3,956,814

Lease liabilities HEAE 33 5,711 6,275

Current income tax liabilities BIHAFTS A E 329,583 281,926
Total current liabilities mEBERR 5,860,145 6,931,092
Total liabilities wmaE 6,302,455 7,227,164
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 7,896,525 9,085,205
Net current assets REBEEFH 1,674,036 1,772,534
Total assets less current MEERRBAR

liabilities 2,036,380 2,154,113

The consolidated financial statements on pages 137 to 309 were 13723098 MY 45 & W 15 i &k 2 102025
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on FTAISAKESSH ELEETZE - B

18 July 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: ATIMATREZE:
Li Xiaobing Wang Zhenfeng
Z= /oK -3
Director Director
= EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2024

GEREZBER

HE2024F12A31A L FE
Attributable to owners of the Company
EAREEARL
Non-
Share Share  Retained Other controlling Total
capital  premium profits  reserves  Sub-total interests equity
RE  BRHRE REANE HtRE NTOFBRRERZ  GER
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ABEFL ARETR AREFT ARETL ARETLT AREFL ARETZ
Note 28)
(H#28)
At 1 January 2023 #2023E1A1A 10,645 299,188 1,272,885 188,715 1,771,433 102,034 1,873,467
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive ERflE/ (BRI R2ERE/
income/(expense) for the year (Ax)a% - - 40,944 - 40,944 (@127 36817
Transactions with owners REBANR S
Dividend paid to non-controling shareholders & 35 Bl R M & = = = = = 2,800 (2,800)
Appropriation fo statutory surplus reserves  EEZEFRHEE - - (16969) 16969 - - -
Capital contributions from non-controlling FERRFTE
shareholders = = = = = 4,000 4,000
Disposal of a subsidiary (rote 351 HE-RHBRRW 350 - - - - - (53443 (53,443)
- ~ BB 16969 4094 [6310) (1542
At 31 December 2023 2023128318 10,645 299,188 1,296,860 205,684 1,812,377 45,664 1,858,041
At 1 January 2024 R2024%1A1A 10,645 299,188 1,296,860 205,684 1,812,377 45,664 1,858,041
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive En(ER)/ABR2E
(expense)/income for the year (%) hEEE - - (210424) - (210424) 6,453  (263971)
Transactions with owners REBANR S
Appropriation fo statutory surplus reserves ~ EEZ AT RHEE - - 2,701) 2,701 - - -
- - @312 2701 (70424) 6453 (263971)
At 31 December 2024 R204E12A31H 10,645 299,188 1,023,735 208,385 1,541,953 52,117 1,594,070

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited

BEEE (ZR) BRAF



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2024

.
n‘l_\ é }E, % )}2&1 % %
HE2024F12A31R L FE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR For
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMEBRLIRE
Net cash generated from operations EEEARS FHE
(note 36(a)) (#17#36(a)) 2,536 102,988
PRC corporate income tax and land ENFBEEEMEHRR
appreciation tax paid + B AT (38,106) (107,017)
Net cash used in operating activities KETHFRFARESFE (35,570) (4,029)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBFREHEERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB EW ¥  HERRE (1,283) (6,718)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEDE  BERKRE
plant and equipment FT1S 5k 18 28 43
Temporary funding provided to third parties S =H 2 HHNERE & (53,320) (55,730)
Repayment of temporary funding from third SE=HEEHNEEE S
parties 55,730 5,007
Temporary fundings advanced to M—Z2EBFRANERES
a related party (1,003) (3,803)
Repayment of temporary fundings from —RXEB T EERKEED
a related party 1,003 3,360
Net cash outflows from disposal of HEMNBARMIIRE MWL
subsidiaries (note 35) 58 (K 7235) = (83)
Interest received B YA B 695 1,073
Withdrawals of restricted bank deposits RREZEHIREFR 8,717 15,187
Net cash from/(used in) investing BREZBHHRE (FFRES
activities R 10,567 (41,664)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2024

n\l_\é IE, @)‘ﬁ% %

H 22024F12A31B It FE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR For
Cash flows from financing activities REIBHRERERE
Bank borrowings raised EERITERK 717,520 394,516
Repayment of bank borrowings EEIRITER (374,020) (302,616)
Repayment of other borrowings EEHEMER - (3,500)
Other long-term borrowings raised EEHMRAER 19,650 307,384
Repayment of other long-term borrowings EEEMERIAGBK (247,302) (120,000)
Interests paid on bank and other borrowings &1 8 17 & E fib & 2k 51 &2 (64,963) (61,302)
Temporary fundings advanced from 8 55t 77 2 B BR B ﬁé
related parties 6,807 5,047
Repayment of temporary fundings to MBABLTEERRES
related parties (726) (4,039)
Temporary funding advanced from third FZFBRANBRES
parties 10,010 9,950
Repayment of temporary funding advanced A28 = J5 {8 i& 8 (- B9 B B
from third parties B - (53,386)
Advance from non-controlling shareholders 3 &5 3F 22 & A% B8 &9 £ 2% - 33,218
Repayment to non-controlling shareholders 1A 3k %2 B% B% 38 38 3% (57,798) (101,045)
Capital injection from non-controlling JEERAR R IEE
shareholders - 4,000
Payment of lease liabilities TNEEaE (5,034) (5,055)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENHEHEBERNE (607) (930)
Dividends paid to non-controlling EfFEERRERE
shareholders - (2,800)
Net cash from financing activities METHFESRESFEH 3,537 99,442
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%f’%
equivalents W), 18 % (21,466) 53,749
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning % % HOREEREEEY
of the reporting period 274,808 221,059
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of HEMARERREEEY
the reporting period (note 26(a)) (H1 #£26(a) 253,342 274,808

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRQA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22
July 2016 as an exempted company with limited liability.
Its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 12 November 2018. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company and ultimate controlling party of the
Company are Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company
Limited (“Ever Enhancement”), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands, and Mr. Li Xiaobing (“Mr. Li"),
the executive director of the Company, respectively. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in property development
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Renminbi (RMB’000), unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRS Accounting Standards
comprise all individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“‘HKASSs”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed in note 4.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Going concern consideration

As at 31 December 2024, the Group incurred a loss of
approximately RMB263,971,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024, and, as at 31 December 2024, the Group
had total current assets of approximately RMB7,534,181,000,
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB253,342,000. In contrast, the Group faced total
current liabilities of approximately RMB5,860,145,000,
including current portion of bank borrowings and other
long-term borrowings with an aggregate carrying amount
of approximately RMB647,400,000 due within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period, as well as
capital commitments of approximately RMB841,904,000 for
properties under development for sale (note 37). In addition,
the Group was also exposed to potential cash outflows
arising from the financial guarantees issued to third parties
and a related party of approximately RMB6,840,008,000 as
at 31 December 2024 (note 38). In light of the relative low
cash balances, significant short-term obligations within next
twelve months and the potential cash outflows arising from
the financial guarantees issued, together with uncertainties
surrounding the Group’s ability to generate sufficient
operating cash flows, these events or conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of the above, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections covering a
period at least twelve months from the end of the reporting
period, which have taken into account the available financial
resources, the Group’s cash flows from operations, available
banking facilities and the following measures:

()  The Group will continue to actively adjust sales and
pre-sale activities to better respond to market needs,
make efforts to achieve the latest budgeted sales and
pre-sales volumes and amounts, and timely monitor the
collection of sales and pre-sales proceeds;

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRQA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Going concern consideration (Continued)

(i

(i)

The Group will maintain continuous communication
and agree with major contractors and suppliers to
arrange payments to these vendors and complete the
construction progress as scheduled, and settle the
land appreciation tax (“LAT”) upon tax clearance;

The Group will continue to actively communicate
with relevant banks and other financial institutions so
that the Group can timely secure necessary project
development loans or negotiate a better repayment
schedule for its loans for qualified project development.
In addition, based on past experience, the bank will
normally provide funding as needed according to the
property development progress without significant
uncertainties to the Group; and

The Group will continuously cooperate with the
related parties and non-controlling shareholders of
the project companies and they agreed in writing
to provide funding support and not to demand for
repayment for the balances, included in trade and other
payables (note 29), owed to them of approximately
RMB21,385,000 and RMB25,735,000, respectively, as
at 31 December 2024, until the Group has financial
ability to do so, in order to ensuring the development
and sales of all existing projects as budgeted without
material interruptions.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to fulfil its financial obligations as and when they
fall due at least the coming twelve months from the end
of the reporting period. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
these consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. These consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments relating to the carrying amounts
and reclassification of assets and liabilities that might be
necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024,
for the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements:

3 ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3 BRAFTTRRIETERBMHEIR
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS EEBSEHER

(a) Application of amendments to HKFRS (a) ERAKBIIEERTEREER
Accounting Standards g 52

AEEBERNBEZEREME
HKERBEEXEAUNTHESE
AT R0 A 2 58 4 W 7202451 A1
Bk 2 1 5 1A A F Z 51 R 08
ERNEE R BT EREE
Bl e 528 :

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback BRMBASEN  EREEOEERE
F16% (B34

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classffication of Liabilities as Current or Non-current FREHENZIE  BAENBARDIARDAR
CHEY)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

BREHREAZIE  WERENFRDAR
CHEN
BREHENZTRR (EBRERS

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7 EANBREEN
ET5 (BITE)
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the ERAREST LHHBRR - BAAHAS
(Revised) Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on (#53) BEXERRRATHER
Demand Clause MAE
Except as disclosed below, the application of the BRTIXFHEZEEN  REAFE

amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current, related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (collectively referred to as the “HKAS 1
Amendments”)

As a result of the adoption of the HKAS 1 Amendments,
the Group changed its accounting policy for the
classification of borrowings as below:

“Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless,
at the end of the reporting period, the Group has a
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRQA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

3 ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Application of amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards (Continued)

Covenants that the Group is required to comply
with, on or before the end of the reporting period,
are considered in classifying loan arrangements with
covenants as current or non-current. Covenants that
the Group is required to comply with after the end of
the reporting period do not affect the classification.”

This new policy did not result in a change in the
classification of the Group’s bank borrowings and
other long-term borrowings. The Group did not make
retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the
HKAS 1 Amendments.

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards and
the Interpretation that have been issued but are not
yet effective for the financial year beginning 1 January
2024:

Effective for the accounting
periods beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 — Lack of 1 January 2025
Exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Classification and 1 January 2026
Measurement of Financial Instruments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Contracts 1 January 2026

Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — 1 January 2026

Volume 11

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 1 January 2027
Statements

Amendments to HK Interpretation 5 (Revised) — Classification 1 January 2027

by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

To be determined by the HKICPA
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3 ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting

Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of other amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards and the Interpretation
will not have material impact on these consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 — Presentation of
Financial Statements, introducing new requirements
that will help to achieve comparability of the financial
performance of similar entities and provide more
relevant information and transparency to users. Even
though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or
measurement of items in the consolidated financial
statements, HKFRS 18 introduces significant changes
to the presentation of the consolidated financial
statements, with a focus on information about financial
performance present in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, which will affect how the Group present
and disclose financial performance in the consolidated
financial statements. The key changes introduced in
HKFRS 18 relate to (i) the structure of the statement of
profit or loss; (ii) required disclosures for management-
defined performance measures (which are referred
to alternative or non-GAAP performance measures);
and (iii) enhanced requirements for aggregation and
disaggregation of information.

The directors of the Company are currently assessing
the impact of applying HKFRS 18 on the presentation
and disclosures of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the material accounting policies
below (e.g. investment properties). The preparation of
these consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the year presented, unless otherwise stated.

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.1 Subsidiaries

4.1.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the
transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly,
to the Company. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between the non-controlling
shareholders and owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)
4.1.1 Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(@) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling shareholders
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions — that
is, as transactions with the owners of the
subsidiaries in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiaries is recorded in equity.
Gains or losses on disposal to non-controlling
shareholders are also recorded in equity.

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

4.1.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
t (i) derecognises the assets (including any
goodwill, if any) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when
control is lost; (i) derecognises the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interests in the
former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost (including any components of other
comprehensive income attributable to them);
and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest, with any
resulting difference being recognised as a
gain or loss attributable to the Group. When
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are
carried at revalued amounts or fair values and
the related cumulative gain or loss has been
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity, the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets and liabilities
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
directly to retained profits as specified by
applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards).
The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 ERSHEBEEBR (&)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.1 Subsidiaries (Continued) 4.1 MIBAR (&)

4.1.2 Separate Financial Statements 4.1.2 8 U B % iR %
In the Company’s statement of financial position, EARRRIW AR R A -
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less R B AT MIEE TIIEK
impairment losses, if any, unless the investment is RBRIFEBE(NA) T

classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Cost
includes direct attributable costs of investments.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received or
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
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the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary EBLUBBRRILENRE
in the period the dividend is declared or if the HEBBZERAEWBER
carrying amount of the investment in the separate RPREEFHNEEFE

financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in these consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

4.2 Associates
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BRI -

4.2 BtENT

Associates are entities over which the Group has BMEANARBRAEBHERE KX
significant influence. Significant influence is the TEINNEE - iﬁggﬁﬁ
power to participate in the financial and operating RBEBERBOY S REEBRR
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint B R 2K B 2 B 1 3F 4 o

control over those policies. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held
by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.2 Associates (Continued)

Interests in associates are accounted for in these
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets
and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill
which is included in the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the interest (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the interest. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the interest
subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4 EREFHRER(E)

4.2 Associates (Continued) 4.2 My&ERTF (&)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profit or loss and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profit, the Group resumes
recognising its share of the profit only after its share of
the profit equals the share of losses not recognised.

REBED(HHE RRWBED
BakEM2RKRENEEE
BRI AZERBERTPER
EARKEOHBERF 2EIE
ENHBBEENB L RA 2K
= (BREG LEXAEE R
ERANEBEFE—HozE
MEHED) RN ASEITEE
—SHERAEBE RIEAKED
REERRAERE RN
R o bt ARERBRENE
AEBEREDHEHNFNBERE
REDIENRERBERR 77
SMEBEDEHFE -

2024 Annual Report
—E-MEFR

157



158

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.3 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The functional currency of the
Company is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). Since
the majority of the assets and operations of the
Group are located in the PRC, these consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains or losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains or losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, within “finance income or costs”. All other
foreign exchange gains or losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss within
“other losses, net”.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRQA

4 BERSTERER (#)

4.3 SHNE@RE

(a)

(b)

EER 25 &

AEEEERNMBHRR
FrEEMER  HRZE
BREFENTIERER
BEMEB(NEE B
BE-ARBWMPWEEER
BL(ETD  BRAE
BMARD BEREHAML
KRB ZEFHEA MR
RUARBIAREDZ
5] o

XEREE

SNERF TR R Z A KA
BEMtEGHERNER
EXBELNEEE - F
P ZHEERRFRIE
RE BN EHENER
BENBEMELENER
Wk Eig - HREAIE
mRHER

HEFALRRAERRESE
EYARAAER WD B
BREEEARANIME
WASKKAIZS] - AR
MELKREXEERES
BRRANEMER—F
BIZ5 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i)

(if)

(iil)

assets and liabilities for the statement of
financial position are translated at the closing
rate;

income and expenses for the statement of
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Buildings 20 years

— Motor vehicles 4 years

— Electronic devices 3-5 years

— Furniture, fittings and 5 years
equipment

— Leasehold improvement  the shorter of lease terms
or useful lives

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and
equipment are determined by comparing sales
proceeds with the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment and are recognised as “other losses,
net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.5

4.6

Intangible assets
Licenses

Separately acquired licenses are shown at cost.
Licences acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They
have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses, if any.

Licenses is amortised using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

— Licenses 20 years

Properties held or under development for sale

Properties held or under development for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Development cost of properties comprises cost of
land use rights (including land auction price, other
demolition cost to acquire land and resettlement
housing construction costs after deducting related
government grants), construction costs and borrowing
costs incurred during the construction period. Upon
completion, the properties under development are
transferred to properties held for sale.

Net realisable value takes into account the price
ultimately expected to be realised, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to
completion.

Properties held or under development for sale are
classified as current assets unless the construction
period of the relevant property development project is
expected to complete beyond normal operating cycle.

HE2024512A31B IFFE

4 EREFHRER(E)

4.5

4.6

BVEE
&F ] F

BB WEAORT A EERAIR
REBAHTKRBNFAIZR
WEAMRATEER 2%
BEARAEREH  HRIZX
AR Rt H S R E R 1R (1 E)
5l B e

Al E R B RORB - A
AR B B A Rt Al (E B A
HEMT:

— 2048

FEHESRERFENE

FELEIRBERFEMER
PR IR E 2 BUEE A
R-MERBERABRE LML
AERRNEELHREE K
BruwmEMKEERA LMK
BN ERNLEFEE
PR MM EL WEEK
ARERKA e RETR - 5
BhYMEEHEERSBEHEN
/S

TRRFEAREEREER
BB BB ER
REHFEIAA -

RIELEXRETFEDNED
BRRDEE HEHBMEE
REBZZETITHRAABLEE
FREBBERI -

2024 Annual Report
—E-MEFR

161



162

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

)

BF 75 ¥ 2R B

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.7

4.8

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields
or for capital appreciation or both. It also includes
properties that are being constructed or developed
for future use as investment properties. Investment
property is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing
costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are
carried at fair value, representing open market value
determined by management of the Group at the end of
each reporting period taking into account any available
valuation results performed by external valuers. Fair
value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if
necessary, for any difference in the nature, location
or condition of the specific asset. If the information
is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active markets
or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair
values are recorded in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as a separate line item.

Rental income from investment properties is accounted
for as described in note 4.24(b).

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRQA

4 BERSTEHRER (#)

4.7

4.8

REME

REME(ZTERRFEAE LI
MEF)REHHEHERENERN
BEX LAMERZMETA -
BREMETERBRAERE
MENERIRETYE - K
BYMESRNZRA(BREABX
2 BN R AR R AR AR (fis 388 ) &1
BE-NnEREK REME
BERAFEMERAEEEEE
& E BT ] A] 15 1O B S0 BB A
EMSHNAEERERRNSR
EHRBENLARANE)FE -
RN ETDRERT S ERFTE
TS TEEMNMEE  LEK
RSB (E (T 22 RAE(E R (5
BR) EREEFEHR XK
B R R NEE™N S E
REPBEREREBAZHAM
BREEDE - RFEEZHZ
EBEEBIUFAGABRR -

REYWEHHES W ALK
4.24(b) BT it &9 7555 A BR o

HE

AREBEE N G R 6 & WEF
EzeaRAEtBHEXEREH
E-WMARRBRRREMS T
FE— BR B R 0 428 11 /T 38 Bl B 72
ERAMEN AIZAREBHEE
FEEHE - HMEPERTE
AR E ERE R RIEZE
PR T P A R A B M 2R
AR TR EEEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.8 Leases (Continued)

()

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single
lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to be
made under reasonably certain extension options
are also included in the measurement of the lease
liability. After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.8 Leases (Continued)

(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

(i)

(if)

(i)

where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes
in financing conditions since third party
financing was received;

uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the group entities, which
does not have recent third party financing;
and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is
available to the individual lessee (through recent
financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group
entities use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 ERSHEBEEBR (&)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
4.8 Leases (Continued) 4.8 HE (&)

(i) F*EEEBEBEAE)

(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site
on which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, if any, except for the right-of-use assets
that meet the definition of investment property are
carried at fair value in accordance with note 4.7.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.8 Leases (Continued)

(ii) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified
as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the
case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

4.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period for
indications of impairment and where an asset is
impaired, it is written down as an expense through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of
the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is
being measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.9

4.10

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and
then pro rata amongst the other assets of the
cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.

Land use rights

Land in the PRC is state-owned and no individual land
ownership right exists. The Group acquired the rights
to certain land, and the premiums paid for such rights
are recorded as land use rights. Land use rights are
classified and accounted for in accordance with the
intended use of respective properties as erected on the
land.

For properties that are held for own use, corresponding
land use rights are regarded as right-of-use assets, and
are stated at cost and amortised over the use terms
using the straight-line method.

For properties that are under development and held for
sale, corresponding land use rights are accounted for
as part of the development costs, and are accounted
for in accordance with the policy stated in note 4.6.

For properties that are held as investment properties,
corresponding land use rights are accounted for as
part of the costs, and are accounted for in accordance
with the policy stated in note 4.7.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

4 EREFHRER(E)

4.9 FEMEEREHE)

ReELBUZREBEESL
AREHEVEE ARRE
TELABEUNEMEE 2R
LI DB - BER AT EBEH
WA E S BERGAES
BHERBERIE -

410 LihfFE ARk

FENTHASEE MTE
EBEALPrERE AEEK
BET IR A EEN
R HES R ERAEA
B o L ibfE MEERIE L3 £ AT
EHEBYENRITIAZD AR
N

HRBEERNYE  HED
THERERAREREEE
BRBEREERAS IR IZ
ERFRETH -

HRAZTVERBELEY
¥ HENLHMERERIES
A 3% 7R 51 B 6 AR 7 P 5E4.6 P
BFHRAR -

HREEREVENDEMS
18 FE B L 3 (58 P A 4% 3R D B AR
51 B b AR % B SE4.7 P EBOR A
BR o

2024 Annual Report
—E-MEFR

167



168

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

411 Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial
assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.

4.11.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For investments in debt instruments, this will
depend on the business model in which the
investment is held. For investments in equity
instruments, it is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity instruments are not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be
made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4 BERSTBERER (#)

41N ERMEEH)

411 Financial assets (Continued)

4111 7 5 (&)

4.11.1 Classification (Continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.11.2Recognition and measurement

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group
classified its debt instruments into the following
measurement category:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

411 Financial assets (Continued)

4.11.3Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for
impairment on investments in debt instruments
under expected credit losses (the “ECL”) that are
measured at amortised cost, other receivables,
restricted bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents. The amount of the ECL is updated
at the end of each reporting period to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of
the respective financial instrument.

For all financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures
the allowance for impairment for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 ERSHEBEEBR (&)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

411 ERMEEE)

411 Financial assets (Continued)

N3 HEERE (F)

4.11.3Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at
the end of the reporting period with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes
the future prospects of the industries in which the
Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic
expert reports, financial analysts, governmental
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various
external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core
operations.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

411 Financial assets (Continued)

4.11.3 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular
financial instrument;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

4 EREFHRER(E)

41N ERMEEH)

4113 A EE R E (4E)

15 B2 B A g 18 00 (48)

AEEmE  FHEERAR

BB RIARE S KNIE

EmMEEERETHER:

— LRI EAEMNIE(NH)
KA EETRER
TR R E R

HUX-—S®RIAZ
SMER T 35 1R IR BN S
B EE B

BE - BB LEMN
MBERIAASHE
THES mERE
BHEHPEEHEHKA
BITHEBEHRT 28
NFEE T

BEHAZRKEXRRAER
RLEXEHEEER
1t

EREBANL LS
BT AR E AR EE
#1005 5

BHBAMRZEE
BB RMREER
FHFEHEHREKX
THEY mMEBEE
BEHBEBEABITH
BEBEECENEE
NFE o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 EAESHBEER(#F)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
411 ERMEEE)

411 Financial assets (Continued)

4.11.3Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

4.11.3% B 5 Z Bl 15 (4E)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the end of the reporting period.
A financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if:

() the financial instrument has a low risk of
default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

411 Financial assets (Continued)

4.11.3 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of “investment grade” in accordance with
the globally understood definition or if an external
rating is not available, the asset has an internal
rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

411 Financial assets (Continued)
4.11.3Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 365 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

411 Financial assets (Continued)

4.11.3Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about

the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the counterparty;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the counterparty, for
economic or contractual reasons relating to
the counterparty’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the counterparty a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 EAESHBEER(#F)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

411 EREEE)

411 Financial assets (Continued)

N3 HEERE (E)

4.11.3 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of the ECL

The measurement of the ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment

35 1B R
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As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, ms ' HEESENRLSH
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amount at the end of the reporting period.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

411 Financial assets (Continued)

4.11.3Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of the ECL
(Continued)

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance
for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL at the end of the reporting
period, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an allowance for impairment
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.12

4.13

Other receivables

Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

If collection of other receivables is expected in one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,
they are presented as non-current assets.

Contract costs and liabilities and cost for
obtaining contracts

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from
the customer and assumes performance obligations
to transfer goods or services to the customer.
The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. The contract
is an asset and recognised as contract costs if
the measure of the remaining conditional rights to
consideration exceeds the satisfied performance
obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability
and recognised as contract liabilities if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds
the measure of the remaining rights. Costs such as
stamp duty and sales commissions incurred directly
attributable to obtaining a contract, if recoverable, are
capitalised and recorded in contract costs.

For contracts where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised
property is different, the transaction price is adjusted
for the effects of a financing component, if significant.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.14

4.15

4.16

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at
the end of the reporting period, the Group has a right
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.16

417

4.18

Borrowings (Continued)

Covenants that the Group is required to comply
with, on or before the end of the reporting period,
are considered in classifying loan arrangements with
covenants as current or non-current. Covenants that
the Group is required to comply with after the reporting
period do not affect the classification at the reporting
date.

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowings
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.19 Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in these consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill, if
any, or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, interests in associates and joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4 BERSTBERER (#)

419 Taxation (Continued) 419 B (E

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model of the Group whose
business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties
are measured based on the expected manner as to
how the properties will be recovered.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

419 Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. The Group recognises a deferred
tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends either to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

4.20 PRC LAT

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation amount of land value, being
the proceeds from sales of properties less deductible
expenditures. LAT is recognised as an income tax
expense. LAT paid is a deductible expense for PRC
enterprise income tax purposes.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 EAESHBEER(#F)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.21 Employee benefits 4.21 EEEF

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group
participate in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal and
provincial governments in the PRC under which the
Group and the PRC based employees are required to
make monthly contributions to these plans calculated
as a percentage of the employees’ salaries, subject to
a certain ceiling.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post-retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administrated funds managed by the
PRC government.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.22 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

4.23 Financial guarantee liabilities

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4 EAESHBEER(#F)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.23 MBEREE(F)

4.23 Financial guarantee liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the financial guarantee liabilities. After
initial recognition, such contracts are measured at the
higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 and the amount initially
recognised less cumulative amortisation of income
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 15. The fair
value of financial guarantees is determined as the
present value of the difference in net cash flows
between the contractual payments under the debt
instrument and the payments that would be required
without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that
would be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.

Financial guarantee liabilities are derecognised from the
consolidated statement of financial position when, and
only when, the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged or cancelled or expired.

4.24 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales of
properties and provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net
of discounts, sales related taxes and after eliminating
sales with the Group companies.
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4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the
asset is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer over time
or at a point in time. Control of the asset is transferred
over time if the Group’s performance:

e  provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

e creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o do not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the contract
costs incurred up to the end of the reporting period as
a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Sales of properties

(b)

(c)

For property development and sales contract for
which the control of the property is transferred
at a point in time, revenue is recognised when
the property is accepted by the customer, or
deemed as accepted according to the contract,
which is the point in time when the customer has
the ability to direct the use of the property and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property, and the Group has present right
to payment and the collection of consideration is
probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effect of a financing component if it is
significant.

Rental income

Rental income from properties being let under
operating leases is recognised on a straight line
basis over the lease terms.

Service income

Revenue from services is recognised in the

accounting period in which the services are
rendered.

4.25 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements (other than those involving
estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts
recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
the directors of the Company have made the following
judgements that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements
(apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt with
below).

(a) Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making judgements by the directors of the
Company, at a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events and conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The directors of the Company believe that
the liquidity of the Group can be maintained in the
coming twelve-month period from the end of the
reporting period after taking into the considerations
as detailed in note 2. The directors of the Company
also believe that the Group will have sufficient cash
resources to satisfy its future working capital and other
financing requirements for the next twelve months from
the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4, ECL are measured as an
allowance for impairment equal to 12-month ECL for
financial assets classified as “performing”, or lifetime
ECL for financial assets under “underperforming”
or “non-performing”). An asset moves to
“underperforming” when its credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does
not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an
asset has significantly increased, the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a) Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair values in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. The
fair values of investment properties are determined by
independent professional qualified valuers, Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited (“Vincorn”), who hold
recognised relevant professional qualification. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions and
estimations, which were subject to uncertainties and
might materially differ from actual results. In making
these assumptions and estimations, reasonable
consideration has been given to the underlying
assumptions based on market conditions existing at
the end of the reporting period. These estimates are
regularly compared to available market information for
similar type of properties in nearby locations.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of investment properties was approximately
RMB132,560,000 (2023: RMB119,600,000), with the fair
value losses on investment properties of approximately
RMB12,528,000 (2023: RMB2,920,000) recognised
during the year 31 December 2024.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

5 EEGHEFRAEE)

fhET TR EMNEERIR(F)

(a) REWFEH L FE

BREVMEDREASEN S
BRELAFEIE REME
M AFEBTEXRBANERRE
BEXEMMBUEXSERM
BEGL AR EAERAT
(h=DEE - FHEMEEDR
BETRRRMGHFAF/LE  EX
THRREZZE AEeRE
RERBEAZR - FHZF
BRELMGEFE  EREFREH
RHEHRAAEERMEBMERR -
% fh At & B AR R AR
BB ENFF T 5 E R #
TTH R o

R2024F12 A31H - R EYEN
IR E LA A R 132,560,000
70 (20234 : A R #119,600,000
J0) 0 K R E2024F12A31H
FEFEANFBREEMEDND
FEEEY A ARE12,528,000
J0(2023%F : A R #2,920,000
JL) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Net realisable value of properties held or under
development for sale

The directors of the Company make provision for
properties held or under development for sale based on
the estimated net realisable value of such properties.
Determination of net realisable value of such properties
involved significant accounting estimates on the future
market prices, selling expenses and the costs to
completion with reference to the recent market prices
and selling expenses of similar property types in the
same project or by similar properties, the forecast real
estate market conditions and the actual development
cost of the Group’s completed projects, adjusted by
current market data. Given the volatility of the property
market in the PRC, the actual net realisable value might
be higher or lower than the estimates made as at the
end of the reporting period. Any increase or decrease
in the provision would affect the Group’s operating
performance in future years.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of the properties held or under development for
sale was approximately RMB6,597,699,000 (2023:
RMB7,521,685,000), net of provision for properties
held or under development for sale of approximately
RMB371,581,000 (2023: RMB213,263,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c) Impairment assessment on prepayments for

construction cost

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of
the Company reviews the carrying amount of the
prepayments for construction cost to identify if there
is any indication for possible impairment. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. In assessing whether
there is any indication of possible impairment on the
prepayments for construction cost, the Group has
considered the recoverable amount with reference to
the fair value of the respective property development
project and estimated cost of sale in which such
prepayments for construction cost related to.

As at 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company
concluded that there was no indication of possible
impairment in relation to prepayments for construction
cost of approximately RMB12,683,000 (20283:
RMB126,245,000) as at 31 December 2024.
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

5 EEGHEFRAEE)
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Efth fE W 5% I8 79 5L 16 7% 1

(d) Allowance for impairment of other receivables

The allowance for impairment of other receivables are
based on assumptions and estimates used in the ECL
model. The Group uses significant judgements and
estimates in making these assumptions and selecting
inputs in the ECL model, based on the Group’s
historical experience and forward-looking information
at the end of the reporting period. Changes in these
assumptions and estimates could materially affect
the result of the assessment and it may be necessary
to make additional allowance for impairment in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of other
receivables was approximately RMB354,504,000 (2023:
RMB436,050,000), net of allowance for impairment of
other receivables of approximately RMB58,768,000
(2023: RMB54,279,000). Provision of allowance for
impairment of other receivables of approximately
RMB4,489,000 (2023: reversal of RMB3,265,000) has
been recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e) LAT of the PRC
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(e) HEjL i 1EH

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However,
since the implementation and settlement of the tax
varies among various tax jurisdictions in cities of
the PRC, significant judgements and estimates are
required in determining the amount of the LAT. The
Group recognises the LAT based on management’s
best estimates according to its understanding of the
interpretation of tax rules and latest practice of local
tax jurisdictions in the cities where the Group’s projects
are located. The final tax outcome could be materially
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
and these differences will impact the current income
tax and the deferred income tax in the periods in
which such taxes have been finalised with local tax
authorities.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, income
tax expense arising from LAT was approximately
RMB61,114,000 (2023: RMB70,518,000), comprising
of (i) current income tax expense arising from LAT of
approximately RMB15,537,000 (2023: RMB38,979,000);
and (ii) deferred tax expense arising from LAT of
approximately RMB45,577,000 (2023: RMB31,539,000)
has been recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss and included in income tax expense.
As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying amount of
the deferred income tax liability arising from LAT was
approximately RMB28,727,000 (2023: deferred income
tax asset of RMB16,850,000).
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 5 BEEGI{AFTRHEE)

ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
fhET T EMNEERIR(F)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f) Current and deferred income tax (fl EHREEZFEH

The Group is subject to corporate income tax in the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for corporate income tax. There are
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that we initially recorded,
such difference will impact the current income tax
and deferred tax provision in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain deductible
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when the directors of the Company consider to be
probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation
may be different.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the
deferred income tax asset, after off-setting certain
deferred income tax liabilities, was approximately
RMB120,994,000 (2023: RMB146,920,000).
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(9) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group’s non-financial assets (including property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets and prepayments included in other receivables
and prepayments) are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has exercised
judgements and estimates, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators of
possible impairment that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use
of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
pre-tax discount rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the revenue growth rate and discount rates in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and the recoverable
amount based on value in use.

As at 31 December 2024, in view of the indication of
possible impairment, the Group performed impairment
assessment on (i) property, plant and equipment with
carrying amount of approximately RMB29,935,000
(2023: RMB35,454,000); (ii) right-of-use assets
of RMB13,216,000 (2023: RMB13,184,000); (iii)
intangible assets of approximately RMB12,370,000
(2023: RMB13,098,000); and (iv) prepayments for
construction cost included in other receivables and
prepayments of approximately RMB12,683,000 (2023:
RMB126,245,000). No impairment losses have been
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks comprising market risk (including currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(a) Market risk

()

Currency risk

The Group is principally engaged into the
development, sale and management of
properties solely in the PRC with almost
all transactions denominated in RMB. In
addition, the majority of the Group’s assets
and liabilities are denominated in RMB.
Accordingly, the Group is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk. Given such,
the directors of the Company concluded that
the currency risk is minimal and hence no
sensitivity analysis was presented.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
directors of the Company monitor foreign
exchange exposure, if any, and will consider
hedging significant foreign exchange
exposure should the need arise.

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to certain bank borrowings
and other long-term borrowings with fixed
interest rate. The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
cash at banks included in the cash and
cash equivalents, certain bank borrowings
and certain other long-term borrowings
with variable interest rates. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate
of interests so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of interest rates quoted by the
People’s Bank of China.

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for financial instruments at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2028: 50 basis points) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s profit before income tax would
decrease/increase by approximately
RMB2,307,000 (2023: RMB108,000) mainly
resulted by increased/decrease in interest
expense of variable-rate borrowings.
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6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6 EREMEREE)

(CONTINUED)
6.1 TRERREE (&)

6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (b) EEREE

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk, without taking

FERBRERAERRS
HFEAREBTARE®
MEBHALEESRZHBFE
KH R B o R20245F128
SIH ASEABRERS

into account any collaterals held or other credit HFEFTREBITEBER
enhancements, which will cause a financial loss to 5= B 1R 1 B 75 B (R T A B
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation BEYYBHBERNEZKREE

by the counterparties and financial guarantees
provided by the Group, is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the amount of contingent
liabilities in relation to financial guarantees issued
by the Group as disclosed in note 38.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
other receivables, contract costs, restricted bank
deposits, cash at banks and financial guarantee
contracts.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company have delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. Other monitoring procedures are also
in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.

(i) Restricted bank deposits and cash at banks

The credit risk on restricted bank deposits
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and cash at banks is limited because the TERTENEER

counterparties are banks with high credit RER - REZHEHE

ratings assigned by international credit-rating REOBFTARERS
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6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Financial guarantees

The Group has policies in place to ensure
that sales are made to purchasers with an
appropriate financial strength and appropriate
percentage of down payments. The Group
has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of the Group’s property units and
provided guarantees to secure obligations
of such purchasers for repayments. If a
purchaser defaults on the payment of its
mortgage loan during the guarantee period,
the bank holding the guarantee may demand
the Group to repay the outstanding principal
of the loan and any interest accrued thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group
is entitled to take over the legal title and
possession of the related properties after
the relevant legal procedures to recover any
amounts paid by the Group to the bank. In
this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.
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6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6 EREMEREE)

(CONTINUED)
6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 6.1 LRARREE &)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE(E)

(i) REERE)

(i) Financial guarantees (Continued)

The Group has granted guarantees to AEBEDRAEE—
an associate of the Group (note 38(b)). If & AR ER
the associate defaults on the repayment (Pt 5E38(b)) o fia B =
of shareholder’s loans on schedule, the NAElRpEIZ R E R E
shareholder of the associate might demand ERRER BEA
the Group to repay certain outstanding ARREAIgEE EK
balance and interests accrued thereon. rEEEERTKRE

Under such circumstances, the Group is B Lot B A

entitled to obtain future repayment from the
associate through sales of its properties
under development or properties held for
sale. The directors of the Company consider
the associate has sufficient assets for the
repayment so that the credit risk is limited.
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6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Other receivables

The Group closely monitors these other
receivables to ensure actions are taken to
recover these balances in the case of any risk
of default.

The Group uses four categories for other
receivables which reflect their credit risk
and how the allowance for impairment is
determined for each of those categories.
These internal credit risk ratings are aligned
to external credit ratings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6

(CONTINUED)

6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iii)  Other receivables (Continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning
the Group’s ECL model is as follows:

Category
£l

Group definition of category
B Rl A B R E

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

TR ERERE(E)

6.1 cRIAREE &)
(b) EEREE(E)

(i) H ot fE U 5 B (4E)
TEANEEESHEE
EEEVNBREE
UNINE

Basis for recognition of allowance
for impairment

BARAREREBENEE

Performing
IE®

Underperforming

2P

Non-performing

TR

Write-off
i 58

Customers have a low risk of default
and a strong capacity to meet
contractual cash flows or has not been
a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and that are
not credit impaired

EFPENRBBRE YEAEBRRESE
RARERENESN LBV LHERU
REERRITEAEBEME S ELR
=& /A

Receivables for which there is a
significant increase in credit risk
FBRFBSRNEERBRBRZLM

Financial assets are assessed as credit
impaired

CREERTGAAEBEERE

Interest and/or principal repayments
are more than 2 years past due and
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery

FIEBR SRt BHaHBR2F I
BEEBmMEEKRE

12 month ECL. Where the expected
lifetime of an asset is less than 12
months, expected losses are measured
at its expected lifetime.
PREABHEERE WEENES
FHAOM2EA - BERERZARE
HEHTE -

Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired
PHAREERBE-VELREER
&

Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
CHRBEEFR-HBRGEERE

Asset is written-off

MHEE
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6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6 ErRERERE)
(CONTINUED)
6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 6.1 LRARREE &)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE (&)
(iii)  Other receivables (Continued) (i) il JE W E (4E)
The tables below detail the credit quality of TREFMAEBHEM
the Group’s other receivables, as well as the BWHRIENEEE X -
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by LA R 7N &8 (8] B B &
credit risk category. AEERBUREE
[ B 28 Bl &l 53) e
External Internal 12 month Gross Allowance Net
credit credit or Lifetime carrying for carrying
rating rating ECL amount impairment amount
128 A
M g 2HAEH
FEIR FEIE GEEE REAE HERE EBEFE
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
AREFn AREFrn AREFR
Other receivables, N/A  Performing 12 month 360,642 (6,138) 354,504
as at 31 December ECL
2024
Hth B UK 5RE TEA E¥ 12BREH
R2024512A318 FEEBR
N/A Non- Lifetime 52,630 (52,630) -
performing ECL
TEA TR 2HEH
FEEE

413,272 (58,768) 354,504
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HE2024FE12A31A L EE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6 TrRIEPREEGE
(CONTINUED)
6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 6.1 LRAREE (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE(E)
(iii)  Other receivables (Continued) (i) il JE WK E (4E)
External Internal 12 month Gross Allowance Net
credit credit  or Lifetime carrying for carrying
rating rating ECL amount  impairment amount
1218 A5
ohEp QL RS
FEIHR GEIR GEER EEEE RAERE RHEEE
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
ANREFrT AREFT AREFRT
Other receivables, N/A Performing 12 month 437,189 (1,139) 436,050
as at 31 December ECL
2023
Hith el 38 - TiEH E% 12EABH
#2023%12A318 FEBR
N/A Non- Lifetime 53,140 (53,140 =
performing ECL
AHEA TR THES
FEER
490,329 (54,279) 436,050

Details of the movement of the allowance for
impairment of other receivables are set out in

note 25.
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6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

The directors of the Company aim to maintain
sufficient cash through internally generated sales
proceeds and an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities to meet its operation needs and
commitments in respect of property projects.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as set out in
note 2 and the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to fulfil its financial obligations as and when
they fall due at least the coming twelve months
from the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements and the details of which are
set out in note 2.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay or agreed repayment dates.
Specifically, other long-term borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of
the banks choosing to exercise their rights.

The table includes both principal and interest cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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H E2024F 12 A31H L EE
6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6 EmEKREREE)
(CONTINUED)
6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 6.1 LEAREE (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) “EEZLEE (&)
As at 31 December 2024 72024%12H31H

On demand Total
or Within 1 Between Between Undiscounted Carrying
year 1to2years 2to5years  Cash flows amount

REDFY RERE
154 R 1525 2258 SREE REE
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETL ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFZ
Trade and other payables BENEMEMTE 1,521,873 - - 1,521,873 1,521,873
Bank borrowings RITIEH 395,794 190,882 223,821 810,497 758,900
Other long-term borrowings A RAER 272,213 52,462 19,099 343,774 305,577
Lease liabilities HEARE 6,914 4,090 9,338 20,342 15,050
2,196,794 247,434 252,258 2,696,486 2,601,400
Financial guarantee contracts HRERAR 6,840,008 - - 6,840,008 6,840,008

As at 31 December 2023 R2023%F12 A31H

On demand Total
or Within 1 Between Between  Undiscounted Carrying
year 1to2years 2105 years Cash flows amount

REAA REBRR
ENR 1226 2%5F EmeE REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ANRETFT AREFTT AREFn AREFT AREFR
Trade and other payables ZHREMERFTE 1,720,091 - - 1,720,091 1,720,091
Bank borrowings RITEH 205,603 216,280 29,918 451,801 415,400
Other long-term borrowings At R BEH 533,641 27,144 13,402 574,187 533,229
Lease liabilities HEaRE 7,711 5,319 5,647 18,677 15,564
2,467,046 248,743 48,967 2764756 2,684,284
Financial guarantee contracts ~ BIBERAR 7,187,911 - - 7,187,911 7,187,911
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6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial
guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts
the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the
guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of
the reporting period, the directors of the Company
consider that it is more likely than no amount will
be payable under the arrangement. However, this
estimate is subject to changes depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee.

Other long-term borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the “on demand
or within 1 year” time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amount of these other
long-term borrowings amounted to nil (2023:
RMB90,000,000). Taking into account the Group’s
consolidated financial position, the directors of the
Company do not believe that it is probable that
the borrower will exercise their discretionary rights
to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that such other long-term
borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal
and interest cash outflows are as follows:

As at 31 December 2024

6 TREREEE)

6.1 TRERREE (&)

Between
1to 2 years

1225
RMB’000
AREFT

(c) HEEZREMRE(E)

I BIERARGTAD
THREREEREENY T
THRHREHERTENRG
AT AEEREEBELR
A ETERZ e BESR
MEREHE RERSH
Xﬁﬁﬂ’$ﬁﬂ%$%
BEBARENERRIZEAR
CHYEEAENSHE -
A &ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂ?ﬁ
AR IR 7 IR B R B AT A2 AL

g
K)L
Jo
w
3
JHE

%ﬁm%%ﬁ$%
%E B E(023FE: A B
90,000, 00075) Z &
%lmﬁ W%#ﬂ

7§$T 5B 5K
HEM\%KiﬁﬁﬁT
ARBEERE ZS5H
tEHERBEER B

&
ﬁ

oo I8 Bt B I M

%* > -

FEERRREARER - B
ERNAE RANEEER
HAEgEmT
M2024%12831H
Total
Between Undiscounted Carrying
2to5years  Cash flows amount
KER

2E58 BERAH FEE
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETZ

Within 1 year
1R/
RMB’000
ARETR
Other long-term borrowings [t 7 B+ {6 ST
with repayment on demand AR EBEH

clause -
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e P BRRME

HZE2024F12A31BILFE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6 SrRiERERHE)
(CONTINUED)
6.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 6.1 LRAREE (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) HEELREFEE)
As at 31 December 2023 7202312 H31H
Total
Between Between  Undiscounted Carrying
Within 1 year ~ 1to2years  2to5 years Cash flows amount
REER

15/ 1225 255F HaRaB FEE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANRETT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFZL

Other long-term borrowings P A 7R R EDf+ 15 3L
with repayment on demand RS

clause 50,400 44,640 20,880 115,920 90,000
6.2 Categories of financial instruments 6.2 SR TEEA

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTF T

Financial assets at amortised cost REENTGTENSR

BE

— Other receivables — E b JE R IE 347,504 436,050
— Restricted bank deposits —ZBRHIERITFE R 156,874 165,591
— Cash and cash equivalents - BHekREFEYD 253,342 274,808
757,720 876,449
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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HE2024E12A31A L EE

6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

6.2

6.3

Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

6 TREREEGE)

6.2 ©R T EERI(E

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR For

Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKNATENSR

=i

— Trade and other payables — B K EMEFIE 1,521,873 1,720,091
— Bank borrowings —RITER 758,900 415,400
— Other long-term borrowings —Ht REE 305,577 533,229
2,586,350 2,668,720
Financial guarantee contracts BB ERER 6,941,308 7,295,311

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. Gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings,
including interest bearing borrowings and lease
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as total equity, as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position, plus net debt.
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H E2024F12A31H IFFE
6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6 SREMREEE)
(CONTINUED)
6.3 Capital risk management (Continued) 6.3 EXEEE (&)

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2024 were as

MR20244%12 A31H B 18 18 Lt &

follows: ONE

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETFor

Bank borrowings RITER 758,900 415,400
Other long-term borrowings Hih R HE XK 305,577 533,229
Lease liabilities HEAaE 15,050 15,564
Total borrowings ER 1,079,527 964,193
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BWRERREEEY (253,342) (274,808)
Net debt B T8 826,185 689,385
Total equity S EER 1,594,070 1,858,041
Total capital BB 2,420,255 2,547,426
Gearing ratio 1818 & 34.14% 27.06%

The externally imposed capital requirements for the
Group are: (i) in order to maintain its listing on the
Stock Exchange, it has to have a public float of at least
25% of the shares of the Company; and (i) to meet
financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing
borrowings.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars
on substantial share interests showing the non-public
float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with
the 25% limit throughout the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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WA RARBRHMBAEEE D
5% NBIERE  R(i) BT A
BERMEHTIERE -

AEBTEHEDRRGBEERD
EEHTEREEZNORS
BERIELDBRERE - ZREHE
AR AR B 20245 2023
F12ABEFEAN—ERNA
25%H) PR H ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

6 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

6.4 Fair value measurement

Fair value of financial instruments that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors of the Company considered that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements are not materially differ from their

respective fair values.

7 REVENUE

Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of properties,
rental income and service income for the year ended 31
December 2024. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the

year is as follows:

6 TREREEE)

6.4 AVEFE

WHEBEERFETELL
BTAZAFE

RRREZERR NEAUE
BRPREBERAARNE R
EERTRAEBEMNRAEEREM
MAFELEEAEZR -

L/ON

W A 8 B £2024F12 318 I &F
EHeEwE BB ARRBRBKRA
EENRA - AEEBFRKRAZSD
MranT

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥FT ARMTF T
Revenue from contracts with REEEEMHRREELSE
customers within the scope of 15 EERNEEFTIMN
HKFRS 15 ERBHW A
Sales of properties (note) HEMEN ) 2,746,959 3,554,210
Service income AR 7 U A 5,371 2,668
2,752,330 3,556,878
Revenue from other source REHEHAMEFZWA
Rental income el A 9,806 8,720
2,762,136 3,565,598

Note: Include in sales of property was sales of properties to
related parties of approximately RMB2,831,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2024: nil) (note 39(b)(vi)).

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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HiqE - & E2023FE 12 A318 I FE & - 8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
timing of recognition:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

7 WAE)

RHEAEEEANDNETLITLNG
R A :

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT AR T

Timing of revenue recognition RSz EE
At a point in time T 3 B ) Bh 2,746,959 3,554,210
Over time W B 5,371 2,668
2,752,330 3,556,878

All revenue are generated from the PRC during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company have been identified
as the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”).
Management of the Group has determined the operating
segments based on the internal reports reviewed by the
CODM, which are used to allocate resources and assess
performance.

The Group is principally engaged in property development
in the PRC. The CODM reviews the operating results of the
business as one reporting segment to assess performance
and make decision about resources to be allocated.
Revenue and (loss)/profit after income tax are the measures
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resources
allocation and performance assessment. Therefore, no
segment information is presented.

All of the Group’s revenue are derived in the PRC for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, and all of the
non-current assets of the Group were located in the PRC
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. There was no revenue
derived from a single external customer that accounts for
10% or more of the Group’s revenues for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

R EH £2024F N2023%12/H31H 1k
FE o RTAWRAYEREES -

7 ERE R

ARAATESFCHRERRIEL
ERRE(ZTERERRED K
SEEEECRBIEZLEREE
FEMARDEEREFEREDN

REET P E TR

AEBTEEPEREMERE -

BREARER -BE2BHBE
BIEBMEEEE  AF[HEREMN
KBLERIA D EAEHIRE - M =E
ERERREZRURIERERD A
EEEFENEERBARKAE
Bk (EE) ME- Bt BiEE
5 BBE R o

H 20244 K2023%F12A31H I+ F
B AEEMNEZPRAHYREFE -
B 20244 2023512 A31H » &
SEEHETHEEAURFTE -
It o - B B2024 5 2023412 A31
AIEFE  REE—IIBEFPHI
A AL ANE B ARIT10% KA L o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HZE2024F12A31BILFE
9 OTHER INCOME 9 HtWA
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFor
Management fee income EEBERA - 2,830
Others E A, 806 1,241
806 4,071
10 OTHER LOSSES, NET 10 HftgEE  F8
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFor
Donations B 358 2,218
Penalties, fines and compensations S SeREE 589 356
Exchange losses, net fE X & 55 30 18
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net HENBAREIE  F8
(note 35) (%1 7235) - 4,053
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  WMERZED
equipment &5 18 25 37
Gain on early termination of lease REHRIEHEERS
(note 20) (#1a£20) (839) —
Others HAh 757 (1,421)
920 5,261

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

11 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS)

11 BIWA (K Z)

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥FT ARMTF T
Finance income B R A
— Interest income on bank deposits — IRITHFERF B A 695 1,073
Finance costs B 7 B AN
— Interest on bank and other borrowings — $R 17 & H b (&3 &
and other long-term borrowings H b & B8 5K A9 A (58,352) (69,668)
— Interest on lease liabilities —HEaGENE (607) (930)
(58,959) (70,598)
Less: Amount capitalised (note) B BRI R (M) 58,352 69,668
Finance costs B 755 AR AR (607) (930)
Finance income, net BT - JFEE 88 143

Hfat: RE E2024F12A31B L EE &
NMEBBMEK AT B REEER
& E B F5.54% (20234 : 7.41%)
WEREEFTE -

Note: Finance costs capitalised during the year ended 31
December 2024 are calculated by applying a capitalisation
rate of 5.54% (2023: 7.41%) per annum on qualifying assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

12 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

(Loss)/profit before income tax for the year has been arrived

12 BRRFFGHLAT (B51R), FIE

FARAEHRAER),FBERA

at after charging: BRUATHEBEREL:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TFT AR TFor
Staff costs (including directors’ BEIRA(BEESHE
emoluments (note 15)) (note 14) (B a£15) (KT i 14) 99,834 110,240
Auditor’s remuneration % &R B &
— audit services — BRI 4,800 2,987
— non-audit services — FBEFRE 400 —
Depreciation charge on property, M BERSHETERX
plant and equipment, included in (FTAFTELR )
administrative expenses 6,749 8,201
Depreciation charge on right-of-use FRAEEENERY
assets, included in administrative (BTATTHR R X)
expenses 4,488 3,832
Amortisation charge on intangible assets, %4 & # 55
included in administrative expenses (GTAFTEL R ) 728 727
Expenses relating to short-term leases, HEMEERENRX
included in administrative expenses (BT AFTEL R &) 45 115
Expenses relating to leases of low-value EEEBEEEMEMREN
assets, included in administrative X (GTATTE R X)
expenses 6 24
Cost of properties recognised as MR AR EK R
expenses 2,446,970 3,019,928
Provision for properties held or under BIEREXHEFRFEN
development for sale, included in cost E kX
of sales (Gt AHE K A) 158,318 95,062

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13 INCOME TAX EXPENSES

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

13 FEHMAX

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥FT AR F oL
Current income tax BNHAFT 15

— PRC Corporate Income Tax — PR EMEM 62,731 28,356
— PRC LAT — Bt (E R 15,537 38,979
78,268 67,335
Deferred income tax (note 34) BEIEFT BB (A 2234) 25,074 29,719
103,342 97,054

PRC Corporate Income Tax FEEEMEBH

Under the Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT”) Law of the
PRC, the CIT rate applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC from 1 January 2008 is 25%.

The CIT Law and its implementation rules impose a
withholding tax of 10% for dividends distributed by a PRC
entity to its immediate holding company incorporated
outside the PRC for profits generated beginning on or after
1 January 2008 and undistributed profits generated prior to
1 January 2008 are exempted from such withholding tax.
A lower withholding tax rate of 5% may be applied when
the immediate holding companies are incorporated in Hong
Kong according to the tax treaty arrangement between the
PRC and Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax liabilities of
approximately RMB128,115,000 (2023: RMB133,776,000)
have not been recognised in respect of the taxable
temporary differences associated with the un-distributable
profits of approximately RMB1,281,154,000 (2023:
RMB1,337,762,000) because the Group is in a position
to control the timing of the reversal of such temporary
differences and it is probable that such temporary
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

REBE(HREARKMBE L EMEHIE)
(TEEMEHIA]D - K20085F1 718
AR B P AN 5% [ Y AR B A ST O B BB
REIMEEMBEHREB25% -

CEMSREREEHMEIEE -
B E 8 5t B2008F1 A1 & 2 14
E A B I B A B R AR B R A A I AR
UWEBEERAGRERE AR
10% H) Bt = A TE B - ™ 742008
F1A1E Z AT E £ W K 5 &K 5B #3
REBEINB - RIBEFBRHEREER
MBI ELTH  BEEEERAR
REBEMA S AT E A& A5%
TEMBRBE -

MR2024%F128318 - I K L & A
2R T B 49 A R #1,281,154,0007T
(20234 : A R #1,337,762,0007T)
HEMNERTEEREZBEIOA
R #128,115,0007T (20234 : A R &
138,776,0007T) HY 3 (& 7% 18 & 1& -
EAAEBEREHITH#D A BT
EHAENM BEBEERETRA
FERMARRRAIGETSHWEE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

13 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

LAT

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% (2023: 30% to 60%) on the appreciation of land value,
being the proceeds from sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including lease charges for land use rights and
all property development expenditures, and is included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as income tax
expenses.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was provided as the
Group’s subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong did not have
assessable profit subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Overseas corporate income tax

No provision for taxation has been recognised for
companies incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands as they were not subject to any tax
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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13 FRE B (&)

LB ER

o Bt b 3 (A R Y 1% BB30% £60%
(20234F : 30% £ 60%) K R # T K &
T EESK T EREAL
EWEMBFIERAINRBZ (21
THFRAEEES R RT A EE
BHRX) WREGABERAIIER
BRAX -

HFERMNEHR

#H = 20244 2023412 A31H I+ F
B -BREAEERBEBTMKLZD
MBARYEES EHMNEEFISE
MOWERTFE  WEEELE B
METEE -

BHNEEFTER

H £2024F K2023%F12A318 I+ &
B BREFRSHSRABHERR
HEEMASH AR EABRMEINMN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024F12A31R L FE
13 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 13 FiS P (&)
The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled FAMGHASJHEGAERREKR
to the (loss)/profit before income tax per the consolidated BBRFTE B AT(EE) FEEERN
statement of profit or loss as follows: ™
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR TFor
(Loss)/profit before income tax AT SR AT (B 18), %8 (160,629) 133,871
Tax at domestic tax rate of 25% 1 K B R 25% (2023 4F :
(2023: 25%) 25%) st E R B IE (40,157) 33,468
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for 7~ 8] A A 1 %4 89 53 52 9 7% 75
tax purposes Tz 25,147 16,269
PRC LAT Bt I E R 76,306 81,031
Tax credit on PRC CIT FREMERSEHOTER S (19,076) (20,258)
Tax effect of withholding tax on 7R o3 BE ) B Bk TR 0 B A9
undistributed profits % 5 & - (9,208)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERNBIBBEEHB B
TE 61,122 —
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses FREMAERNRNIEBEERE
previously not recognised s E = (4,248)
103,342 97,054
Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 34. EREER B RS &N M 34 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

14 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

EMOLUMENTS)

14 ETRHRA(BRESHE)

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMEFT ARET T

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e ERRHEHMER 83,329 91,058

Contributions to retirement benefit [\ 3R PR 48 F 51 2] 4 5k
schemes 16,505 19,182
99,834 110,240

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Under the scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% (2023:
5%) of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 (2023: HK$30,000).

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The total expense charged to profit or loss of approximately
RMB16,505,000 (2023: RMB19,182,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in
respect of the current accounting period.

There were no forfeited contributions utilised during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 to reduce future
contributions.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

AEBERBEEMERERRERERE
—fERF AR E((RESE
) -AEERAKBENEED
MR FRAXEAZGNES
FeoRIEE - BEREBEREAR
12 1E 8RR W A #95% (20234 : 5%)
A EER M HEBAFLRA
30,0007 7T, (20234 < 30,000%7T) °

REBPRAPBE KB R R E
EASATEBRREEMNEREE
BRABHENKE - ZEHBR
AIARERAKENFEHAH—EED
KRB ERE - ARENREES -
AEEEZRKRBA B HE T A
—BERBMIETEMR

BEETHIBRNAIBAEOAAR
#16,505,0007T (2023%F : A R #
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

15 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS,
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments of the Company’s directors paid/

payable by the companies comprising the Group are
set out below:

15 EX - ABBSHMALHEF
kEEmkaREEENE

(a) EEHE<

AEBETERAENEAMA
ARRABEEHME AT

Contributions

Salaries  to retirement
and other benefit
Name of director ESfE Fees allowances schemes Total
ek HRKEH
e Hth = HE L @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AEBFT AEBFT AREFT
Year ended 31 December 2024 % 22024512 A31ALEE
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Li Xiaobing kg4 - 1,063 88 1,151
Ms. Qi Chunfeng BEEELT - 629 - 629
Mr. Wang Quan FREE - 253 65 318
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng FRELE - 854 65 919
- 2,799 218 3,017
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHITEE
directors
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TEBELE 264 - - 264
Mr. Fang Cheng FiEEE 264 - - 264
Mr. Wei Jian melrs 264 - - 264
792 - - 792
Total @it 792 2,799 218 3,809
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15 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS,

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

15 EX - ARBSHMALHEF
RiEzhkeaREZEME (&)

(a) E=HME (&)

Contributions to

Salaries retirement
and other Discretionary benefit
Name of director - £3:31 Fees allowances bonus schemes Total
\ 2ok . RERET ‘
He ﬁ%@/ﬂﬁ ML e E)
AWB000 RMB 000 AMB 000 AWB000 E’MH 000
NEETFT EETT ANEEFT ANEETT NEETT
Year ended 31 December 2023 B Z2023F12A3ALEE
Executive directors HiEZ
M. Li Xiaobing ZkEE - 1,059 203 82 1,344
Ms. Qi Chunfeng Eamit - 661 155 = 816
Mr. Wang Quan IRk - 229 129 b1 419
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng TRERE - 854 203 61 1118
= 2,808 690 204 3,697
Independent non-executive BUFHER
directors
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun ZEBRE 264 - - 264
Mr. Fang Cheng TitkE 264 - - - 264
Mr. Wei Jian Rl 264 = = 264
792 - - - 79
Total @ 792 2,803 690 204 4,489
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors R L 20244 202312 H31

of the Company as an inducement for joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director
of the Company waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

There was no chief executive who was also a director
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Discretionary bonus disclosed above were determined
by the Remuneration Committee of the Company with
reference to the individual performance.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

BLEFEE AEEHfERAQ
AESEXNEMME - (FRIN
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#H 2202449 K2023F12A31H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS,
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Except as disclosed in note 39, there were no
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company
and the director’'s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
or at any time during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 include four (2023: four) directors of the
Company whose emoluments are disclosed above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining one (2023: one)
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2024 is as
follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

156 EX - ABBSHMALHEF

RiEshkaREZEME (&)

(a)

(b)

ESNME (&)

EERXE  ZHBEERAH
EAXED

Br M FESOFT BT B N B =
2024 K2023F12A318 1k &
€ R st A B 22024 F 20234
122A3B L FEEMAER - #
EEETNAASEESEH
MEARS  LHRER 1
BRAEARBMARGESERE
BMEEMEEATIREREE
RNz (T REZEREE) -

TEREFHMAL

B E22024F12A318 - F & -
AEENAIEZ RS THALTE
$& 1Y & (20234 - 10 &) AR &
B FENHSEEERNL
X o B E2024%F12A318 It F
- BT —&(2023F : —
FOANTHEE DRI EF T

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR T
Salaries, allowances and EAXFHe  E2HE
contributions to retirement benefit 0 3R PR 48 FI 5T &) 4 5K
schemes 786 772
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

15 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS,
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

15 EX - ABBSHMALHER
RiEshkeaREZEME (&)

(b) TERESHMAL(H)

T 5 & A B 2

Number of employee

EBE A
2024 2023
20244 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,0007% 7T 1 1

(c) For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
no director or any of the five highest paid individuals
received any emolument from the Group as an
inducement to join or as compensation for loss of
office.

(d) Senior management’s emoluments
The emoluments paid/payable to senior management

of the Group (excluding directors of the Company) fell
within the following band:

(c) # Z=2024%F K2023F12H31H

LEE YEEEHEMAH
REHMALEAEEKRIE
MM ESMANREHIER
RERLAE -

(d) SREZEME

EN/ ERAEESRERRE
(TEFEARAEZER)HENE
R

Number of employee

EEAHY
2024 2023
20244 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z %1,000,000% 7T 1 1
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16 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the Group’s (loss)/profit attributable to owners of
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year ended 31 December 2024
and presented as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

16 ER(ER) &7

BREAREF(ER) B IIE
H E2024%12A31H IF FE AR &
EHEAREALSE(ER) FBEK
NBBEITEBRMNEFHIERTEY
=X lNE

2024 2023
20244 20234
The Group’s (loss)/profit attributable to M EEREAREE
owners of the Company for the purpose  (E518) B 5 &~A 7 ¥
of calculating basic and diluted (loss)/ EAEBGAEE(EBE),/
earnings per share (RMB’000) FMEAREFT) (270,424) 40,944
Weighted average number of ordinary M EBREAR#E
shares in issue for the purpose of (BB BFME BT
calculating basic and diluted (loss)/ L3 AR R I B (T AR
earnings per share ('000) 1,200,000 1,200,000
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings BREARBE(HE),
per share (expressed in RMB cents) BRAARE DY BEM) (22.54) 3.41

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share was equal to the basic
(loss)/earnings per share as there were no dilutive shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

17 DIVIDENDS

No dividend was proposed during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil), nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2023: nil).

H 202445 M2023%F12A318 Ik &
B BARBECEITEERD &
BREE(ER) BINEERER
EX(EEB) 87 -

17 BB

RE E2024F12A31B It FE &
B3R A A IR B(2023 5 - £E)
B R 45 3 R DA ZR 1 48 i 3R 1 1 A
% B (20234 : &) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18 ¥% - MERRE

Furniture,
Motor Electronic fittings and Leasehold
Buildings vehicles devices equipment  improvement Total
Bl
BF AE B7i EEPET HERE @it
RMB 000 RIB 000 RIB 000 RIB 000 RMB 000 RUBO00
NGEFT NEEFT NEETT NREFT NEEFT NGEFT
At 1 January 2023 202351518
Cost R 21,993 38010 11,908 5075 24,221 101,207
Accumulated depreciation 2 (8,133) (30,789) (9.469) (3532 (12,267) (64,190)
Net book amount BEFE 13,860 7221 2439 1,543 11,954 37017
Year ended 31 December 2028 HZ2023F12A3B L EE
Opening net book amount ENEEEHE 13,860 7,201 2439 1,543 11,954 37,017
Additions RE - 5,164 1123 431 - 6,718
Disposals it - (70) (10) - - 80)
Depreciation charge TEER 907) 2,690) (1,557) [479) 2,568) 8.201)
Closing net book amount EXRATAE 12,953 962 1,995 149% 9,386 35,454
At 31 December 2023 and R2023E128 1A R
1 January 2024 202451 51R
Cost s 21,993 39,306 12,082 5498 24,221 103,100
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (9,040) 29,681) (10,087) (4,003) (14,83 (67,646)
Net book amount REFE 12,953 9,625 1,99 1,495 9386 3,454
Year ended 31 December 2024 EZ2024F1283 AL EE
Opening net book amount ENEAFE 12,053 9,625 1,095 1,495 9,386 35,454
Additions RE - 010 235 66 n 1,283
Disposals e - (28) (21) 4 = (53)
Depreciation charge fEER (905) (3,417) (986) (541) (900) (6,749)
Closing net hook amount EXRAFE 12,048 7,000 1,223 1,016 8,558 29,935
At 31 December 2024 R2024512831R
Cost AR 21,993 39,959 11,882 5,490 24,203 103,617
Accumulated depreciation 2ihE (9,945) (32,869) (10,659) (4.474) (15,735) (73,682)
Net book amount REFE 12,048 7,090 1,28 1,016 8,558 29,935

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HZE2024F12A31BILFE
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 1% - MERRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Buildings with aggregate carrying amount of approximately M2024F12A318 - B HBEL A
RMB11,835,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: A [ #11,835,0007T (20235 : A
RMB12,692,000) were pledged as collaterals for the Group’s #12,692,00070) W EFE G HIEA
bank borrowings (note 30). 75 B & IR 1T 18 BA IR 1R @ (B
#£30) °
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19 BEYHE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFor
At the beginning of the reporting period R 24 Hi %)) 119,600 122,520
Transfer from properties held or under BEFELEXMBEFREF
development for sale (note 24) VI8 A (B i7F24) 25,488 —
Fair value losses ~NEEEE (12,528) (2,920)
At the end of the reporting period iR B R 132,560 119,600
Amounts recognised in consolidated statement of MREVERARGSBERRNE
profit or loss for investment properties L]
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AEETT

Gross rental income from investment REMERS WA REN )

properties (note) (9,806) (8,720)
Fair value losses on investment properties & & ¥ % A F B 5 18 12,528 2,920
Note: The directors of the Company concluded that the direct B ARRESHERBE REZE

operating expenses from investment properties that 2024%F }&2023% 127318 1F F
generated rental income or not generating rental income E-REELEHESK AL &
were insignificant during the years ended 31 December EEXHEBRANKENENE
2024 and 2023. BEEBERXETERX -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy

When measuring fair value of investment properties, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset
if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics
of inputs, as follows:

Level 1 Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRQA

19 REYE(E

DFERER

REAEREMENRTFER - fm
L2RERAERRREEEER
CEEBRTFEENRFR  AIAKE

EERZERH -

FEMEENAFEFEGERD
L2REEFBARAREEMAZE
EERREAE HNBEBBZEE
HEREANRAREERZEE
ERRERENEMTHE2EEE
EREEMEAEET o

AEBRBEEMBERTERY A
B R F B BUR 5 A A E Bl
AEATE BECHREBITERR
BABBIEERLERTABRE
BWABE - AEME  AKERE
BABENFEBERFEFESR
AT=1EF 4 :

F—H BHEAREEXRABHEER
M5 L2 mECREHE) -

F-_H HAVEAEMEBEAX
MREERBAREIE
EREERAUBENG[BER
il

i
1l
25

HBRAFEFEMETBEAX
MEEBXRBABE T
AERMGERm -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Fair value of the investment properties located in the PRC
at 31 December 2024 using significant unobservable
inputs under fair value hierarchy Level 3 amounted to
approximately RMB132,560,000 (2023: RMB119,600,000).

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy Levels as of the date
of the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy Levels
1, 2 and 3 for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 by independent
professional qualified valuers, Vincorn, who hold recognised
relevant professional qualification and have recent
experience in the locations and segments of the investment
properties. For all investment properties, the fair values are
measured at their highest and best use.

Valuation techniques

The Group has eight (2023: eight) investment properties
as at 31 December 2024, all of which are located in Henan
Province, the PRC.

The valuation of investment properties was determined using
the income approach (term and reversionary method) which
was based on capitalisation rate derived from an analysis of
existing tenancies.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

19 REYE(A)

DN EBRE)

M2024F12A8318 » H A X F &
BEIEBETHERTAEREG A
HEFEMNTPENEEMEDND
FEL A ARE132,560,0007T (2023
& A R#119,600,0007T) °

AEBBRASNEHBRNEMFH
BREHRMERAXFERERBEA
REH -

#H E2024%F K2023%E12A31H IF F
B RFEEBRAFE 2K3BZBI
AT E R o

FEBNLERF

& B WK E W) % R2024512 A31
B &2023F12A31BE M BIEE S
B EMBLEETHE ZHE
M EERAMEFAEEERREA
BREMEMEME KD 3BH T H
Eh o FTEREMENDREBA&
ERREEARGFERAFEE -

fh{E H 1l

N B N20245 12 A31B B N\ &
(2023F - NBR)IEEME 23BN
REBBmE -

BREMENGHEDIRBRAEE
HRERXRESREROZON
BHMNERMCREE -

#H E2024%F K2023%E12 A31H IF F

B GEREED -

2024 Annual Report
—E-MEFR

231



232

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements using

significant unobservable inputs (level 3):

19 REYF(E)

BB AEATTREGABE (5
) AFEH REHR

Relationship of

Fair value Valuation Unobservable Range of unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
FIBERBAHER
# 8 RIGIBHENATE HERE TIBERBAEE FUBRBAHEEE ATENEE
Property | 31 December 2024: Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 7% (2023: 7%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB2,670,000 (term and into account the yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2023 reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB2,880,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
mx- 2024F12R31R : WAEERRE FHOHEX EHOHET% (20235 :7%) FHRAL FHOHXEE ULTE
ARB2670000T i) BNEFELNORERARMERER  HE
2023125318 : RUREBRANEELIELRE
AR 2,880,000
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 7.5% (2023 7.5%), The higher the reversionary
taking into account the annual unit yield, the lower the fair
market rental income and unit market value
value of the comparable properties.
AROHE BHEEBETS% (20235 :75%) Fith HHEEREHE HLTE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited

BEEE (ZR) BRAF

Market unit rent of
individual unit

AR Ef g5 E
e &

ALENENFRENMSESUAR

Efm -

Market unit rent of RMB8.0 (2023: RMBB.2)
per square meter per month, using direct
market comparables and taking into
account the location and other individual
factors, such as road frontage, size of

property and facilities.

THEENHEEAREAXARESOT
(2023%: AR%821) ERERTS
HEREARMEREMERNRE  fi

M NERBRRRE

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

misENEEES B

A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (level 3):

19 REWE(E)

FREAEATIBEGARE (5
3EB) A FEFENER: (&)

(Continued)
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable Range of unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
FTTEEBAYER
Bl RIGIBENATE HERE TUEERAEE TUEER)\HEHE AYENEE
Property Il 31 December 2024 Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 6.5% (2023: 6.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB18,200,000 {term and into account the yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2023; reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB19,300,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
mE= 2024512A31A : WAEERRE FHERE EHOH%65% (20235 :65%) Fith EFHOHRXHE ULTE
ARB18200000T  HiE) TRBNEELNORERARMER  HE
2023% 12318 : BREKREBRANREEELBE -
AR #19,300,0007
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 7% (2023: 7%), taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account the annual unit market yield, the lower the fair
rental income and unit market value of value
the comparable properties.
EHEOHRX BHEERET% (20235 :7%) B RAL EHEERELS HATE

Market unit rent of
individual unit

AR Bt mH5E
e &

aMENFEERTSASRAREL
e

Market unit rent of RMB43 (2023: RMB44)
per square meter per month, using direct
market comparables and taking into
account the location and other individual
factors, such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

msEEEFAGTIRAREST
(2023% - \R¥a47) REBERTISN
QREHRAEREMENRZ - fli
Bt MERRRRIS -

BE

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

miEENREER - AR
EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (level 3):

19 REWF(E)

FREAEATIBEGARE (5
3EB) A FEFENER: (&)

(Continued)
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable Range of unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
FTTERBAYER
Bl RIGIBENATE  HERE TUEERAEE TUEER)\HEHE AYEHEE
Property I 31 December 2024 Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 4% (2023: 4%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB7,260,000 ({term and into account the yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2023; reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB7,530,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
mE= 20245128318 : WAEERRE EHERE EHEHE (20035 4%) B RAY FHOHRXEE ULTE
AR#7260000T  HiE) ENFELOORERRRMERER  HE
2023% 12318 : LG LN FdidihE L
ARE7530,0007
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 4% (2023: 4%), taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account the annual unit market yield, the lower the fair
rental income and unit market value of value
the comparable properties.
BEERE BHEEREL% (20235 : 4%) EitRA REEREHT HLTE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

Market unit rent of
individual unit

AR5 E
fe &

EENERENMSRSUAREN
k-

Market unit rent of RMB57.0 (2023
RMB59.7) per square meter per month,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account the location and
other individual factors, such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

B AEgAE TR AREETOT
(2023% : A\R¥59.77) RRERTS
HBRREHRUERAMERNRE -
el MERBERRSE

B

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

A

mRENEEER - AR
EEm



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (level 3):

19 REWE(E)

FREAEATIBEGARE (5
3EB) A FEFENER: (&)

(Continued)
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable Range of unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
FTUBREHAHER
Bl RIGIBENATE HERE TUEERAEE TUEER)\HEHE AYENEE
Property IV 31 December 2024 Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 3.8% (2023: 4.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB57,200,000 {term and into account the yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2023; reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB41,100,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
L 2024512A31A : WNEERRE  FHORE FHORE38% (20235 :4.5%) Fith FHORELE HATE
ARB57200000  HiE) TRBNEELNERERARMER  HE
2023512318 : BRERDFHRADRERELEE «
AR #41,000,0007C
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 4.3% (2023: 5%), The higher the reversionary
taking into account the annual unit yield, the lower the fair
market rental income and unit market value
value of the comparable properties.
EHEOHRX BHEERELI% (20235 : 6%) HHRE HHEERELS UATE

Market unit rent of
individual unit

ARl Efi e 55 E
e &

RENFNFRENTSEEUARE
frmfE -

BE

Market unit rent of RMB32.2 (2023: RM17.8)  The higher the market unit

per square meter per month, using direct
market comparables and taking into
account the location and other individual
factors, such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

THEENRE AT TARARER 2T
(2023% : \R¥1787) RRERTS
EBRREHRUERAMERRE -
el NERBERRSE

rent, the higher the fair
value

mEENEE R AR
EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (level 3):

19 REWF(E)

FREAEATIBEGARE (5
3EB) A FEFENER: (&)

(Continued)
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable Range of unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
FTTERBAYER
Bl RIGIBENATE  HERE TUEERAEE TUEER)\HEHE AYEHEE
Property V 31 December 2024 Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 5.5% (2023: 5.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB9,220,000 ({term and into account the yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2023; reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB9,670,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
VES 20245128318 : WAEERRE EHERE EHEHE55% (20235 :55%) Fith EFHOHRXEE ULTE
ARH920000m  HiE) TRBNEELNOREXRARMER  HE
202312318 : BREUDEPUANREE L FLEE o
AR#9,670,0007T
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 6% (2023: 6%), taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account the annual unit market yield, the lower the fair
rental income and unit market value of value
the comparable properties.
EHEOHRX BHEEREC% (20235 : 6%) FARAy HEHEEREHS HUATE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

Market unit rent of
individual unit

ARl E it 55 E
e &

EnEHERENMSRSUAREN
k-

Market unit rent of RMB19.6 (2023:
RMB20.5) per square meter per month,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account the location and
other individual factors, such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

mEENREAETIRAREI96T
(2023% : A\R¥2057) FRERTS
HBRREHRUEREMERNRE -
e NERBERRSE

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

miEENEeER AR
EEm



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (level 3):

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

19 REWE(E)

FREAEATIBEGARE (5
3EB) A FEFENER: (&)

(Continued)
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable Range of unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
FTUBREHAHER
Bl RIGIBENATE HERE TUEERAEE TUEER)\HEHE AYENEE
Property VI 31 December 2024 Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 3.5% (2023: 3.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB7,740,000 {term and into account the yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2023; reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB7,990,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
VEIN 2024512A31A : WNEERRE EHORE EHOHE35% (20235 :35%) Fith EFHOHRXEE ULTE
ARET740000T  HiE) TRBNEELNORERARMER  HE
2023512318 : BRERDFHRADRE R ELEE -
ARE7090,0007
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 4% (2023: 4%}, taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account the annual unit market yield, the lower the fair
rental income and unit market value of value
the comparable properties.
EHEORX BHEEREL% (20235 : 4%) Btk HEHEERELS HUATE

Market unit rent of
individual unit

a5 Bl 5 E
i &

aMENFEERTSASRAREL  HE

i o

Market unit rent of RMB15.3 (2023: The higher the market unit
RMB16.0) per square meter per month, rent, the higher the fair
using direct market comparables and value

taking into account the location and

other individual factors, such as road

frontage, size of property and facilities.
THEENREBATTAKARSGIT ThHELRSHRS JAT

(023% - \R¥1607) RAEHETS EHEE

EBRREHRUERAERRE

e MERBERRSE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (level 3):

19 REWF(E)

FREAEATIBEGARE (5
3EB) A FEFENER: (&)

(Continued)
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable Range of unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
FTTERBAYER
Bl RIGIBENATE  HERE TUEERAEE TUEER)\HEHE AYEHEE
Property VI 31 December 2024 Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 3.5% (2023: 3.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB28,700,000 ({term and into account the yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2023; reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB29,500,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
nEt 20245128318 : WAEERRE EHERE EHOHE35% (20235 :35%) Fith EFHOHRXEE ULTE
ARB28700000  HiE) TRBNEELNOREXRARMER  HE
202312318 : BREUDEPUANREE L L EE o
AR #29,500,0007T
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 4% (2023: 4%), taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account the annual unit market yield, the lower the fair
rental income and unit market value of value
the comparable properties.
EHEOHRX BHEEREL% (20235 : 4%) EitRAN FHEEREMS HUATE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

Market unit rent of
individual unit

fARIE g5 E
fre &

ENENERENMSRSUARES
k-

Market unit rent of RMB14.7 (2023:
RMB15.2) per square meter per month,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account the location and
other individual factors, such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

BN RE AT IRAREUIT
(2023 : AR¥15.27) - BRERE T
HBRREHRUERAMERNRE -
el MERBERRSE

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

mSEMEEHS AT
EEm
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19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (level 3):

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

19 REWE(E)

FREAEATIBEGARE (5
3EB) A FEFENER: (&)

(Continued)
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable Range of unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
FTTEEBAYER
Bl RIGIBENATE HERE TUEERAEE TUEER)\HEHE AYENEE
Property VIl 31 December 2024: Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 3.5% (2023: 3.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB1,570,000 {term and into account the yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2023; reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB1,630,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
mEN 2024512A31A : WNEERRE EHORE EHOHE35% (20235 :35%) Fith EFHOHRXEE ULTE
ARE1570000T  HiE) TRBNEELNORERARMER  HE
2023125318 BREUDEPUANREE LSBT -
AR #1,630,0007
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 4% (2023: 4%}, taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account the annual unit market yield, the lower the fair
rental income and unit market value of value
the comparable properties.
EHEORX BHEEREL% (20235 : 4%) Btk HEHEERELS HUATE

Market unit rent of
individual unit

a5 Bl 5 E
i &

aMENFEEMTSASRAREL
i

Market unit rent of RMB11.2 (2023:
RMB11.8) per square meter per month,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account the location and
other individual factors, such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

B A FAFTARARRN2T
(20235 : A\R¥1187) EREETS
HBRREHRUERAERRE -
el MERBERRNE

BE

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

mEENHEER - B
EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

19 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (level 3):
(Continued)

If the reversionary yield increased or decreased by 10%
(2023: 10%) from the parameter used by the independent
qualified valuers, the fair value of the investment properties
would have been as follows:

19 REWF(E)

FREAEATABEGABE (F
3B) A FEENER: (&)

WERBFREZBIYAERMGE
BB A2 Sat & 3 s m 2 10%
(20235 : 10%) ' "L EWHE L TFEMN
TR

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR TFor

(Decrease)/increase of fair value of the  HEWEAFECR D),

investment properties 3 50

— 10 percent increase in reversionary — 1B B3R EIE IN10%
yield (5,489) (5,209)

— 10 percent decrease in reversionary  — 18 58 B 3 &5 2 10%
yield 6,253 5,743

There will be no significant change for the fair value of the
investment properties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 if
the term yield or market unit rent of individual unit increased
or decreased by 10% from the parameter used by the
independent qualified valuers.

The Group measured deferred income tax relating to the
temporary differences of these investment properties by
adopting the tax rates and the tax bases that are consistent
with the expected manner of recovery of these investment
properties (note 34).

As at 31 December 2024, investment properties with
fair value of approximately RMB16,960,000 (2023:
RMB50,770,000) were pledged as collaterals for the Group’s
bank borrowings (note 30).

As at 31 December 2024, investment properties with
fair value of approximately RMB48,290,000 (2023:
RMB30,969,000) were pledged as collaterals for third
parties’ borrowings (note 38(c)).

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

WFEPERERBEREMHTIZE
NHSEBYAERGHEMRKAN
2 EETE s R A 10% 0 722024
F R2023F12A3BEKREMENR
FETEENEE -

AEEBRBRATERFKREZE
BREMESTANRXEREFTESR
AZEREMENEREZFNELT
P15 ¢ (P 5E34) -

R2024F12A831B A FEHAR
#16,960,0007T #) 1% & ¥ % (2023
F: A R #50,770,0007T) B 1 & &
B EEARSASERNRITE
X (M 5£30) ©

R2024%F12A31H A F E H A
R ¥48,290,0007T (2023%F : A R
#£30,969,0007T) ) % & ¥ ¥ B 1E
BB = 58 R 1R G R (T 5
38(c)) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

H E2024F12A31HIEFE

20 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20 EFEEE
Office
premises
WA EHET
RMB’000
AR F T
At 1 January 2023 MA2023F1H1A 17,047
Addition NE 133
Early termination REHRIE (164)
Depreciation e (3,832)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 M 20235128310 Kk 2024F1A1H 13,184
Addition NE 11,601
Early termination REHRIE (7,081)
Depreciation e (4,488)
At 31 December 2024 M2024%12831H 13,216

Lease liabilities of approximately RMB15,050,000 (2023:
RMB15,564,000) are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of approximately RMB13,216,000 (2023:
RMB13,184,000) as at 31 December 2024. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
early terminated a lease of office premise with right-of-use
asset of approximately RMB7,081,000 (2023: RMB164,000)
and corresponding lease liability of approximately
RMB7,920,000 (2023: RMB164,000). Gain on early
termination of lease of approximately RMB839,000 (2023:
nil) has been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2024.

R2024F12R31B EERHAR
#15,050,0007C (2023F : A R ¥
15,564,00070) M EBE U KA
R #13,216,0007T (20234 : A R ¥
13,184,0007T) W HEEE AREE E -
RHEARAENHEEEEFRHER
a2 AN M E I B A A
RF -HELETBSHAEERER
A& o

RE E2024F 12831 IEFE - K
SERERETAESTAEEE
M AZEHE LN AR7081,0007T
(20234 : A R #164,0007T) & 48 &
HEBEFEHARYE7,920,0007T (2023
& AR ¥164,0007T) » IR KR I
&2z AR 839,000 (2023
F )P NE £2024 F12A318 1
FEBRNIER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HZE2024F12A31A L FE
20 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 20 EAEEE(E)
Amount recognised in the consolidated statement of profit REEERABERANSE2IMOT

or loss was presented as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AEETT

Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets £ A& E I £/

(included in administrative expenses) GFATTERRAX) 4,488 3,832
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBEMNERX(GTARE

(included in finance costs) A A) 607 930
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEMHEERBNRZGIA

(included in administrative expenses) THAX) 45 115
Expenses relating to leases of low- HEEEEEHMERENAX

value assets (included in administrative (GTAFTER )

expenses) 6 24
Gain on early termination of lease REKRIEHEE Z Wz

(note 10) (#1a10) (839) —
Details of the cash outflows for leases are set out in note EHRHEERSRENFEBH NN
36(b). 36(b) °
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the MR2024F K% 2023F 12 A31HIEFE -
Group leases various office premises for its operations. AEEBAEZEHETRANAES
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to Fro & — & E E B2E104F (2023
10 years (2023: 2 to 10 years). I 2E104F) o

2 42 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

21 B EE

Licences
B 1] %
RMB’000
AR FT
At 1 January 2023 7A2023%F181A
Cost Bz 14,553
Accumulated amortisation REr#H (728)
Net book amount BREFE 13,825
Year ended 31 December 2023 B ZE2023F12A31A L EE
Opening net book amount BV R | FE 13,825
Amortisation charge BIEER (727)
Closing net book amount HRERE M FE 13,098
At 31 December 2023 M 2023%F12H31H
Cost B 14,553
Accumulated amortisation RET#H (1,455)
Net book amount BREFE 13,098
Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE2024F12831B L EE
Opening net book amount YR F B 13,098
Amortisation charge BB R (728)
Closing net book amount BMARBREFEE 12,370
At 31 December 2024 M 2024F12H831H
Cost [N 14,553
Accumulated amortisation REr (2,183)
Net book amount REFE 12,370
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

22 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22 NEEQTRINER
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT ARBTF T

At the beginning of the reporting period  H ¥R &5 Hi 1)) 53,323 —

Recognition of an associate (note 35(b)) TR — A B QR (M iE35() - 53,323

Share of result of associates DR E N R EE (54) —

At the end of the reporting period R &5 IR 53,269 53,323

Details of the associates of the Group are as follows: BRAAEBBREAANFBNOT:

Place of Issued and Percentage of Principal

Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest activities

A L 3 B EETRARKRA EEARREDL TEER

Xuchang Xujian Real Estate Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB16,000,000 20% Property
FTEFTREXARARA) (2023: 20%) development
(“Xuchang Xujian”) (note (a)) in the PRC

AEFREXZARRAI(FEFRD HE A K #16,000,0007T 20% RABERE
(#fit(a) (2023 : 20%) B 4 2 B

Xuchang Hengzhu Real Estate The PRC N/A Nil Property
Development Co., Ltd.* (2023: RMB50,000,000) (2023: 41%) development
(FFEELFHERERRAA in the PRC
(*Xuchang Hengzhu”) (note (b))

FEEERHEREARAA Hh TEH it RAERE
(IFFEBEN N D) (20235 : AR (2023% : 41%) FiERE

50,000,0007T)

Yanling Wanhong Real Estate Co., Ltd.*  The PRC RMB109,461,000 49% Properties
(BEGEBELEZBRRA) (2023: 49%) holding in
(“Yanling Wanhong”) (note (c)) the PRC

BRGEELELXBERAR(ERESEL]) FE AR #109,461,0007T 49% RTYEBENE

(i ()

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

22 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@

On 3 August 2020, the Group’s investment in Xuchang Xujian
has been approved by the board of Xuchang Xujian. The
Group contributed an initial investment of approximately
RMB20,042,000 by cash consideration in return of 20% equity
interest in Xuchang Xujian, and obtained significant influence
over Xuchang Xujian. Xuchang Xujian was classified as an
associate of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the change of Industry
and Commerce Registration for Xuchang Xujian has yet to be
completed. Full impairment of approximately RMB20,042,000
has been made prior to the year ended 31 December 2023.

On 16 March 2022, the Group and an independent third party
not connected with the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement, in which the Group agreed to disposed of 49%
equity interest in Xuchang Hengzhu, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, to the independent third party at
nil consideration.

On 30 August 2022, the Group further disposed of its
10% equity interest in Xuchang Hengzhu the independent
third party at nil consideration, resulting the Group holding
a remaining 41% equity interest in Xuchang Hengzhu.
Immediately upon the completion of such disposal, the Group
lost control of Xuchang Hengzhu. Accordingly, Xuchang
Hengzhu ceased to be a subsidiary and was classified as an
associate of the Group, with the remaining interest accounted
for using the equity method.

The Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with the controlling shareholder of Xuchang Hengzhu (the
“Purchaser”) on 17 April 2024, in which the Group disposed
of remaining 41% equity interest in Xuchang Hengzhu to
the Purchaser at nil consideration. Immediately after the
completion of the above-mentioned disposal on 17 April 2024,
Xuchang Hengzhu ceased to be an associate of the Group.
No gain or loss on disposal of associate has been arised from
such disposal.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, amount to be
initially recognised as interest in the associate was immaterial
to the consolidated financial statements and no amount has
been recognised in this regard.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount of
the interest in Xuchang Hengzhu was nil.

22 fF AR

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

A EEEIJ?X ﬁ (/ﬂt)

B 3E -

(@)

M2020F8A3H  AEBERFEF
BRERECEFEFEESOHE -
AEBUBRESREFRGETORE
KR4 A R#20,042,0007T @ M #

XA & R 220% M) B 4 - L ERAS ¥
AERENBEATEN - FEFE

BEOBAAREEBE QT -

20234 2022412 A31H » # &
FENIREFELFENAT
B o RE 220235128318 I F &
ZH BETIEZHEBENHNARE
20,042,0007T °

MR2022%3A16H » A&E@EE— £
MAEBEWEBEENBILE=HET
NTRHEERE Bt A5 E
RAEUNZEREFAMBLIE=FH
%,EEEA EYEE AN R E
ZEAMBAR)MA49% I HE -

20228 A30H » A& B U E R
Fmﬁi%_m_ HHEERT
EBEMI0%RE  BEAEER
BHEEENTFHBRERMNG - B
BEEREBEEEEEZE A% E
KEHFEEENZGHE - Bt -
HFEEETHBREMNBAR  WES
BARNEEBE QR - TR EMN
AN -

AN 5 B 2024 F 4 A17H H 4% B A
RHFEEE(TEFDIEZERBR R
TEEHE Bt AEBENUTR
BFRAAEBEFEHETHERFEE
EHEANBT4% BRE - REER
2024F 4F17A B A £t & E 18
2% HFEBETITBARNEER S
NF - BRAHEFEMEELELE
B AR EE -

$@ﬂ§$ﬁ%n H‘f%%ﬂﬁAﬁEwu/
REERRNERNERERAN
BHEMmMELTEKX - B E U
EREMEE -

20244 2023512 A31H © R &
EEENEZNEEELST -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

22 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

() On 17 November 2023, the Group completed the disposal
of its 2% equity interest in Yanling Wanhong to the non-
controlling shareholder of Yanling Wanhong, which held 49%
equity interest in Yanling Wanhong prior to the disposal, for a
cash consideration of approximately RMB2,189,000. Prior to
the disposal, Yanling Wanhong was an indirectly non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, with the Group holding
a 51% equity interest. Immediately after the transaction, the
Group lost control over Yanling Wanhong, which ceased
to be a subsidiary of the Company. Yanling Wanhong was
subsequently reclassified as an associate, and the remaining
49% equity interest is now accounted for using the equity

method.

The Group has stopped recognising its share of losses
of Xuchang Xujian and Xuchang Hengzhu when applying
the equity method. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the unrecognised share of those associates was

immaterial to be presented.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.

23 PREPAYMENTS FOR LEASEHOLD LAND

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
prepayments for leasehold land of RMB40,810,000
represented the acquisition of leasehold land which has
been transferred to properties held or under development
for sale upon receipt of ownership certificates or
commencement of development activities during the year

ended 31 December 2024.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

22 ERAEREARNRE (&)

M aE ()

(c) M2023F118178 » KN & B % K [
BBl IEIERBRR(EREE
EIE AR B RS IE & 5L 8949% AR i)
s H R BB B oL m2% ik iE 0 I8
EREHAEARK2189,0007T ° &
BEHEZHEZA  BEELAAR
AIMEEE2EMBAT KRR
BEEELSI%RIE - BERSZ
%+ AR K K ERIE & s ey 1
E ETBAEAARMKMBAR - &

% HEELEIDBRBERR
T BRA9% A 4 LA HE 51 )R A BR ©

AEERNERAESZRETB®ER
ERFEFRERFEBENIENE
R R R

BARMARRERLTEA &

B ARAEERA
BAZT e
O RBXEBEMRBS -

23 HELHRMNIEA

R2023%128318 » FA & 1+ #h ¥& 1+
FEREBEASA R 40,810,000
T EKWERSE LM RIE - ZSE
+ i 2 R2024F12 A31H I FE I
Bt RAENERIEXFARRA
BEPEEBEHRELEYWE N

B -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HZE2024F12A31BILFE
24 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER 24 FFHERBRPGEYE
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
Balance of properties held or under development for sale is BIEHEIRERFEMELEH AT
as follows: T
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR F T
Properties under development for sale R EYE 3,960,468 5,295,466
Properties held for sale BIEHEME 3,008,812 2,439,482
6,969,280 7,734,948
Less: Provision for properties held or under B FEEH S 2 B A
development for sale FEMENRE (371,581) (213,263)
6,597,699 7,521,685
Properties held or under development for sale comprise: RELEIHRERFEMERSE:
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARM T ARETFor
Land use rights and demolition and F 0 B A8 B URUAT B 18
resettlement costs after deducting B R R AR 8
related government grants MLZEER 1,507,934 2,177,399
Construction costs and capitalised expenditures & £& fk 4 [ & A&t I 2 5,375,365 5,418,140
Interest capitalised B AR B 85,981 139,409
6,969,280 7,734,948
Less: Provision for properties held or under W ER S ES
development for sale HEMENRE (371,581) (213,263)
6,597,699 7,521,685
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

24 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER 24
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

Movements of properties held or under development
for sale, before provision for properties held or under
development for sale, are as follows:

FEHESRBRTRFENR (A

RIELEXRBEFHFEMEEDH G
REFLEXFRETGTEMENR
WA :

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

At the beginning of the reporting period & Hi %)) 7,734,948 8,603,473
Addition nNE 1,706,790 2,272,635
Transfer to investment properties EREREMEN 719

(note 19) (25,488) =
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—REHB R

(notes 35(a) and (b)) (H1 i£35(a) % (b)) - (121,232)
Costs of properties recognised ERERAINYEK K

as expense (2,446,970) (3,019,928)
At the end of the reporting period R H R 6,969,280 7,734,948

Movements of the provision for properties held or under
development for sale are as follows:

ZERFEHEXREPHFEWER

BEREENEHNOT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

At the beginning of the reporting period iR B ) 213,263 118,201
Provision for properties held or under REZERFELEXRHE

development for sale recognised in REEMENRE  FE

profit or loss, net 158,318 95,062
At end of the reporting period wEHR 371,581 213,263

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024F12A31R L FE
24 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER 24 HFEHESRBRPSEYX(E
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

Management of the Group expects that the amount of the AEBEREEABELERMAE
properties held or under development for sale as at 31 FREEYEH Z2024F12A31H K
December 2024 will be recognised as cost of sales during CHEBRATHRBRAMEEE

the following periods: o) NE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

Amounts expected to be recognised as TEHRBERRBEEN TN :
cost of sales:

Within 1 year 1ER 2,225,019 2,110,224
After 1 year 15 1% 4,744,261 5,624,724
6,969,280 7,734,948
The properties held or under development for sale are all BENEIRABERFEDEHIUR
located in the PRC. ==
As at 31 December 2024, certain properties held or R2024F12A318 - AEBHETAR
under development for sale of the Group amounted to #1,448,982,0007T (20234 : A R #&
RMB1,448,982,000 (2023: RMB1,427,002,000) were pledged 1,427,002,0007T) A9 #5 1E ) & =k 7 8
as collaterals for the Group’s bank borrowings (note 30) and FREMECIERET R E TR
other long-term borrowings (note 31). B 15 7 & B 8 58 17 & 3 3£30) &

H & H 48 SR (P RE31)

As at 31 December 2024, the certain properties held or MR2024F12A31H  AEE EH FA

under development for sale of the Group amounted to R #151,855,0007T (20234 : A R ¥

RMB151,855,000 (2023: RMB156,239,000) were pledged as 156,239,0007T) A # 1F 1 & = A 8

collaterals for third parties’ and a related party’s borrowings FHEMECERE=TK—%#

(note 38(c)). Bt 77 B9 18 SR R @ A R OB
38(c)) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

25 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS 25 H b fE Y FR I8 FNFE S FRE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥ T ARM T T
Prepayments for construction cost (note () &1 Sk AN (4 77 (a)) 12,683 126,245
Prepaid tax and surcharges (note (b)) FENBEEEMmE
(%1 7% (b)) 15,081 13,609
Value-added-tax recoverable A] Yg [B] 18 {E 7R 18,232 6,557
45,996 146,411
Tender and other deposits (note (c)) KEZEREMIZE (K iF ) 111,943 111,188
Receivable from project service (note (d)) 18 B IR 7% e W 5B
(K17 (a) 53,140 53,140
Amount due from a related party FE W — & BB 5 B

(note 39(c)(i) (H 739(c)(i) 41,506 40,503
Receivables from government related to the  EIFEB N L B EF K A

cost of demolition and resettlement activities & B8 #9 J& U B fF 70 18

(note (s)) (H7 it (e) 75,563 102,864
Temporary funding receivables from ENE=ZFBRFES

third parties (note (f)) (7 52 (1) 109,050 55,730
Consideration receivable from disposal HE—HHBAF

of a subsidiary FEUW R AE - 2,189
Receivable from claims on litigation FE U FF BA BOIR

(note (g)) (st (g) 7,000 —
Receivables from a contractor and supplier W — 2 AR &

(note (h) & 7 SR IA (B 72 (h) - 114,610
Others EH A, 15,070 10,105
Other receivables, gross Efh e FRIE - B %E 413,272 490,329
Less: Allowance for impairment R H M FE ISR IR &Y

of other receivables ol (B B (58,768) (54,279)
Other receivables, net Hi U RIE - F8E 354,504 436,050
Total ok 400,500 582,461

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

25 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

Prepayments for construction costs represent the prepaid
construction costs, which will be transferred to properties
under development for sale.

As at 31 December 2024, certain amount included in
the prepayments for construction cost, which was paid
in accordance with the expected construction cost, was
subsequently returned by the contractors and the suppliers.

In accordance with the Group’s credit policy and controls,
certain prepayments for construction cost were paid by the
bank borrowings of the Group, which was directly transferred
to the contractors and suppliers from the banks by way of
the entrusted payment. In order to (i) safeguard the credit
risk of the fund; (i) maintain the operating cash needs of
the Group; and (iii) better allocate the fund used by the
development projects of the Group, the Group would request
the contractors and suppliers to return the above-mentioned
fund. After the receipt of the fund, the Group would arrange
payment to the contractors and suppliers of the development
projects in accordance with the construction progress and
payment schedule.

The directors of the Company, with the view of the legal
counsel engaged by the Company and confirmation from the
banks, consider that the arrangement would not breach the
loan covenants of the bank loan agreements.

Prepaid tax and surcharges are levied when the Group
receives advances from customers in relation to the sales of
properties.

The balance represents deposits for bidding of land use
rights, project development and migrant wages and housing
maintenance fund for properties held for sale of the Group.

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

25 Hth BURIEMBAN IR (E)

(@)

BERABEMNRBERBEMNZEK
K ZEFECEREREBERFE
(U

2024F12 A31H » B SE K ANFE
HRERREETHRERERRBRESHZE
FERAZ I REEE R R
FERRIE ©

RIBEAREENEERE RZH
BERANETRNRBRUARE
SEMNRITERIN > ARTUAE
AXNTAEERAABELH{ER
HRBEMNRE - B() REESHE
R ((EFSAEENEERS
FR RGiVECAEEREIRA R
RESMOE AKEEREAEH
EtEARELRES - WEE
& REERRELEERNK
fir fl % 22 Bk ) B P R i B R S 3K -

ARBPIEELKEREZTEEZER
MERRRITELHMERRE R
REBRZHETERZRBEBRITER
W B RS -

FENBBERMME IR AEERE
5 45 B SR 5 65 W) 56 AR B O B SR
Y o

ZERTIEEBERIOERED
RiERe HAEREBIIE
ARAEEFELENENERF %

EEL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

)

BF 75 ¥ 2R B

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

25 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

Receivable from project service represents the outstanding
balance recoverable from customer for the construction costs
and project management fees incurred. The Group manages
the construction projects on behalf of certain customers, and
earns a pre-determined service fee for the services provided.
The balance has been fully impaired as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 due to long-ageing.

The balances represent demolition and resettlement costs
paid on behalf of and recoverable from government.

Temporary funding receivables mainly represented non-
interest bearing receivables from Finance Bureau, Yuzhou
City, Hunan Province, the PRC, and Weidu Investment as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

The balances arose from a legal case involving the illegal
occupation of properties in the PRC between a subsidiary
of the Company and independent third parties (the
“defendants”). Following mediation in the Court on 1 August
2024, the defendants required to purchase the properties
for RMB10,000,000. A first installment of RMB3,000,000
had been settled by the defendants, and the remaining
RMB7,000,000 will be settled in seven installments
commencing on 31 October 2025. The compensation
contains a repayment on demand clause.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

25 Hth BURIEMBAN A (E)

Hrat: (&)

(d)

BEREERREEREEHREE
RARBEEEEATAERTF KD
MERWBIESH REBMRERET
REFEBERBETRNELE T
MFTIRE R MRS & o 120244F
F2023F12A310 AR A B4 &
MEEERERE  HE2H0RE -

ZERERRBA AR BNE
EERAARA BB @ FRE

FEWREEERE € RIBE B AR20245F
}20234%12 B31H fE Y & B 57 /g &
BT BBERBRHEZENTHE
JE UL FRIE o

ZEEBRBERARR —HWE A A
BBYE=ZAF(HEADZEIR
EEMAMNRPRENYENEE
F A o IR R2024F8F1H A iR
% WEANBEUARM10,000,000
THREZEME wEELEEEH
T3 AR #3,000,0007T ' B TFAR
#7,000,0007T # 20254104 31H
BOEHEE ZBEEBSESXRA
g ST -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

25 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

()

As at 31 December 2024, included in the balance were (i)
receivable from a contractor, an independent third party of
the Group, of RMB nil (2023:100,860,000I); and (ii) receivable
from a contractor, an independent third party of the Group, of
RMB nil (20283:13,750,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group, in view
of the financial difficulties of one contractor (the “Contractor”)
as identified from the Group, the Group has tried to appoint
another contractor (the “New Contractor”), which is also
a contractor of other property development project of the
Group, to take up the property development project of the
Contractor. However, such appointment of the New Contractor
has not been approved by the local PRC authority while the
fund of RMB100,860,000 has been directly transferred to the
New Contractor from bank by way of the entrusted payment.
As a result, the Group has requested the return of the fund
from the New Contractor and such fund was subsequently
returned to the Group in March 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group and
a supplier (the “Supplier”), an independent third party of the
Group, signed a sale and purchase agreement in which the
Group will purchase construction materials from the Supplier.
Prepayment has been made to the Supplier directly from the
bank by way of the entrusted payment. However, the Supplier
has default on delivery of the required construction materials
and the Group requested the refund of the prepayment
made by way of the entrusted payment. As at 31 December
2023, the outstanding balance from the Supplier was
RMB13,750,000 and such balance has been subsequently
settled in October 2024.

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

25 Hth BURIEMBAN IR (E)

Wyt (&)

(h)

2024512 A318 © &4 B IE()
R —Z2ABE(ABIRAEER
WE=7)RBAREZIT (202345
A R #100,860,0007T) : K (i) FE UK
—ZEEPE(ABBLRAEBENE
=H)HIEARB T L(20235F: A
R #13,750,0007T) °

B E2023F12A31A IEFE - A&
BENBNE - BEABEHTZEAR
EHBARBREE ABEES—
ZABEIH AR RARRXE
SEEMMERBEIEBEA N —F K
R AEZABRBNYERER
B-AWM ZEHASENZTERD
EREMTERME  RBEARYE
100,860,0007T #) & & 2 M R 17 LA
RAEXNFIRNEZERTAEE -
Hit - AEBEEERHMARHER
BE MixFE LS NR2024F3F
REREE -

H E2023F12A31H L FE A&
EHE—-—zHEm(ZEER] B
BYRAEENE=ZH)FT—HE
BEEHE B AEEBRZHE
FEREREEENR Y2 HETMU
SREXNARNEERHER S HE
IERTE - R ZEEEEE RN
FTEEEMA MAEEEERER
BUAZAIMARAISOELRE -
2023F12A318 » W ZHER
B4 R %8 B A R#13,750,0007T
HZZ %D N2024F108 475 »
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

25 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

The movement of allowance for impairment of other
receivables during the year ended 31 December 2024 are

25 Htb BURIEMBAN A E)

REZE2024F12A31HIEFE - HAb
JEWMRERNREREES T

as follows:

Other
receivables
H ih PE U SR 18
RMB’000
ARETFor
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 57,544
Reversal of allowance recognised in profit or loss [0l # 32 X 18 75 #9 B 1 (3,265)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 FR2023%F12 A31H Kk 2024%F181H 54,279

Loss allowance recognised in HRNEZHNEERE
profit or loss (note 12) (Krat12) 4,489
At 31 December 2024 7R2024%12 A31H 58,768

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount of
other receivables and prepayments are all denominated in

RMB.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AND

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

26 RERBEEEYARZRF

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS BITER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents (a) BERELSEEY
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR FT
Cash at banks RITER 252,617 273,865
Cash on hand FHRE 725 943
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeSED 253,342 274,808
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AREFT
Cash at banks and on hand WITHEREFERS
— denominated in RMB — UARK:E 253,251 274,462
— denominated in HK$ — B TEHE 91 346
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEED 253,342 274,808

(b)

The Group’s bank balances consist of bank deposits
carrying interests at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

FEBRTEBOERENE
AR 1717 SR R M2 BRI 3t
BHBATER -

Restricted bank deposits (b) ZFRHI|ITER
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB 000
ARM T ARMTF T
Deposits as security for customers’ REFPERBERER 51,077 76,883

mortgage loans (note (a)) EROEFERMN Z@E)

Others (note (b)) H (47 57 1b) 105,797 88,708
156,874 165,591
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AND
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

(b) Restricted bank deposits (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The balance are restricted to secure the bank
borrowings taken by certain customers of the Group
pursuant to the local regulations of certain cities. Such
deposits will be released upon the issuance of property

ownership certificates.

(o) Others include certain bank deposits restricted by the

bank for future project development.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the
PRC, these restricted bank deposits, which arised
from the customers deposits received from pre-sale of
the properties, are only permitted to be withdrawn by
certain percentages with reference to the progress of

the respective development projects.

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group has withdrawn such restricted bank
deposits for the purpose of (i) settling the
construction cost payables for the Group’s
development projects; and (i) maintain operating
cash flows of the Group to continue the Group’s
operations. As a remedial action, the Group has
obtained approval from the relevant PRC authority
stating that such advances complied with relevant
rules and regulations in the PRC in general.
Hence, the directors of the Company, in view of
the approval from the relevant PRC authority,
considered that such advances complied with
relevant rules and regulations in general and the

potential litigation risk is being remote.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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26 RERBEEZFEYARZRF
RITER(E)

(b) SRERTER A

Bat -

(@)

FHEBRRAREAEEET
BEPREE TH WA MR
M e B AN SR 17 18 BRIE it
R-ZEFRBREBELYME
PREHER S T AR -

HBERTHKRKERZ

EMEXRHNE TRITE

o
A °

RIBHBEIEGER  ZFR
EREMEMEE S WM
BEeMIEBREIRITESR &
T2REEFREBEENEEN
FEBAD LR -

R & 22024128318 I+
FE -AEERDABZ
BRI 88 1717 3%+ F& LA () &
NAEBEMEELEREN
BEREK: R(IEFAE
EHEERES R AERX
EEEESUABE-EB
WRHITH AEEERE
FEEBERAE R
EHSRRE FH AR
FEBERER - Bl
ERFPEEHEERE LI
B ARREERAEEH
BB LFTEEEARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

27 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

27 BRARKRMD R E

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

Authorised share capital EE R
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
ZER
£ 4=] ok
HK$
BT
Ordinary shares @HK$0.01 each BRO.IBTHZER
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 202341818 « 202312 A
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024  31H 202441 H1H K& 2024
F12A831H 2,400,000,000 24,000,000
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares ERTRBREER
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital  Share premium Total
EERYA & B4 EE o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEEFT ANEEFT AREFT
Issued and fully paid ordinary ER0.0IBTHERTR
shares @HK$0.01 each BREBR
At 1 January 2023, 31 December #2023 1A1H + 2023512 7
2023, 1 January 2024 and 318 - 2024F1R1H R2024%
31 December 2024 12A318 1,200,000,000 10,645 299,188 309,833
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

28 OTHER RESERVES

28 Hftif#E

Statutory Asset
Capital Merger surplus revaluation
reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
EXfifE GHRE LTBRNRBEEEEMNRE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFTT AREFT AREFTT ARETT
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) (Note (d))
(13t (8) (B3 (b)) (B #(c) (B ()
At 1 January 2023 ®202351818 15,971 4,774 156,484 11,486 188,715
Appropriation to statutory EREZLTRGRHE
surplus reserve = = 16,969 = 16,969
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12A31A K
1 January 2024 2024%F1A1R 15,971 4,774 173,453 11,486 205,684
Appropriation to statutory BRZETRBEE
surplus reserve = = 2,701 = 2,701
At 31 December 2024 #2024 F12A31H 15,971 4,774 176,154 11,486 208,385

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

28 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(@)

Capital reserve as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
represents the difference of aggregate consideration
paid by the Group for acquisition of non-controlling
interests of existing subsidiaries and the aggregate
carrying amount of those non-controlling interests, after
elimination of investments in subsidiaries.

Merger reserve as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
represents the difference of aggregate consideration
paid by the Group for the acquisition of subsidiaries
and the aggregate capital of the subsidiaries acquired
during the Group’s reorganisation for the listing of
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries,
these subsidiaries established in the PRC shall
appropriate 10% of its annual statutory profit (after
offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the statutory
surplus reserve account. When the balance of statutory
surplus reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital
of these subsidiaries, any further appropriation is
optional. The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised
to offset prior years’ losses or to increase paid-in
capital. However, statutory surplus reserve shall be
maintained at a minimum of 25% of registered capital
after such utilisation.

The statutory surplus reserve are non-distributable for
cash dividends except in the event of liquidation and
are subject to certain restrictions set out in the relevant
PRC regulations.

Asset revaluation reserve represents the fair value
adjustment of property, plant and equipment at the
date of transfer to investment properties.

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

28 Hitufw s (A&

(@)

20244 N 2023F 12 AB1HM A K
HEEASERKBERENE
REEEREEIANARE
HZEEEREREmMAER
KERHBARMNEERN =
i

20244 N 2023F12 A31IHHI &
HERBERAEEAARRR
DR B BT BT i #E7T E 4E H
M ASBERKRENE QR
S EREEMKEREB A
RIBARNBREHZESE -

BIEBEFBEARERTBENNE R
RAIABERMER  ZEEFEH
R BRAREFAGEE
EMBEEBEETANBAFE
EEE)NI0%E A ETAGRE
HEREF BEXTCHBRBEELS
ERZEWB QR EMEARD
50% 1% BIA]RERTE—F
EE o ETFRBHEMETRANIE
HBEFEBBRIEMNE HK
Ko R EEZERBRE
ERLATRBHEHEAEATLORGE
fit &R #925% o

BB EEBBFEA
ARaRBRERERE  XXENE
THBETRBOERARE -

BEELREREDE BER
REREBEREZREVEERDN
NFEEAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024F12A31R 1L FE
29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29 EFRHMENFIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARM T T
Trade payables (note (d) B 5 e 5B (BT it () 1,330,603 1,490,485
Deposits received from customers (note (a)) EXPRIHEE 73,491 81,591
(H1 it ()
Value-added-tax and other tax payable AN K H A 145,692 205,803
(note (b)) A (K722 b))
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders & <} 3F #22 B% i% 3R 3k 18 25,735 83,533
Temporary funding payables (note (c)) EREGRE S RE 28,949 18,939
(K17 (c)
Interest payables & A S 50,561 57,172
Salaries payables XN E A 23,080 21,325
Amounts due to related parties (note 39(c)(iv) [t Ba L 77 FIA 21,385 15,304
(H7 £39(c)(iv)
Other payables to related parties (note 39(c)(ii)  F& 1~ &8 B J7 H b 1,076 958
SKIA (B 7#39(c)(ii))
Others EH A 40,484 32,375
1,741,056 2,007,485

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

The balance represents the advance payments received from
customers for purchase of properties under development,
contracts of which are yet to be entered. Such balance will
be transferred into contract liabilities once the sales contracts
have been signed with customers.

The balance represents (i) the value-added-tax payable
of either 9% for the sales of properties and rental income
or 5% of the certain sales of properties and rental income
under simplified tax rate regime; and (ii) other tax payables
calculated based on the value-added-tax.

Temporary funding payables are non-interest bearing,
unsecured and repayable on demand.

Included in trade payables as at 31 December 2024 are
trade payables due to related parties of approximately
RMB1,107,000 (2023: 1,834,000) (note 39(c)(iii)).

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of
trade payables, based on invoice date, are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

29 EZRHMEARIEE)

@) %EHREBRERBPVEMATP
WERE £ 13 500R - BREA R ARET
Yo —BEEREPREIYTHEAR
ZEBEEREREARAAE -

) FRAEHRRBONENEEREEY
(RE2BARI%  HEBS B
REET HEATWERESK
AB5%)  R()BRIBEZEERTFED
HbENHEAE -

© ENERESRBARTHE EX
MR BREREE -

(d) M2024F12A31H * & 5 EN R E
BREENBEBFESENRELHA
R #1107,0007T (20234 : A R ¥
1,834,0007T) (Fff 7E39(c)(iii)) °

R2024F K 2023F12 A31H 1L # =
BHAZ| 5 8 E 5 e BRI BRI DT A0
T

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥Fr AR F T

Less than 1 year 1FE R 922,507 1,037,502
Between 1 and 2 years 1224 148,387 222,064
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 87,960 131,792
Over 3 years 3F M 171,749 99,127
1,330,603 1,490,485

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of
trade and other payables were all denominated in RMB.

2024 F K2023F12A31H * EF &
HMENZFRENERAEZBUAR
BESTE o
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e B wRME

H E2024F12A31H L FE
30 BANK BORROWINGS 30 WITER

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥ T ARM T T

Long-term borrowings REIMEBR
— Secured bank borrowings (note) — BEMIBITER 700,900 367,400

(K1 7t)
Less: Current portion of long-term secured B RHAEEFRTER (313,200) (134,900)
bank borrowings (note) ") BN ER B o (Y 2F)

Total non-current portion JEBNHAEE > 42 58 387,700 232,500

Current borrowings TEER
— Secured bank borrowings (note) — BB ITER 58,000 48,000

(K1 7%)
Add: Current portion of long-term secured e REBEERBRITER 313,200 134,900
bank borrowings (note) R BIER ZB > (K7 3E)

Total current portion BNER &8 M2 %8 371,200 182,900
Total 45 758,900 415,400
Note: As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain properties Bt 5E - 20244 2023812 A31H @ A&

held or under development for sale (note 24), investment
properties (note 19) and property, plant and equipment (note
18) of the Group are pledged as collaterals for the Group’s
bank borrowings.

In addition, as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain bank
borrowings of the Group are pledged with equity interest
in a subsidiary of the Company, third parties’ property and
related parties’ property and guaranteed by related parties
(note 39(b)(vii)).

Included in secured bank borrowing as at 31 December
2023 is bank borrowing of approximately RMB30,000,000
(2024: nil) which was secured by the properties which had
been sold previously. The pledge of sold assets had been
rectified by the Group in March 2024 with replacement of the
properties held for sale (note 24) of the Group.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

SEETHIELHELARBENETE
W (524) - AW (HFE19)
VAR M % - B R % s (M 3E18)
BEE WA AR & E R 178 50 R

O
am °

It S+ 720244 K% 20234F12 A31
B AEBETRITERALRAD
A-HMHBARKNKE - F=H
B W) 2 N BAEE 5 R W) AR R
I £R B HEE 5 R A 4 R (BT 5£39(b)
(vii)) ©

M2023%12H831H - A # # 8
TEFRBRERITEROARE
30,000,0007T (20244 : =) » 2 A
ERBEEELHMEMERR - K
E BB R2024F3AMELLEEH
BEFERNBR  WAKREER
Fr1E & 9 2 B (M 5 24) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

30 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 30

The carrying amount of the bank borrowings repayable
(based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

RITRER(E)

AEERTERNEEEREES
RIpBEAEHERERROBE) :

agreements):
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARM T ARM T T
Within one year —EURA 371,200 182,900
After one year but within two years —FEZHBRENA 177,400 205,000
After two years but within five years MEZEBREFEUR 210,300 27,500
758,900 415,400
Amount shown under current liabilities FIVE R B B AR FKIE (371,200) (182,900)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities FIVEIER B & B W I8 387,700 232,500

The weighted average effective interest rate of the bank
borrowings as at 31 December 2024 was as follows:

R2024%12 A31H @ R 1T & X H M
BEHERFENAT

2024 2023
2024 20234
Interest rate K &= 5.28% 6.12%

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all bank borrowings are
denominated in RMB.

PRA20244F [ 2023F 128318 * FTA R
TEFTAARESTE -
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e B wRME

H E2024F12A31H L FE
31 OTHER LONG-TERM BORROWINGS 31 HRHER
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR FT
Other long-term borrowings H b & HA 18 3¢
— Non-financial institutions, secured — S EEE
(note (a)) BB (A it (@) 22,537 22,537
— Non-financial institutions, — JEE mRE
unsecured (note (a)) mER (K 77 (a) 158,254 294,260
— Financial institution, secured (note (b)) — TR BER
(K17 (b)) - 90,000
— Loans from a non-controlling — K Q FEBRBRREHE
shareholder, unsecured (note (c)) AR
( &t () 124,786 126,432
305,577 533,229
Less: Current portion of other long-term R E R H R R0 B A
borrowings =2
— Non-financial institutions, secured — 3'5%@%7%% A K 1
(note (a)) (K17 (a)) - (5,000)
— Non-financial institutions, — S EERE - EEE
unsecured (note (a)) (#7 it (@) (151,414) (274,260)
— Financial institution, secured (note (b)) — oRE  BIEE
(K7 7)) - (90,000)
— Loans from a non-controlling — K E FERRRENE
shareholder, unsecured (note (c)) Ko EEE
(H7a£ () (124,786) (126,432)
Amount due within 12 months or contains R+ & A A E 8 sk b 5
repayment in demand clause and shown o 2= BN A& Xt HI 4 ik
under current liabilities HEENHHE (276,200) (495,692)
Amount due after 12 months and shown R+=—M@EA%E HHI[?'J e
under non-current liabilities EMBEER K 29,377 37,537
The Group’s other long-term borrowings are secured by AEEMEMRBEFRAFELDE
properties held or under development for sale (note 24) S AEREFEMECPIF2A) RAR
and equity interest in a subsidiary of the Company and 7 — M B A F) &R 1 A
guaranteed by related parties (note 39(b)(vii)). I R BB 5 4R E R (M 5E389(b)
(vii)) °
Notes: B & -
(@ The balances mainly represent the borrowings from non-financial (a) ZEHEBKETERKEHPEM TR

institutions, which are designated by the local PRC governments.
Those non-financial institutions obtained funding directly from
banks for the purpose of financing properties development
projects of the Group under various urban redevelopment
schemes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

31 OTHER LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

The balance as at 31 December 2024 represents unsecured
long-term borrowings of Nil (2023: RMB90,000,000)
borrowed from a micro-loan company. The principal amount
of RMB160,000,000 was borrowed during the year ended
31 December 2021, with scheduled installment repayment
of RMB34,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022,
RMB36,000,000 for each of the years ended 31 December
2023, 2024 and 2025 and the remaining balance of
RMB18,000,000 for repayment on or before 10 June 2026.
Pursuant to the loan agreements, the micro-loan company
has a right to request immediate repayment of the borrowings
from the Group, (i) up to 70% of the value of the land use
rights for the pre-sold properties of the related project
company, before the project company or the pledged land
use rights apply the pre-sale permit or the project starts
the pre-sale, whichever is earlier, at the discretion of the
micro-loan company; and (ii) up to 50% of the pre-sale
amount of last month of the related project company, starting
from the month after the project company obtains the pre-sale
permit, also at the discretion of the micro-loan company.

As a result of the repayment on demand clause of such long-
term borrowings, the non-current portion of the long-term
borrowings from the micro-loan company of RMB54,000,000
(2024: nil) as at 31 December 2023 was classified as current
liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
had early repaid the other long-term borrowings from the
micro-loan company with outstanding loan balance of
RMB90,000,000 in April 2024 in order to reduce the interest
incurred from such other long-term borrowings.

The balance represents the borrowings from a non-controlling
shareholder as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, with
scheduled repayment before December 2025. The balance is
unsecured and interest bearing.

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

Hit R 8B E)

Wyt (&)

)

2024412 A31H H 45 84 5 % — &
NEERAGERMERERBE
= T (2023%F : A R #90,000,000
JT) ° A& A R #160,000,0007T T3
REZE2021F12 A31H L FEE -
PHERBB R AR B £2022F
12A318 & # A R 34,000,000
JT 0 W R E20234F - 2024F &
2025FE12A3IA LR EEEE A
R #36,000,0007C * M AR
18,000,0007T A 4 £ Bl 78 72026 FF
6A108 =k 2 AT E & - IR IE B R W
#NEERAT B EERAER()
FEFRBITEE QAR S E HH L
HERZEEHTXBERRES
Z A (AREEAZE) B EEE K -
CHEZAMEBEEAFNEEY
¥MLiERAENEENTO® &
SHBRNBEBERABET R()E
BEHARBBEEHAEE AR
BEEEN cBxZ2AMEMBESE
AR FEBMEESEMN0% ' B
DLIENEERARET °

N AR R E A R RBVF G
MR2023F12A31H - RB/NEER
ANAMREAEROIERNB LS AR
#54,000,0007T (20244 : ) & &
FoBEAERPAR-

NE E2024F12831B IEEE - K
EEBEER2024F4RREEER
HERARMERAE MR AERD
B E B R4 % AR 90,000,000
T AR EBREMRHERESE
/) F) 8 o

2 K5 B8 48 1R 2024 F K% 2023412 431
HREIEZERR RO G 518
M2025F 128 Z RIEE - R &EH B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HZE2024F12A31BILFE

31 OTHER LONG-TERM BORROWINGS 31 HttREERK ()
(CONTINUED)
The carrying amount of the other long-term borrowings AEEAEMRBEROEREGRE
repayable (based on scheduled repayment dates set out in EXBEMESERERROBE) :

the loan agreements):

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Within one year —F LR 256,200 441,692
After one year but within two years —FZ2HBRFUAA 49,377 61,000
After two years but within five years MEZEERFURN - 30,537
305,577 533,229
Carrying amount of other long-term borrowings 3 78 /A — 4 R (& 2 {8 - 90,000
that are not repayable within one year but 5 R R BT IR S A9 H
contains a repayment on demand clause tRBERNETEAE
Carrying amount repayable within one year AR —FANEENE 276,200 405,692
AE
Amount shown under current liabilities FIE R B BER KA 276,200 495,692
Amount shown under non-current liabilities TIVEIER B BB W R IE 29,377 37,537
The weighted average effective interest rate of the other M2024F12 4318 - H A & Hi &
long-term borrowings as at 31 December 2024 was as RIINiE T ERAENT
follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Interest rate | = 6.25% 8.45%
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all other long-term M20244F Kk2023%F12A31H * FT B
borrowings are denominated in RMB. Hi REEHEUAARBTE -

2 66 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

32 SEAME

As at 31 December

MA12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR FT
Contract liabilities ARAE 3,136,395 3,956,814

The contract liabilities mainly represent the receipt
in advance from customers in respect of the sales of
properties. The Group normally receives certain percentage
of the contract sum as deposits from customers when
they sign the sale and purchase agreement. Such contract
liabilities will be utilised as revenue when control of the
completed property is transferred to the customer.

The contract liabilities are classified under current liabilities
as it is expected to be utilised in the normal operating cycle
of the business.

The following table shows the amount of the revenue
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024
relates to the contract liabilities carried forward from the
end of the previous reporting period.

ERABEZZAANEERMEHE
MBEAZTEURIMFKIE - KK E
—RREFPRIEEARE A
RecBEnETa s kRReE -
ZEARABERREEXRY EME
HREEEEPERER S WS -

EREBEENERBDEE RERRE
HRERAEENEREEBANE
Rt -

T &R ¥R R E 22024512 A318 1k
FEMRE—REBHRLEEAREE
MiERBOUW A ST -

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR®TFor
Revenue recognised that was included FFAREBUARAELE S
in the contract liabilities balance at the B E R A
beginning of the reporting period 1,787,178 2,162,087
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e B wRME

HZE2024F12A31BILFE
32 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 32 cREEE)
The movements of the contract liabilities are presented as ERABENEFHENNT
follows:
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREF T
Balance as at 1 January R1A1H /B 4 64 3,956,814 4,854,156
Decrease in contract liabilities at the FHeRAaBEEFNER
beginning of the year as a result of We A TR

recognised revenue during the year

Increase in contract liabilities as a result & [F & & H 8 & W E P
of receipt in advance from customers in 4 & %) % ) FX I8 M 38 0
respect of the sales of properties

(1,787,178) (2,152,087)

966,759 1,254,745

Balance as at 31 December W12 A31H

3,136,395 3,956,814

The directors of the Company expect that the amount
allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31
December 2024 will be recognised as revenue from sales of
properties during the following periods:

ARNBIEFEH - 1K2024512A31
BOREREXRBHNETHNSES
RTFNPEEREMEHEENEK
A

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR FT AEETT

Expected to be recognised within one year TEHR —FAER 1,259,962 2,868,718
Expected to be recognised after one year TEEIR —F &R 1,901,114 1,744,946
3,161,076 4,613,664

2 68 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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33 LEASE LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

H E2024F 12 A31H L FE
33 HEAE
Present value of
Minimum lease payments Minimum lease payments
BREAEAR BEAEMNREE
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 2023 2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARE T AERETT ARETT AEETT

Within 1 year 1ER 6,914 7,711 5,711 6,275
Between 1-2 years 1226R 4,090 5,319 3,336 3,730
Between 2-5 years 2E5ER 9,338 5,647 6,003 5,559
20,342 18,677 15,050 15,564
Less: future finance charges il KRG EEF (5,292) (3,113) N/A & B N/A 7 F
Present value of lease HEEAERE
obligations 15,050 15,564 15,050 15,564
Less: amount due for settlement J&, : 1218 A W B EA (& 1+ 708
within 12 months (shown GIERBAR)
under current liabilities) (5,711) (6,275)
Amount shown under SIESERE) B EMFRIE
non-current liabilities 9,339 9,289
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied 2024128310 - M E B EFT FE
to lease liabilities ranged from 5.52% to 8.69% (2023: from AHmEFEHEEERMNENTF

5.52% to 8.69%) as at 31 December 2024.

5.52% £8.69% (20234 : N F5.52%
%£8.69%) °
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e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

34 DEFERRED TAXATION 34 EEFIE

The following is the analysis of the deferred income tax UTARTBREENME - &5
asset/(liabilities), after set off certain deferred income tax TREMGSHEEHR —ERHE
assets against deferred income tax liabilities of the same EHEEMESEHAEEHAEHEED

taxable entity, for financial reporting purposes: BEFREHEAE (BB 29 :
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETFr
Deferred income tax assets BRIEFSHEE 120,994 146,920
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEEHRAaE (15,894) (16,746)
105,100 130,174

As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax assets and
deferred income tax liabilities amounting to approximately
RMB35,054,000 (2023: RMB33,916,000) were offset.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

MR2024F12A31H A H H AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

34 EERIE(E)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within
the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

H = 20244 2023412 A31H I+ F
E - BEEMSHEERBENES
(W ARFRER—BBREERAK
ERIEE) T

Deferred income tax assets BEEREHERE
Provision for
properties
held or under Timing
development differences
for sale and on
provision for recognition
impairment of revenue
of other and cost of Lease
Tax losses  receivables LAT sales liabilities Total
REHED
GRS
NERER BRUAR
B ERFE HERAH
REFE  HERE rHEER  RHEEE AE8[ it
RWB000 RWB000 RMB000 AMB000 RWB 000 RWB 000
ANREFL  AEETn  AEETT AREFT AEETn  AEETX
At 1 January 2023 202351 A1 21,712 42,760 48,389 68,327 2,517 189,70
(Charged/credited to the consolidated (NE)/HAGRBER
statement of profit or loss (4,535) 24,126 2,792) (26,933) 1,265 (8,869
At 31 December 2023 and 120235124318 R
1 January 2024 2024E1A18 28177 66,386 45,597 41,394 3,782 180,836
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated HA/a)RABER
statement of profit or loss 9% 40,702 (43,703) (21,372) (511) (24,788)
At 31 December 2024 20244124318 23,213 107,588 1,894 20,022 3,271 156,048
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e B wRME

HE2024512 A3 B IFFE

34 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

34 EERIE(E)

Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFMBHAR
Temporary
Timing differences  Undistributed
differences on on fair value profits of
recognition of changes on the PRC
revenue and investment  subsidiaries  Right-of-use-
cost of sales LAT properties (Note 40) assets Total
HENE
BRUAR RENX AR
HERRN ATEEBN  ADERAE
REZE  THEER  ENMER (Wit40)  BREEE g
RMB000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB000 RMB000 RMB000
NEETT ANEEFT NEEFT ANEETT NEETT NEETT
At 1 January 2023 #2025 1418 11,870 = 9,234 9,208 = 29,812
(Credited)/charged to the consolidated (3tA)/fIBBEAE
statement of profit or loss X (1,309) 28,747 (676) (9,208) 3,206 20,850
At 31 December 2023 and H2023512A31A R
1 January 2024 02451A18 10,061 28747 8,558 = 3,296 50,662
Charged /(credited) to %/ GIA)aEAR
the consolidated "R
statement of profit or loss 1,305 1,874 (2,900) - 1 286
At 31 December 2024 2024512 A31A 11,366 30,621 5,658 - 3,303 50,948

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax
losses could be carried forward for a period of five years to
offset against its future taxable profits. Deferred tax relating
to unutilised tax losses are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of approximately RMB31,123,000 (2023: RMB15,843,000)
in respect of tax losses amounting to approximately
RMB124,493,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB63,371,000), which will expire within five years from the
end of the respective years they arose.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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RERBEBBRARNEHEERKE
R  RARAPHHBAEEEH
B ST B TR J5 00 T BE B SR 40 B AR R
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O

R2024F12 8318 » AN & B I £ 5t 7
TH B 18 49 A R #124,493,0007T (2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

35 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 35 HE—REMNELF

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H£2023F12831HLFEE

(a) Disposal of Xuchang Hengyu (a) HEFEELHEF

On 26 October 2023, the Group and an independent
third party not connected with the Group signed a sale
and purchase agreement in which the Group disposed
of its entire 100% equity interest in Xuchang Jian'an
District Hengyu Industrial Company Limited (& &
BxRBEEEZEABRAA) (“Xuchang Hengyu”), an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
to an independent third party not connected with the
Group at a nil consideration. The principal activity of
Xuchang Hengyu was properties development in the
PRC. The disposal was completed on 10 November
2023. Immediately after the disposal, the Group lost
control over Xuchang Hengyu and Xuchang Hengyu
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company.

Consideration received

R2023F10H268 » 7 & H &
—HEAEBYEBENS
VEZFBRIYUTEEDR B
I AEBUEREHF XA —
FEAREEWEBEENELE
THEEERTETMEREE
HEEXFRAFR(HFEESE]
AXpraEE2EWNBAR) 2
100% M HE - TEEGENEEHE
BRERFPENREMEMRE - 1
EEI1HMR2023F11 A10HEK °
REBHESHE2E A5H
KETHHEEBER TG #E -
HFEEGETBEAARINB A
ﬁjo

EWERAE

As at

10 November
2023
H2023%F
11810AH
RMB’000
AR For

Total consideration received

B WA E R
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

35 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) 35 HE—MEKBAR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued) EH £2023F 128310 FEE (&)
(a) Disposal of Xuchang Hengyu (Continued) (a) HEFEME# (&)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which KNEBEHREWEEREBZS
control was lost o
As at
10 November
2023
120234
11 810H
RMB’000
AR For
Properties held or under development for sale #F{E/F &P EFEME 6,356
Cash and cash equivalents HekBREeEED 2
Other payables E b BT 3R (6,623)
Net liabilities disposed of BHEMNAEFE (265)
Gain on disposal of Xuchang Hengyu: HEFEBELF MW 5 -
As at
10 November
2023
120234
11810H
RMB’000
AR For
Consideration received 2 WERE =
Net liabilities disposed of EHENBEEHE (265)
Gain on disposal of Xuchang Hengyu HEFESEEENK S (265)

27 4 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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35 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

(a) Disposal of Xuchang Hengyu (Continued)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

35 HE—EHEAT(A)
BZ2023F12A31ALFE (44)

(a) 4 EFFE1ELHE(E)

Cash outflow on disposal of Xuchang Hengyu

HEFEEHEHE R

As at

10 November
2023
20234
11A10H
RMB’000
ABRBTF T

Consideration received
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

B E
EHENRSRASEEY @

Disposal of Yanling Wanhong

As disclosed in note 22(c), on 17 November 2023, the
Group completed the disposal of its 2% equity interest
in Yanling Wanhong, an indirectly non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company which 51% equity interest
in Yanling Wanhong was held by the Company, to the
non-controlling shareholder of Yanling Wanhong at a
cash consideration of approximately RMB2,189,000.
The principal activity of Yanling Wanhong was
properties holding in the PRC.

Immediately after the above-mentioned disposal, the
Group lost control over Yanling Wanhong and ceased
to be a subsidiary of the Company, and in turn Yanling
Wanhong became an associate of the Group while the
49% equity interest in Yanling Wanhong was equity-
accounted for.

(b) HEREESL

a0 MY sE22(c) BT B8 0 722023
F11A178 - REB T A BB
EBoLIEEBRBREHEENE R
EoLlH2% R - BEELADN
AEEEFETENBAR K
Al 5B BB B 5L51% A% #E -
HERELHAEARM2189,000
T BEELNEZER AR
HEBEYE -

REBLEEREFTHEZE K
SEKET H R E oA iE
# ETBERARFMBLR
iy 155 P 2 5A P /& 7S 5= [ RO Bt
RAE] MARBEREZE L%
B H49% R HE Rl LARE 2205 A BR ©
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HE2024E12A31A L EE

35 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) 35 HE—MEKBAR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued) EH £2023F 128310 FEE (&)
(b) Disposal of Yanling Wanhong (Continued) (b) HERBEEL (&)
Consideration receivable EWRE
As at
17 November
2023
R 20234F
11817H
RMB’000
AR TFT
Cash consideration receivable (note 25) FEWR & KRB (4 725) 2,189
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which AEEZHBEWEEREREZ
control was lost T
As at
17 November
2023
R2023%
11H17H
RMB’000
AR T T
Properties held or under development for sale #F{EiE &3PS EME 114,876
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREeEEY 81
Other payables H {th pE I8 (6,062)
Net assets disposed of BEEEEFE 108,895
Less: non-controlling interests W IEERRE R (53,443)
55,452
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

35 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) 35 HE—EMEAT (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued) HE2023F12831HILLFEE (&)
(b) Disposal of Yanling Wanhong (Continued) (b) HERBEE (&)
Loss on disposal of Yanling Wanhong HEBPBE B AR
As at
17 November
2023
R2023F
11 817H
RMB’000
AR For
Consideration receivable FEWRAE 2,189
Net assets disposed of BEEEEFE 108,895
Less: Non-controlling interests W FEE R (53,443)
57,641
Fair value of interest in an associate retained 5k 2= B b & oA 4% H| # 18 (R BB &
upon loss of control of Yanling Wanhong R—EBE R aMERK
(note 22) NEEH222) (53,323)
Loss on disposal of Yanling Wanhong i & BB RS & ol MBS 18 4,318
Cash outflow on disposal of Yanling Wanhong HEBBERE LR 2 7L
As at
17 November
2023
R2023F
11 817H
RMB’000
AR For
Cash consideration received 2R NRE =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEHEREEBESEEY (81)
(81)
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e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

35 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) 35 HE—ENEAT (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued) EH £2023F 128310 FEE (&)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEMBLARMNER  F&E

2023
20234
RMB’000
AR For
Gain on disposal of Xuchang Hengyu TETEE&EN K 265
Loss on disposal of Yanling Wanhong HEREELNEER (4,318)

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net (note 10) L& B AR HE1E -
F R (A7 10) (4,053)

27 8 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36 MEBERERMTE

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Net cash generated from operations (a) RETBELERSFH
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR FT
(Loss)/profit before income tax R ATE BRI (B518),/F (160,629) 133,871
Adjustments for: BT H RIE L
— Provision for properties held or under — #F{EEERBAERFE
development for sale b ES L 158,318 95,062
— Depreciation charge of property, plant  — ¥ % « B = M & & M B
and equipment and right-of-use BEEFEEHR
assets 11,237 12,0383
— Fair value losses on investment - REWELTEES
properties 12,528 2,920
— Finance costs — MR 607 930
— Amortisation of intangible assets - EREESH 728 727
— Loss on disposal of property, plantand — HEWE - BE K R EE 12
equipment 25 37
— Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net — HEMBRATEE  F5 - 4,053
— Provision/(reversal) of allowance for — R /(B ) H b e Wk 3R B R
impairment of other receivables BEEE 4,489 (3,265)
— Share of loss of associates (note 22)  — D 1hBt & N RIE B (M 7#22) 54 —
— Finance income — B A (695) (1,073)
Operating cash flow before movements ~ &EE ¢ E A MWL ER ST
in working capital 26,662 245,295
Changes in working capital: BEESEY:
— Prepayments for leasehold land — HE+BEMNZKE 40,810 192,180
— Properties held or under development — B{EHE R P FEME
for sale 740,180 816,961
— Other receivables and prepayments — H A KRB
BRRIE 175,063 (106,746)
— Contract costs — EREAR - 3,169
— Contract liabilities —GcEBE (820,419) (897,342)
— Trade and other payables — B9 R H MR FIE (159,760) (150,529)
Net cash generated from operations RETHEER S FR 2,536 102,988
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e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Total cash outflows for leases

Cash outflows for leases included in the consolidated
statement of cash flows comprise the followings:

36 FmERETREBRMZE(E)

(b)

HERERHAHE

A ERERERNEER
ERMHBEATRE:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

Within operating cash flows FTAK IR SR 51 139
Within financing cash flows FFARER &R 5,641 5,985
5,692 6,124

(c) Major non-cash transactions (c) EEHFHRERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into lease arrangements in respect of office
premises (2023: office premises). Right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of approximately RMB11,601,000
(2023: RMB133,000) were recognised at the
commencement of the leases.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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RN B E2024F 120318 KN &
B 3t it Q=B AT (2023F -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36 MERERERMT(E)

OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which cash flows were,
or future cash flow will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

Trade and other payables
EARAMERTE

Amount

duetonon-  Temporary Amounts due
controlling funding Interest to related
shareholder ~ payables  payables parties
Efi$ER Eff
REnE EffERES EANE  BEARE
AUBO  AMBDID  AMBDID  RMBUMD
AT NEBTT AEETT ARETR

(c)

BEFDMELENEBHEER

TRHAIBRERIAELNHAN
SEEENEHBER SRR
ERIFREEY - BEZDAHN
EENBERRAKERER
ERERTHEOBERBREED
EEANRERENBERK
KREME o

Other
Bank Other  long-term Lease
borrowings  borrowings  borrowings  liabilities Total

BORR  RERR RERERER  HESR it
RUBOGD  RMBOOO  AWBDOO  RUBUR  RUBUDD
NRRTL  ARETn NEETT AKETT  AREF

At 1 January 2023 H2023E151R 151,360 62,375 48,806 14,96 323,500 3,500 345,84 20,650 970,332
Financing cash s BERSE O848 B 1008 90 A e B B
Non-cash changes: FRe%Y:
~ Finance costs - BARK - - 69,668 - - - - 90 70,598
— New leases -HEE = = = = = = - 133 133
— Disposal - g = = = = = - - (164) (164
At 31 December 2023 and H02BE1AIAR

1 January 2024 2024£1518 83,533 18,939 51412 15,304 415,400 - 533,229 15,564 1,139,141
Financing cash flows BERSR (57,798) 10,010 (64,963) 6,081 343,500 - (2165 (5,641) 3,537
Non-cash changes: FReEY:
- Finance costs - BERA - - 58,352 - - - - 607 58,959
~ New leases -§iig - - - - - - - 11,601 11,601
- Disposal - & - - - - - - - (7,081) (7,081)
At 31 December 2024 RA4E12831A 25,135 28,949 50,561 21,385 758,900 - 305,577 15,05 1,206,157
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

37 COMMITMENTS 37 *iE

Capital expenditure committed at 31 December 2024 but MR2024FE12 ASTE T AE MM REL

not yet incurred is as follows: MERAZAT:
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AR For
Properties under development for sale RBERFEME 841,904 1,334,357
Land use rights o b 55 AR R - 40,810

841,904 1,375,167

38 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

38 TRERRIRER

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AEET T

Guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities for certain purchasers of
the Group’s properties (note (a))
Guarantees in respect of the Shareholder’s
loans of an associate of the Group (note (b))

Pledges provided for borrowings of
third parties (note (c))

RAEEMNETHERESE

MIZB R EEL R

ER (W7 (@) 6,610,513 6,958,416
BANEE—REE L QR

B% B BE A R

(K17 ) 229,495 229,495
BB = HEFIRMH

E (B 7 () 101,300 120,900

6,941,308 7,308,811
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

38 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers
of the Group’s properties and provided guarantees to
secure obligations of these purchasers for repayments.
Such guarantees will be terminated upon the earlier of (i) the
issuance and transfer of the real estate ownership certificate;
or (ii) the satisfaction of mortgage loans by the purchasers of
the properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default of
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principal
together with accrued interest owed by the defaulting
purchasers to the banks and the Group is entitled to take over
the legal title and possession of the related properties after
the relevant legal procedures. The Group’s guarantee period
starts from the date of grant of mortgage to the purchasers.
The directors of the Company consider that the likelihood
of default of payments by the purchasers is minimal and
therefore the financial guarantee measured at fair value is
immaterial.

In line with the diversified land acquisition strategies of the
Group, a subsidiary of the Group obtained 20% equity interest
in an associate of the Group (the “Associate”) which hold a
parcel of land for development through a bidding process,
and remaining 80% equity interest are held by an independent
third party (the “Investee”). Based on the investment
agreement entered into between the Associate, the subsidiary
of the Group and the Investee, the Associate has to repay
the shareholder’s loans provided by the Investee within a
specified timeframe after commencement of presale activities.
If the Associate fails to return such shareholder’s loan on time,
the subsidiary of the Group is required to provide funding
to the Associate for the repayment of the shareholder’s
loans. As at 31 December 2024, such shareholder’s loans
of the Associate are approximately RMB229,495,000 (2023:
RMB229,495,000).

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

38 TRIERRIAREE(A)

(@)

AEBEEAAEKBENETHBEELE R
PERTTRLE Y BERWENRAE
REER ZEFEREBROEL R
BEFHEEBES N(BEE
ENZBERAREERE)HR
1k e

BEERGES EZEBEFEER
BBERE  AEBEABERIRT
HEBNBFEEHERNREASE
[l F& 5t ) 8+ T A &2 B 70 58 A AR B
FREFRBEZERBMENS
EXRBENAARE AEENERY
BREADRORBARNERSE - &
REAEBEERRBEERBRMNFKNA
RS/ Fit - MAFEFEN
MIETERALTERK »

AEE-—HHNBARIEBAEERD
St T KB REREAEE—
MEBEAr(BE FDEER
BEBEAE—RBAERLH)20%H
B #E - T 82 T80% A% 4 Bl R — £ 78
VEZA(HREHR)DFE - BIE
BEQNE  AEEEHENBARE
HEHRZBEI LR E R B
BRRARFMREBEEHERMIET
HERNEEREHRAEHRKRRE
B MBS R EAREBEEZ
BREER  AAEEEFHAMBA
RIAMBERARREESEERZ
T P R B 3K - R2024F12A318 -
HENRNZERRERNAAR
#029,495,0007T (20234 : A R ¥
229,495,0007T) °
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)

BF 75 ¥ 2R B

HE2024E12A31A L EE

38 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

(Continued)

In addition, pursuant to the above-mentioned investment
agreement, the subsidiary of the Group also has to
compensate for all losses of the Investee if the property
project is delayed under certain conditions or that the
repayment of shareholder’s loans is delayed beyond certain
period stipulated in the investment agreement. The directors
of the Company consider that the risk of providing funding for
repayment of shareholder’s loans or any compensation loss
is low as the development progress has been continuously
communicated and mutually agreed.

Amounts represented the maximum exposure of the pledges
of investment properties (note 19) and properties held
or under development for sale (note 24) provided for the
borrowings of certain third parties as at 31 December 2024
and 2023.

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Name and relationship with related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party
or exercise significant influence over the other party
in making financial and operation decisions. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject
to common control. Members of key management
and their close family member of the Group are also
considered as related parties.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

38 TRIERRIAREE(A)

Hy it (&)

(o)

(#)

BEOh - IRIE LR B WYX
HREETHBATEL KRRE
A E R R R R A AT B
BE T HR - BIANEE M E AR IR
ARREHROAERIRIELHEE -
FRBEERE st HHBEERE—
BERETEBREERE  BAtA
BERRERKAMHEBEM
REESNRABERE -

B RS 58 N 2024 4 2023512 A
SIERETHEZ I ERIRENRE
%G (M 5219) K #5 /E HH & =k B
BhEEMELDR (24 MR A
2 B o

39 EBAXRS

(a) & 2R T AR &

HE— T BRNE RS ERES
A= REFLHHBREE
REBEBS—TELEEAF
BH HEEREBT - WA
B ZLRESH - BT RS
HEEK AEBETRERE
A B Ko 1% % 3T #R I B2 AR 1 B Bk
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e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 B ARG (&)

Ever Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited
(“Ever Enrichment”)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Name and relationship with related parties (a) BIBREERAH S WBIR(E)
(Continued)
Name Relationship with the Group
wE AR £A 7K £ @ (Y B 1R
Mr. Li Controlling shareholder and director of
the Company
FHAE RARIMERBRRERES
Mr. Li Dongfa (2= % %) Member of Mr. Li’s family
TRELE FERENRIEKE
Ms. Li Man (£ £) Member of Mr. Li's family
TE4Ut FRENRIEKE
Ms. Lin Wei (7 5) Member of Mr. Li’s family
Wi 2z =+ FRENRIEKE
Ms. Li Xinyao (Z 8t 3%) Member of Mr. Li's family
THMELL FREMRIEKE
Ms. Liu Yulian (2| & #) Member of Mr. Li's family
BlEELt FREMRIEKE
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng (I I&) Director of the Company
F R I&E 5L £ KABIES
Ms. Qi Chunfeng (% & &) Director of the Company
EERZ L KABIES
Ms. Zhang Fan (3R ) Member of Ms. Qi Chunfeng’s family
SRR 22 & BEERZLTHWIREKE
Mr. Li Shixun (Z= tt ) Key management of the Group
T B E TEBEFEZEEEAER

Shareholder of the Company

BEEAEERAR(ERD AAREE

Ever Enhancement Immediate holding company of the
Company

B RARMEEZERRAA

Henan Hengda Investment Co., Ltd.* (A 18 Z & E B IR

‘A 7]) (“Hengda Investment”)
MEEERERRAR(EEZRE]

Controlled by Mr. Li

F 2= 5T A 1
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e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Name and relationship with related parties
(Continued)

Name

mEEB

39 ML X5 (&)

(a) BN EREBSNEER ()

Relationship with the Group
BH 7K £% [ 1Y BA 2

Xuchang Hengda Property Management Co., Ltd.* (FF & 18
EYEESE AR AR) (“‘Hengda Property Management”)

HEEEVMEEEARAR(BEMEER)

Xuchang City Second Construction (Group) Co., Ltd.* (FF &
MHEZEE (K E)ER2AAE]) (“Xuchang Erjian”)

HEME_RBEER)BRARTHFEZRED

Xuchang Hengjiu Industrial Development Co., Ltd.* (FF & 18
AEEERBRAF) (“Hengjiu Industrial”)

FEEAEXBRRARAR(EAEZE]

Weidu Guesthouse Limited* (FF S 3240 & &2 A (R A 7))

ERMEEER AR

Xuchang Hengzhu (note 22(b))

FEEENF220b)

Luohe Huotai Real Estate Group Construction Co., Ltd.
(“Luohe Huotai Construction”)

BAEFBEREEEZEAR AT (DR TERZE])

the English names are for identification purpose only

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA

Controlled by Mr. Li

H 2= 5 A 4
Controlled by Mr. Li Dongfa

2 BROE ST AR
Controlled by Ms. Qi Chunfeng

75 & @ 2t 1

Controlled by Mr. Li

2 o A 1

Change to associate from subsidiary
since August 2022

BH2022F 8L F A A B R Ht & A A
Non-controlling Shareholders of
subsidiary of the Company

RRFIME AR 2 FEERRR

Y EXEBEHRES
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e P BRRME

HZE2024F12A31BILFE
39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 MM AERZ (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) BEFIRS

In addition to those related party transactions disclosed BRAEGRE B mEREMIE DA

elsewhere in the consolidated financial statement, the BENBB IS 2N AE

following is a summary of the significant transactions HEBBTETHNEARRS
carried out between the Group and its related parties: BMERT:

(i) Providing temporary funding to a related (i) [@—& BB 12 H R

party -3

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARETFor

— Xuchang Hengzhu — EBE 1,003 3,803

(i) Repayment of temporary funding from a (i) B — & BB 15 22 B b

related party i

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARM T ARETFor

— Xuchang Hengzhu — FEEE 1,003 3,360

2024 Annual Report
—g-mrrg 20/



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

(iii) Temporary funding received from related

39 ML X5 (&)

(b) BMA X5 (&)

(iii) BB 5 1B R M b B £

parties
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARM T T
— Ever Enhancement — BH 6,807 5,044
— Xuchang Hengzhu — FEEE - 3
6,807 5,047

(iv) Temporary funding repaid to related

(iv) P B EEGFEE

parties
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥Fr AR FiT
— Ms. Li Man —FEut - 3,574
— Ever Enhancement — BF 55 283
— Ever Enrichment — 1BH - 182
55 4,039

2 8 8 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA
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e P BRRME

HE2024F12A31R 1L FE
39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 Bt AR5 ()
(CONTINUED)
(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued) (b) BEEARZ(4E)
(v) Service provided by related parties (v) BB 512 28R
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTF T
Civil engineering and BN ERBEERMHM TR
construction services provided — T2 [ # &R
by Luohe Huatai Construction 14,310 8,670

Property management services 1BE¥ SR HNYE
provided by Hengda Property EER®

Management 31,348 30,552

45,658 39,222

The above transactions constituted connected FIRGERAEBR L

transactions of the Group under Chapter 14A of iR B E14A ZE T

the Listing Rules, and were entered into at terms BERG WiREBEAEEME
mutually agreed by respective parties. % T B RET L ©

(vi) Sales of properties to related parties (vi) [5] BB 75 1E H B9 9 5 35
=

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR T AEETT

— Ms. Lin Wei and — M Z TRk

Ms. Li Xinyao TEMELL - 96
— Mr. Wang Zhenfeng — TiRELE - 609
— Ms. Liu Yulian — B EFELL - 2,126

- 2,831
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HE2024F12A31H ILEE

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 B AR5 (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued) (b) BEARS(E)

(vii) Guarantees provided by related parties (vii) B8 5 5 51 7N 5 B & 1T 4R
for bank borrowings and other long-term TEMREMEHE
borrowings of the Group 12 1 79 18 1R

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB 000

AR¥FT AR T

— Mr. Li and Ms. Lin Wei — A RMBZ LT 486,160 382,220

290 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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HE2024F12A31R 1L FE
39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 Bt AR5 ()
(CONTINUED)
(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued) (b) BEMAERSZ(E)
(viij) Key management compensation wiii) FEZEE A S FH
Key management includes directors of the FTEEBABBEARA
Company and senior management staff of the EERTEESREEA
Group. The compensation paid or payable to key BE-HEERKETHKE
management for employee services is shown NEZEBABHNHET
below: RAAT
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR¥TF T
Salaries, allowances and e R REM
other benefits & 4,425 3,854
Contributions to retirement M) 3R UK 48 A 51 81 3K
benefit schemes 253 220

4,678 4,074
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HE2024E12A31A L EE

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 B ARS (&)

(CONTINUED)

(c) Related-party balances (c) EAEE A& ER

The Group has the following balances with related NEE BB LT BT 48
parties:

(i) BER—EBHSHE

(i) Amount due from a related party

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREET T

— Xuchang Hengzhu — FrEEE 41,506 40,503

(ii) Other payables due to related parties (i) EfEBEBETAEMGE

292

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TFT AR FT

— Yuzhou Hengda Property — BMiEEYE 447 —
— Hengda Property Management — 18 = 4 % & 38 629 958
1,076 958

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA
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e P BRRME

HZE2024F12A31BILFE
39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 Bt AR5 ()
(CONTINUED)
(c) Related-party balances (Continued) (c) BAEE R asek ()
(iii) Trade payables due to related parties (i) FE1T BB 5 9 B 5 FE 1S
& E

2024 2023

202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB 000

AR T ARETFor
— Luohe Huatai Construction — RN EREE - 220
— Xuchang Erjian — &= 1,107 1,614

1,107 1,834

Trade payables due to related parties arose from FEREEE: R R E S ENRK
purchases and construction services transactions. BHRBRBEREERBR

The balance was interest-fee, unsecured and 5 REBBBRE &
repayable according to the credit terms. IR R AR ERGEREE -

(iv) Amounts due to related parties (iv) FE1T BB 5 = B

2024 2023

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR T

Mr. Li ThE 1,814 1,814

Ever Enhancement 18 F 15,899 9,146

Ever Enrichment 18 H 3,672 4,341

Xuchang Hengzhu FEEE - 3

21,385 15,304
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HE2024E12A31A L EE

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40 RQATNE RN KRR FHES

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY 3]
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
k=3 AR FT ARMTF T
ASSETS BE
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H h E W 3k 18 239 71
Amount due from a subsidiary i e NG E 256,138 255,495
Dividend receivables from Rl —MEHB AR RKRE
a subsidiary 89,460 89,460
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBeEEY 86 298
Total assets HEE 345,923 345,324
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRGFHE
Share capital (note 27) RRA (K7 7#27) 10,645 10,645
Share premium (note 27) B& 12 & (B (B 2227) 299,188 299,188
Accumulated losses (note (b)) RETE B (M i (b)) (10,670) (4,823)
Total equity R 299,163 305,010
LIABILITY &8&
Current liability REBEE
Other payables H {th & 8 46,760 40,314
Total equity and liability HEZREE 345,923 345,324
Net current assets REBEEFRHR 299,163 305,010
Total assets and current liability EER REBEEHAEHE 299,163 305,010

29 4 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA
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e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

40 ARTNHABRRARRFEZ D

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (&

(CONTINUED)

Notes: gz

(@) The balance of the investment in a subsidiary of the Company (a) H20244F K2023%12A318 » KA

is less than RMB1,000 and the directors of the Company
considered such balance is immaterial to be disclosed as at

31 December 2024 and 2023.

AR —EKHBARMNIEENLE %D
RAR1000T ARBEERA

SZEBERBERMSAETEK -

Movements of accumulated losses of the Company (o) ARFRMRFEREZH

Retained

profits/

(accumulated

losses)

REBBEAN

(R3tE8E)

RMB’000

ARE T

Balance at 1 January 2023 7A2023F1A18 W 4 &8 (454)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FAEBERZEMZAE

for the year (4,369)

Balance at 31 December 2023 A2023%F12 A31H M 4 &2 (4,823)

Balance at 1 January 2024 A2024F1A1B W& &8 (4,823)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREERZERXEEE

for the year (5,847)

Balance at 31 December 2024 A2024F12 310 19 & &} (10,670)
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e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2024 are set out below:

Directly owned subsidiary incorporated in the BVI

41 EBATRFEE

R2024F 12 A3IBE AR AN B R A K
FHEHI AT

REBERMAFSEMALEEE

BRI B AR

Percentage of

Date of attributable equity interest
incorporation/  Issued BEREEAN
Company name operation capital 2024 2023  Principal activity
HRmALAE,/
RAEH EENBY ERTEA 2024 023F TEER
Dadi Development Limited 10 June 2013, United 100% 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong State dollar
("US$") 1
At ERARATA 2013F6R100 - 1ET RERRK
& (E3);

Indirectly owned subsidiary incorporated in Hong
Kong

REBEMRLEZEETNHEAR

Percentage of

Date of attributable equity interest
incorporation/  Issued EBEREEAN

Company name operation capital 2024 2023  Principal activity
HRmRLAY/

RAER EEHY BRfT 2024 023F TEEEK

Dadi (Hong Kong) Enterprise Co., Limited 14 March 2012, HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding

Hong Kong
At (B REERDA 20126 3A148 100%T RERR

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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HE2024FE12A31A L EE

41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

41 MBARFE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Indirectly owned subsidiaries established in the RPE R EEEENHBEAR
PRC
Percentage of
attributable equity interest
Date of Kind of legal entity/ Registered BERENAD

Company name establishment  place of operation capital 2024 2023 Principal activities
R IpEE: EARRER/EE4E ifEx 20245 0085 TEER
Henan Dadi Property Development Co., Ltd.* 29 July 1992 Limited fiabilty, wholly foreign 18$2,500,000 100% 100%  Investment holding

(TEALEREREERAR) onned enterprise (‘WFOE),

the PRC
AR HERERRAT 1002F7TANR  BREELAT HEBELE  2500000%7 RERR
(MEBELE) 4E

Xuchang Hengda Property Group Co,, Ltd.* 3 June 1998 Limited fiabilty, domestic RMBG60,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development

(FEEERHEERARAT company, the PRC in the PRC
FEEERHERERRAR 199656838 BRELLR RARA - RE AKH600000007 ReEREYZ
Xuchang Songj Dadi Property Co., Ltd.* (&K 7 November 2007  Limited liabity, domestic RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development

EXHEEERDE) (‘Songj Dad') frote f3) company, the PRC in the PRC
FSEREAMEZERLAR(REAM MG 007E0A7TR BREMAE BALE RE ARES00000007 ReERENE
Xinyang Hengda Property Development Co,, Ltd. 5 March 2008 Limited fiabity, domestic RMB30,000,000 88.88% 88.88%  Properties development

(FBEERHERERRAR) company, the PRC in the PRC
FREERMERSARAR N08E3/5H  BREMAF - EAAT - HE ARK0,0000007 ReBRENE
Yuzhou City Hengda Property Co., Ltc.* (B8 4 September 2000 Limited liabilty, domestic RMB100,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development

ERNERREALH) company, the PRC in the PRC
BMTEERHERRARAT 00959R4R  BREMLE-EAAE - #E AKH00,000,0007 ReERENE
Changge City Hengda Property Co,, Ltd" (RE™ 18 May 2011 Limited fiabity, domestic RMBG60,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development

EERBERRAR) company, the PRC in the PRC
RETEERHARRAR NNELABA  BREELNT HAAT - P8 AKH60,000000T ReERENZ
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HE2024E12A31A L EE

41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Indirectly owned subsidiaries established in the

PRC (Continued)

41 HBARFE (&)

RAPEX L EZ BN EAT (&)

Percentage of
attributable equity interest
Date of Kind of legal entity/ Registered ELBRNESY
Company name establishment place of operation capital 2024 2023 Principal activities
ARER RIRE EARBER/SE4E ARER 20245 NBE  FEER
Xuchang Jiari Baocheng Property Co,, Lid.* (& 2 June 2011 Limited liability, domestic RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development
BAEZEFARAT) company, the PRC in the PRC
HERAEZELARAR AMEGRR  BREEAFEAAT - B ARK50,0000007 ReBRENE
Xuchang City Jian'an District Hengmu Property 25 January 2016 Limited fiability, domestic RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development
Co., Lt (Yuchang Hengmy) (# E TR X B8 company, the PRC inthe PRC
AEHERRAA)
HEMRZEEARNERRAR(FEEA) 20161868  EREMAR EAAT #E AR%0,0000007 ReEREYZ
Yuzhou City Hengnuo Property Co, Ltc.* (SMT 13 December 2018  Limited liabiity, WFOE, the PRC US$38,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development
BEFHERSERAT) inthe PRC
ENTEREHEREERAT N8F12A18A  BREELT SHEEELX  38,000000%% ROERENZ
E
Hennan Damai Property Sales Marketing Co., Ltd.* 11 March 2019 Limited fiability, domestic RMB8,000,000 100% 100%  Properties brokerage
(TREERHES HREARRAA) company, the PRC services, rental
agency services,
properties, information
consultation and sales
service
WEEEEHERERAARAR N19E3ANE BREELF AAAT - 8 ARH80000007 NEEERE HER
BRE WEEEH
ARHERH
Xuchang Weheng Property Development Co,, 30 October 2019 Limited liability, domestic RMB370,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development
L FERERHEREERAA) company, the PRC in the PRC
FERERMEREERAT 0195104308 EREMAE - EAAR - #E AKE370,000,0007 ReERENE

298 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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HE2024FE12A31A L EE

41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

41 MBARFE (&)

RAPER EZERHHNBEAT (&)

Indirectly owned subsidiaries established in the
PRC (Continued)

Percentage of
attributable equity interest

Date of Kind of legal entity/ Registered EERROEDN
Company name establishment  place of operation capital 2024 2023 Principal activities
ARER RIRE EARBER/SE4E AR 2245 NBE  FEER
Xuchang Yuanda Property Co,, Lid” (FFEREE 18 January 2019 Limited liabiity, domestic RMB20,000,000 0% 70%  Properties development
£ERAR) company, the PRC in the PRC
FEEEEXARAT BREREAR FARA 8 AE%20000,0007 ReERENE
Xiangcheng Hengda Real Estate Development Limited fiabilty, domestic RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development
Co, Lo’ (BHERERHERLERAA) company, the PRC in the PRC
EHEEERHERLARLA EREEAT HARE - 4E AK%20,000,0007 ReERENE
Xuchang Xuheng Trading Co, Ltd (¥ S5 BHE Limited liahilty, domestic RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Trading in the PRC
BRAR) company, the PRC
HEFEAZARAA EREEAT BALA - 4E AR %20,000,0007 ReEETES
Xuchang Dongheng Real Estate Development Ca., Limited liabilty, domestic RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development
L (FERERLEREERAR) company, the PRC in the PRC
FERERHEREARAA EREALNT BARA - B AR 100000007 ReERENE
Luohe Hengda Huatai Real Estate Co., Lid* (&7 Limited liabilty, domestic RMB20,000,000 60% 60%  Properties development
EEZRE£ARLA) (‘Luohe Hengda') company, the PR in the PRC
BAEEERERARAR(RTEE]) EREELT BARE - 4E AR %20,000,0007 ReERENE
Yanling Zhengli Real Estate Development Co., 21 November 2019 Limited liability, domestic RMB30,000,000 51% 51%  Properties development
Lo FRERERHERLERLR) (Vanling company, the PRC in the PRC
Zhengli)
BRERERHERLARAA(BRAE)) EREELA BEARA - 48 AR %300000007 ReERENE
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HE2024E12A31A L EE

41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Indirectly owned subsidiaries established in the

PRC (Continued)

41 HBARFE (&)

RAPEX L EZ BN EAT (&)

Percentage of
attributable equity interest
Date of Kind of legal entity/ Registered ELBRNESY
Company name establishment place of operation capital 2024 2023 Principal activities
ARER RIRE EARBER/SE4E ARER 20245 ABE  FEER
Changge Jiahe Real Estate Co., Ltd! (RETEA 20 March 2020 Limited liabilty, domestic RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development
i EBR ) (‘Changge Jiahe) company, the PRC in the PRC
RETEAHERRAA(RERR) N0F3AN8  BREELT AAAA - %8 AKE200000007 ReERENE
Xuchang Hengrong Real Estate Development Co., 9 April 2021 Limited figbity, domestic RMB50,000,000 92% 9%  Properties development
L (FEMEREHEREERAA) company, the PRC in the PRC
FEmEREHERERRAR A2E4R9E BREELT FAAT - 8 AR%500000007 ReERENZ
Chongaing Hengling Trading Co., Lid" (285 18 June 2021 Limited fiabity, domestic RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Trading in the PRC
BRERAH) company, the PRC
EREABEARAT A21%6A188  BREMAT - HAAE - 8 ARK20,0000007 ReBETEs
Yuzhou Taiyu Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd." 22 December 2020  Limited liability, domestic RMB20,000,000 90% 90%  Properties development
BATRERHERRERAT) company, the PRC in the PRC
ENTRERHERERRAT N0F12A28  BREELF AAAT - HE AKE200000007 ReERENZ
Xuchang Yonghong Real Estate Development Co,, 8 June 2020 Limited liability, domestic RMB16,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development
L (FEXREREREERAR) company, the PR in the PRC
HEARRHERERRAD N20%6RA8E  EREMAT BAAE - RE ARE6000,0007 ReERENE
Xuchang Hengehi Real Estate Development Co,, 26 August 2021 Limited liability, domestic RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Properties development
L (FEEXELERERRAA) company, the PRC in the PRC
HREREHEREERAR N21%6A6E  BRELAF EAAT - HE ARK50,0000007 ReBRENZ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Indirectly owned subsidiaries established in the
PRC (Continued)

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

41 MEBARFE (&)

RAPEREZ BN EAT (&)

Percentage of
attributable equity interest
Date of Kind of legal entity/ Registered EERRNEDN
Company name establishment  place of operation capital 2024 2023 Principal activities
PEkL: AIAH EARRER/EELY ifEa 20245 N3E  TEER
Henan Hengzhi Architectural Engingering Design 13 August 2021 Limited liability, domestic RMB3,000,000 60% 60%  Architectural engineering
Co, Lid! (THEHEEIRRHERAR) company, the PRC design and
management in the
PRC
MHEHBETERIERAT A21%6A138  BRELAFEARA - HE ARE3 0000007 ROEERETER

Yuchang Hengrun Real Estate Co., Ltd* (P 28 July 2022 Limited liabilty, domestic RMB100,000,000

BE £5R 2 7) (Xuchang Hengrun) (note (o) company, the PRC

HEMEREEARAA(FERA)MEL) 20057A%8  AREALH BRRA - HE AEH
100,000,007

* The English name is for identification purpose only.

None of the subsidiaries of the Company has issued any
debt securities during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

iRER

80% 80%  Properties development
in the PRC
ReERENE
BXEHERBZF -

#H B2024%F K2023%12A31H Ik F
B ARARIMWEB R EREITEM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

)

BF 75 ¥ 2R B

HE2024E12A31A L EE

41 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Indirectly owned subsidiaries established in the
PRC (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Songji Dadi owned a project, Songji Dadi — Mingmen Shangju,
which was developed together with a third party investor. In
accordance with co-development agreement and its supplemental
agreement dated 30 January 2010 and 9 February 2010
respectively, the third party investor owns 49% interest in this
project and is considered a non-controlling interest of the Group.

On 28 July 2022, the Group and Xuchang City Investment
and Urban Development Group Co., Ltd.* (FF & W &
REEBHRAREME AT (“Xuchang Shitou”) entered into
a cooperative development agreement, which the Group
established Xuchang Hengrun. 60% equity interest in Xuchang
Hengrun was held by the Group while remaining 40% equity
interest was held by Xuchang Shitou.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
acquired additional 20% equity interest in Xuchang Hengrun
by capital injection to Xuchang Hengrun with an aggregate
cash consideration of RMB50,000,000. Immediately after
the above-mentioned capital injection, 80% equity interest in
Xuchang Hengrun was held by the Group.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the equity
movement for the above-mentioned capital injection was
immaterial to the consolidated financial statements.

On 17 April 2024, Xuchang Hengda disposed of its entire
interest in Xuchang Hengyu (“&F & 18 ") which mainly holds
properties held or under development for sale in PRC. (Note
35).

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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41 HBARFE (&)

RAPEX L EZ BN EAT (&)

B 3 -

RERWEE—EBEBIREKXH
— &fEE] ZHEBDE-2F
ZHREEHAARE - RIEAHS
Bl /201051 A30H X&20105F2H9
B ey & 1F % ek R H st
HZEZNREENZBBETHES
49% R - FUE R B ARNEEMN —
HIFERER -

MR2022%7H288  AEB K FE
MHTERREERERETAA
(TFFEMEDIIZ TEERERE -
B AEBERITHEER - &F
EEH0%REBAEEFE -
BTA0% R EA BT EMEIE -

MRE E2023F12A31B L FE &K
EEFEBAAFERBEIEE UBRE
® R (B A R ¥50,000,0007T 4 88 7F
218 HEEI20% M #E - RERE L
EE% - FFEEES0%BRERASE
ERH -

ARBEERR LT EMESE
MEZZ2PEHGATBHRRLD
EX-

2024648178  FrEEBELET
HRTrEEH(HEERTBEEES
FEIRERFEME)ND I E
z= (P 5£35) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

42 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2024
were approximately RMB52,117,000 (2023: RMB45,664,000).
Set out below is summarised financial information for each
subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material
to the Group. The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary
are before inter-company eliminations.

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE

42 FEEEARFEREZNHEAT
M HER R

MR2024F12 A3TE W FEIE R i 25 42
B H A AR ES52,117,0007T (20234
A R #45,664,0007T) ° N X & 5l
EHASEEBEANIETERETD
MEBARIMB BERBE - &K

BRAIMEEN S EE QB EYH

AR S XE o
Summarised statement of financial position BERRARBEE
Luohe Hengda
ROTEE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR FT
% of shareholding held by EERBEREN
non-controlling shareholders kEARD L 40% 40%
Current: mep
Assets BE 84,196 181,667
Liabilities afE (43,538) (168,306)
Net current assets mMEEEFE 40,658 13,361
Non-current: JEM B
Assets BE 1,740 1,806
Liabilities =N - —
Net non-current assets IRBEEFE 1,740 1,806
Net assets BEFE 42,398 15,167
Net assets attributable to non- controlling EEREREGEE
interests FE 16,959 6,067
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024E12A31A L EE

42 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 42 BEEAFERESHKBAT

ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- Nt ER B E(E)
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
Summarised statement of financial position R R R E(F)

(Continued)

Yanling Zhengli

EipE B E
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR FT
% of shareholding held by non-controlling JEE R EFEE W
shareholders e A= 49% 49%
Current: mE
Assets BE 336,183 283,731
Liabilities =K1 (324,261) (265,682)
Net current assets MEEEFE 11,922 18,049
Non-current: JEME :
Assets BE 3,159 3,346
Liabilities =K — _
Net non-current assets EREBEEFE 3,159 3,346
Net assets BEEFE 15,081 21,395
Net assets attributable to non-controlling FERERELEE
interests FH1E 7,390 10,484

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE
42 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 42 BEEAFERESHKBAT
ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- M ER B E(E)
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
Summarised statement of profit or loss and other BEEkEMEZEREREE

comprehensive income

Luohe Hengda

BiMiEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETTT

% of shareholding held by non-controlling FEVE IR AR R A ) AR A

shareholders Baokt 40% 40%
Revenue PN 177,952 184,639
Profit before income tax bk BT 15 5 A ) E 33,358 23,617
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfRiik e, (F) 6,127 (7,221)
Profit for the year FAF HE 27,231 16,396
Profit and total comprehensive income BN MW AR 27,231 16,396
Dividends paid to non-controlling IR FETE AR AR R AV AR B

shareholders — (2,800)
Profit and total comprehensive R AL B &

income attributable to EER =425

non-controlling interests 10,892 6,559

Yanling Zhengli

EfpE U E
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARK T AEETT

% of shareholding held by non-controlling IEER R TR O AR E

shareholders Bt 49% 49%
Revenue WA - —
Loss before income tax bR BT 15 B A B 18 (5,321) (5,430)
Income tax credit ek e 993 937
Loss for the year FANBAE (4,328) (4,493)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FABEREZARZRE

for the year (4,328) (4,493)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FIEREREGERER

attributable to non-controlling interests ZHEF X BT (2,121) (2,201)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

B E2024512 AR IEFE
42 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 42 BEEAFERESHKBAT
ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- Nt ER B E(E)

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Summarised statement of cash flows HERERRUE

Luohe Hengda

BRomiEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETTT

Cash flows from operating activities: KERPBMEREME

Cash generated from operations CEELRS 5,089 59,491

Income tax paid ENFEHE (1,829) (4,248)
Net cash generated from operating activities #& & EEE LR ¢ FE 3,260 55,243
Net cash used in investing activities KEESFARESFE - (7)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBAER S8 (33,600) (46,000)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash RekReZEED

equivalents CRL ) /18 o0 % 28 (30,340) 9,236
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FHMR & LIRS E

of the year B 34,806 21,603
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRNBeEREFE

of the year B 4,466 30,839
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024FE12A31A L EE
42 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 42 BEEAFERESHKBAT
ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- M ER B E(E)
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
Summarised statement of cash flows (Continued) HeEREBBRPEEF)

Yanling Zhengli

BERE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AEET T

Cash flows from operating activities: KEBRPMEREME

Cash generated from operations CEELRS 94,077 80,334
Income tax paid ENFEH (816) (2,406)
Net cash generated from operating activities #& & EEELIR T FE 93,261 77,928
Net cash used in investing activities KEETSMERARESFEE (4) (516)
Net cash used in financing activities EEEESAREEE (89,850) (74,800)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents R & RIE S ZE WL

P 3,407 2,612
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning F#HRE LRIRELEEY
of the year 8,411 5,514
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRNBEe LRSS
of the year ZEY 11,818 8,126
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

e B wRME

HE2024F12A31H IEFE

43. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant
to a resolution passed during the year ended 31 December
2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the primary purpose
of providing incentives to eligible participants for their
contributions to the Group. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options to
employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners or service providers.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was
made. A nominal consideration of HK$0.01 is payable by
the grantee on acceptance of the grant of an option. The
subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be
a price solely determined by the board of directors of the
Company and notified to a participant and shall be at least
the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date
of grant of the option.

The maximum number of the shares that may be allotted
and issued upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for
this purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
shall not exceed 10% of all the 1,200,000,000 shares in
issue. The Company may seek approval of the shareholders
in a general meeting to refresh the 10% limit provided
that the total number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Group shall not exceed 10% of the number of shares
in issue as at the date of approval of the limit.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRQA

43. B ST E

ARABIMERENEDRERES
2018F12A31H L FEBBARESR
EM([HEIRES])  EZEMEHE
BEERSHEERARSEELNER -
EERETSET AR EEAM
EE(2H B - £F BN 98
meEREE HES REB-BF ¥
HRARREIREERHERE-

BHBREZZOLARELERE
MBER(BRER) BB R &
BRI R AR 8 2 40.01
BITHEENE MEBRE SR
TR A E B T S M B (D
VREERRALAAREEFSERR
EWBASEENER XEDED
ATRENERSE  (WREBERER
HEVAREXHA) BIXAFARE
RO P Y HE: (R BERE D
BREAMIAAZXABIAEA
B R PR A AR An P9 U 8 ¢ R (iil)
R RE R SRR EE-

R 1T IS IR AT Bl R AN S BT R E A
B EITE TR ATE BRI
mME TEREREEREFE RIS
B {E ] H A BE AR A RT B B K
MR AE) M A TR REITHR
NYEEaTHEBRAEPEEITRG
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon the exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group (including both exercised or outstanding options)
to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue. Any further
grant of options in excess of the 1% limit in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant
must be separately approved by the shareholders in a
general meeting of the Company with such grantee and his
associates abstaining from voting. The number and terms
(including the exercise price) of options to be further granted
must be fixed before the approval of the shareholders and
the date of the board meeting for proposing such further
grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose
of calculating the exercise price under the Listing Rules.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date on which the Share
Option Scheme is adopted.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group did not grant any share option under the Share
Option Scheme of the Company and there was no share
option exercised, lapsed or outstanding.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e P BRRME

HE2024512A31B IFFE

43. BRERT 8 (#F

RAE2E AHIE AR BITERERE
Pt At 81 Ko A S B AL o] HL b P RSCHE =T
ETHBRE(EREEITRREART
EE BB RAE) MA S AR A D BEITRA
BEATRTNRMNAE THEAN
NEAIEHTROM % EREE—F
REBREAR(EREER) fEMA2
EAMEA E—FROBBI%BRE
B B R A ZE B BRR R AN R A R OK
g LA1THE BERAR A K H B
BAVEARERR - BTE—FERH
BB RN A RGER(BETEE)
BRBRILERMETE MZHE—F
REBHERENESSSHRAMNE
EERLEHE URE ETRAGE
TEE-

BRESTESEBRETSIRAEH
EEFH0OFRER -

R E E20244 K 2023F12A31H [FF
B AEEBEEADRBRES
HTROEMBERE BEERE
BT R EETTIE N o
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Financial Summary

MEHE

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ABETT ANRETT ARETT AEBTT ARETT

Revenue PN 2,762,136 3,565,598 2,861,771 2,767,678 2,422,051
(Loss)/profit Fr(EE) /7B
for the year (263,971) 36,817 77,769 303,169 282,591

(Loss)/profit for the NABHE ARG

year attributable FR(ER)
to owners of the A E
Company (270,424) 40,944 84,812 306,913 284,011
As at 31 December
A12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ANREFT ANRETT ARETT AREFIT ARKEFTT
Non-current assets IEMEBEE 362,344 381,579 366,202 359,180 324,850
Current assets MEEE 7,534,181 8,703,626 9,663,294 9,940,806 8,183,717
Total assets B EBE 7,896,525 9,085,205 10,029,496 10,299,986 8,508,567
Non-current liabilities ~ FE SN A& 442,310 296,072 306,846 439,268 276,412
Current liabilities mEaE 5,860,145 6,931,092 7,849,183 8,015,258 6,702,065
Total liabilities BERE 6,302,455 7,227,164 8,156,029 8,454,526 6,978,477
Total equity 25 M ER 1,594,070 1,858,041 1,873,467 1,845,460 1,530,090
Total equity ZN/NCIEZ Z N
attributable to i AR
owners of the
Company 1,541,953 1,812,377 1,771,433 1,746,872 1,499,959

31 0 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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List of Principal Properties

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REYF
Interest  Approximate
attributable to total gross
Properties the Group floor area Type Lease term
(5g.m.)
/S AEEEGES BNLEEERE H5 HE
(Fr)
Hengdali Market 100% 3,696  Commercial 40 years from 7 October 1996 to
6 October 2036
BEND5 53 1996 10A7H £2036410368
AE40F
105 retail units on Level 2, the retalil
podium of Hengdali Market, the west
of the northern section of Jiefang
Road, Weidu District, Xuchang, Henan
Province, the PRC
LT g A AT AT AR AR I AR UK b BRUA
AEREENTSNTETR2EN
105 E 8L
Xingshu Garden 100% 3,462  Commercial 50 years from 20 December 2002 to
19 December 2052
TEEH [GES 2002F12 A20A E2052F 12 A19H -
R EB0F
20 retail units on Level 2 and Level 3,
the retail podium of Xingshu Garden,
the middle section of Qiyi Road, Weidu
District, Xuchang, Henan Province, the
PRC
FETEETETRBR L —BPERA
RIIERENTET A2 R3EM20
HEEEM
Longhu Building 100% 428  Residential 70 years from 16 February 2003 to
15 February 2073
BMRE % 2003%2A16H £207352A15H »
AET0%F

Unit 2301 on Level 23 and Level 24,
Longhu Building, No. 9 Shangwu Inner
Ring Road, Zhengdong New District,
Zhengzhou, Henan Province, the PRC

REH A M T B R R B AR
95 MK E23F24E 2301 E 7T
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List of Principal Properties
AY A 174
FEYE
Interest  Approximate
attributable to total gross
Properties the Group floor area Type Lease term
(5g.m.)
/S AEEEGES BNLEEER EH5 HE
()
King of the North 100% 13,223  Commercial 40 years from 20 February 2014 to
19 February 2054
pc3-3 [GES 201428208 £2054F2A198 -
AE40E
Block 1, King of the North, the junction
of Jingshui Road and Longquan Road,
Jian'an District, Xuchang, Henan
Province, the PRC
mEEATETRYE R KK EER
BR XA GERIE
Xida Jie Office 100% 2,350  Office 70 years from 1 January 1982 to
31 December 2051
BAEH AR /N 1982F1A1H £2051F12A31A
RHET0%F
No. 563, West Avenue, Weidu District,
Xuchang, Henan Province, the PRC
R & A BT AR R P K BT5635%
Hengda Weiyuan 100% 2,294 Commercial 40 years from 8 September 2017 to
7 September 2057
EERR [GES 2017F9A8H E2057F9A7A
AH40E

A retail unit on Basement Level 1,
Commercial Block 5 of Hengda
Weiyuan, the Junction of Laodong

Road and Remin Road, Weidu District,

Xuchang, Henan Province, the PRC

RETEATETREBREHREAR
BXXOEEZRFSREEEIEL ™
ATEEN
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List of Principal Properties

Interest  Approximate

attributable to total gross
Properties the Group floor area Type Lease term
(5q.m.)
/S AEEEGES BNLEEERE H5 ik
(Fx)
Napa Xidi 100% 540  Residential and 70 years from 12 January 2010 to
clubhouse 11 January 2080
NAPAZ iy FEREGM 2010F1 4128 £2080F11A11A -
RHET0E
Clubhouse on Level 1 and Level 2,
Taoxiyuan, the junction of North of
Dongtai Road and East of Xinye
Road, Weidu District, Xuchang, Henan
Province, The PRC
iR AT EmRSBERREN
EREEEURZIXOABEBIE R2
ELk-4il
Jinhui Plaza 100% 8,839  Commercial 40 years from 16 July 2015 to
15 July 2055
LERES [GES 2015 7A16A £2055%7A158 -
RE40F

A retail unit on Basement 1, Hengda
Jinhui Plaza, the junction of North
of Balyi Road and East of Beiguan
Avenue, Weidu District, Xuchang,
Henan Province, The PRC

R B A AT R E KN
ERILBREARIXOEELEE
B MERNTE BN
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List of Principal Properties

EEY*

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

ek Sk ES
Approximate
total gross
Interest Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area development Type completion Progress
(sg.m.) (sq.m.)
x5H B4 BHaER
L/ES EEER HAHBEE LEEER EEEH B TERAH ERMR
(FFK) (FJ5K)
Yuzhou Sunshine City 100% 502,535 379,358  Residential and ~ March 2027 Under construction
commercial
B K FE BE 2027512 TRETS
Located at the north of
Yuwang Boulevard,
south of Binhe
Boulevard and west of
Xuanyuan Boulevard,
Yuzhou City, Xuchang,
Henan Province, the
PRC
fIRPBETEETER
MABERBEUIEL B
ARENEREER
ERNid
Hengda Xinzhu 100% 102,292 305,338  Residential and ~ December 2026 Under construction
commercial
ER-3 1§ Tz HE 2026512 TRETH

Located at the south
of Hengtong Road
and the west of
Ruiyuan Road,
Xuchang Economic
and Technological
Development Zone,
Henan Province, the
PRC

iR BT EEFET
BERMAZERER
HOAR - W E R IAR
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List of Principal Properties

Approximate

total gross
Interest Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area development Type completion Progress
(sg.m.) (sg.m.)
x5H B4 BHHE
L/ES EEER HAHBEE LEEER EEEH B TEHRAH ERMR
(FJK) (FIK)
Hengda Binhefu Project 100% 144,528 252,268 Residential and  December 2027 Under construction
commercial
BERARER Tz HE 20274 12A TIRETH
Located at the south of
Binhe Avenue and east
of Xuanyuan Avenue,
Yuzhou City, Xuchang,
Henan Province, the
PRC
fIRPBEAEETES
TR B LA E R
HEABUR
Dongcheng Garden 90% 124,224 240,506  Residential and ~ December 2026 Under construction
commercial
IR T ®% 2026%12R TRETT

Located at the east of
Weiwu Avenue and the
south of Xuefu Road,
Dongcheng District,
Xuchang City, Henan
Province, the PRC

IR E A EEFET
ERERRABUR
REFENE
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List of Principal Properties

EEY*

Approximate

Progress

ERMRR

total gross
Interest Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area development Type completion
(sg.m.) (sq.m.)
x5H B4 BHHEE
L/ES EEER HAHBEE LEEER EEEH B TEHRAH
(FJK) (F5K)
Dongyue Garden 100% 56,585 205,725 Residential and  December 2027
commercial
RTER Fx w% 2027512

Located at the west of
Xuzhou Road and
north of Bayi Road,
Xuchang City, Henan
Province, the PRC

fARBEAEEFET
FMBEAT - N—H& A

it
Hengda Yihao Phase 1 51% 56,150 174,934  Residentialand  June 2028
commercial
BEEEHR—H T w% 2028461

Located at the west of
Huabo Avenue and
north of Cuiyuan
Road, Yanling County
Xuchang City, Henan
Province, the PRC

R A ET
BREEIEERENS -
ZRE AL

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

Under construction

TREFF

Under construction

TREFF



List of Principal Properties

Approximate

total gross
Interest Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area development Type completion Progress
(sg.m.) (sg.m.)
x5H B4 BHHE
L/ES EEER HAHBEE LEEER EEEH B TEHRAH ERMR
(FJK) (FIK)
Binhe shangyuan 100% 51,051 161,207  Residential and  December 2029 Not yet commenced
commercial
B LR Tz HE 2029512 ART
Located at the south
of Jianshe Road,
Yingchuan Office,
Yuzhou City, Xuchang
City, Henan Province,
the PRC
iR BT EEFaT
BMTE) R R
AR
King of the North 100% 136,652 146,930  Residential and  December 2028 Under construction
commercial
plaicy- it T #F 2028512 IRETH

Located at the west of
Jingshui Road and
north of Longquan
Street in Shangji Town,
Xuchang City, Henan
Province, the PRC

iR BT EEFaT
& BE KRR -
BERENIL
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List of Principal Properties

EEY*

Approximate

Progress

ERMRR

total gross
Interest Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area development Type completion
(5g.m.) (5g.m.)
r5E B4 BHHEE
L/ES EiEE HABBEE LEEEE HEEEHN B TEHRAH
(FJK) (F5K)
Hengda Dongjun 90% 35,691 130,460 Residential and ~ December 2027
commercial
B R Tz w% 2027512

Located at the west of
Provincial Road S103
and north of Yingchang
Road, Yuzhou City,
Xuchang City, Henan
Province, the PRC

R EEETEN
BINTEESI03LAE -
88 Kk

Under construction

TREFF

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRAA



Board
Exw

Connected Person(s)

FAEAL

Director(s)

=%

Ever Reach or the Company
BEERKARRF

Group
REH

Henan Dadi

AR A

Hengda Investment

Hengda Property Management

BEMFEER

HK$/HKD

BT

IPO
BRDHEE

*

English name for identification purpose only

Glossary
EC_ W8
an) 5

Board of directors of the Company
ARRESRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEALEMRAETZFZ &

the director(s) of the Company

RRBES

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE(ZER)BRAF

Ever Reach and its subsidiaries
EBEZEREENB AT

Henan Dadi Property Development Company Limited*, being an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

MEAMEHERERRAR  ARA2EEE2ENB AR

Henan Hengda Investment Company Limited*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 17 October 2007 owned approximately by
Mr. Li Xiaobing as to 67.1833%, Mr. Wang Zhenfeng as to 3.3833%,
Ms. Qi Chunfeng as to 18.65%, Mr. Li Shixun as to 2.3833% and Ms.
Chun Xiaojun as to 1.15% (all of whom being Connected Persons) and
two independent third parties as to the remaining 7.25%, and hence a
Connected Person of our Company

MEEEREARAR  —RMN2007F10A17TBERBEK IO ERAR
DRlBEFENKEE FIRELEE BERXL FEBHEEALRERE
T+ AR EANT) B 4671833% * 3.3833% * 18.65% - 2.3833% &
1T15%ERANSRHMEBBELE = EERT7.25% s © At /AEARFH
BE AT

Xuchang Hengda Property Management Company Limited®, a limited
liability company established in the PRC on 5 July 1999 wholly owned by
Hengda Investment, and hence a Connected Person of our Company
HEEEVMEERERAT - —KM999F7ASBEFRBEKZHAERAA -
HIEEREZERG AR/ RRFANEEAL

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
B BREEAETER

Initial public offering of Ever Reach
BEZRERAAZEE

* EXEHEHRES
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Glossary

Ao A

A 52

Listing Rules Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

Al B 3 P8 o5 T AR A

Model Code Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

RHEST A FHRAIMECIN EMBETAEFETEFXZINFESTE

PRC People’s Republic of China, and for the purpose of this annual report and
except where the context requires otherwise, references to PRC do not
include Taiwan, the Hong Kong Special Administration Region, the Macao
Special Administration Region, of the People’s Republic of China

H MEARANBE K AFHN S RIEXEZAME SRHEFEZ
RAWTBERE  FTEFNTHRRRPEARALMBERPERITEHE

RMB Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR AR hBEUEEEE

SFO Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong)

B MBI BHrMHEGRO(EBEMETE)

Stock Exchange
Bt 22 PR

Weidu Guesthouse Limited

RBEEARAA]

Xuchang Hengda

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMARXIMABRRAR

Xuchang Weidu Guesthouse Company Limited*, a Connected Person of
the Company under the Listing Rules
ERMEEAFRAR  ARAIELMRANEBEBTOHEEALT

Xuchang Hengda Property Group Company Limited*, being an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

FafEE HEEEFHESEBABRAR  ARAZEAEEZEWE QR
* English name for identification purpose only 4 B EEIEMEF

This annual report is printed in both Chinese and English languages. Should there be any discrepancy between the English

language and the Chinese language, the English language shall prevail.

REBDFNUP  BEXHREZENH - PREXIREME I ZE  HXEIRAEZE -
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VA

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
A (PO AT PR 2 i
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